

Bacterial visualization and

identification in bovine udders

PhD Thesis by Regitze Renee Pedersen



Supervisors: Rikke Buhl, Thomas Bjarnsholt, Elin Jørgensen, Kirstin Dahl-Pedersen, Volker Krömker

This thesis has been submitted to the Graduate School of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen June 11th, 2023

Graduate school:	Graduate School of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen				
Graduate program:	Herd and Population-oriented Research (HERD)				
Departments:	Department of Veterinary Clinical Sciences, Large Animal Teaching Hospital, University of Copenhagen & Institute for Immunology and Microbiology, Costerton Biofilm Centre, University of Copenhagen				
Author:	Regitze Renee Pedersen, cand.scient of Biology, regitze.pedersen@sund.ku.dk & regitzerpedersen@gmail.com				
Title and subtitle:	Bacterial visualization and identification in bovine udders				
Topic description:	Bacteria in bovine mastitis				
Supervisors:	Volker Krömker, Professor, DVM & PhD Kirstin Dahl-Pedersen, Assistant professor & DVM Rikke Buhl, Professor, DVM & PhD Elin Jørgensen, Postdoc, DVM & PhD Thomas Bjarnsholt, Professor, DmSc. &PhD				
Evaluation Committee:	 Chairperson: Associate professor Nynne Capion Department of Veterinary Clinical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Denmark Representative from Danish research institution: Associate professor Trine Rolighed Thomsen, Department of Chemistry and Biosciences, Aalborg University, Denmark Representative from research institution abroad: Professor Paolo Moroni, Department of Population Medicine and Diagnostic Sciences Cornell University and University of Milano, United States 				

Front page illustration:

Aggregate from tissue section from mastitis quarter, stained with Texas Red universal PNA-FISH probe (red) and DAPI (blue). 630x magnification, obtained by CLSM. Image from Manuscript II.

Acknowledgments

I want to thank my supervisors for their guidance and patience with me. I had five supervisors, all with their expert areas, and all taught me something that I cherish and will carry with me in my future. Thank you Kirstin Dahl-Pedersen and Volker Krömker, for introducing me to the world of dairy cows and mastitis. As a biologist and not a veterinarian, this was a new world to me - you taught me so much. Thanks to Elin Jørgensen, who was always ready to answer my questions and to help me build a bridge between mastitis and biofilm. Thank you Rikke Buhl – you taught me so much about project leading, guiding me when I was lost, and helping me get back on track. Last, thank you Thomas Bjarnsholt. I have known you for quite some time, and you have always believed in me. You inspired me and from you and your group, my fascination with biofilm and bacteria has only grown.

I also want to thank the farmers and the slaughterhouse workers from Kjellerup and Holsted who participated in the study. You have all been very helpful and always cheery.

I thank Søren Saxmose for retrieving the data from the Cattle Database for Manuscript II. Louise Kruse Jensen and Benjamin Meyer deserves thanks as well, for collaborating with me on the histology.

Just at the last minute, I was able to go on a research exchange at Southampton University, United Kingdom. Thank you to Jeremy S. Webb and his group for welcoming me, and especially Callum Highmore, who taught me everything about Raman spectroscopy and always was cheerful and kind. I was so lucky to share that time with my dearest Belgian friend Fauve Vergauwe. You definitely made me enjoy my research stay so much more, and I loved our expeditions around the area.

I was part of the Department of Veterinary Clinical Sciences and the Costerton Biofilm Centre. First, I would like to thank IKV. You have all been very welcoming and helpful to me. Furthermore, thank you to Jørgen Agerholm for lending me his dissection room. My Master's student Emma Hornemann also deserves special thanks.

There are so many people I would like to thank at CBC. I have been a part of CBC since my bachelor's and loved it here. Not only are people remarkable researchers, but the people are amazing. Sincerely thank you to all who crossed my way here. I would especially like to thank

Lene Bay for sparring with me on the collection of samples and proofreading my thesis. Ida Thaarup for being my friend through all these years at CBC, proofreading, and listening to me blabbing about everything. Mads Holm Christensen, for being a good friend and office mate - it has been so fun sharing an office with you.

Thank you to my friends and family for being patient and supportive of me these last years. These past years have been hard in many ways, and my times with you always lifted my spirits and gave me the energy to carry on. I cannot wait to drink 100 beers with you this summer! And last, Mathias Johansen. Your endless support and motivation carried me through, especially, the last couple of months and without your ability to always making me laugh and forget all the

hard stuff, I would never have made it. Thank you for being you.

Regitze Renee Pedersen Copenhagen, June 2023.

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	3
ABBREVIATIONS	7
ENGLISH SUMMARY	8
DANISH SUMMARY	10
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	12
BACKGROUND	13
Bovine mastitis	13
The microbiome of the bovine udder and milk	15
Chronic mastitis	15
Biofilm infections	16
Biofilm in veterinary disease and mastitis	17
Diagnosis and treatment of bovine mastitis	19
OBJECTIVES	21
METHODS	22
METHODS IN MANUSCRIPT II	22
Including dairy cows in the study	22
Pilot study for collecting samples	22
Collecting of udders from dairy cows	23
Collection of milk samples and biopsies from udders	23
Identification of bacterial species in milk and biopsies	27
Somatic cell count of milk samples	29
Visualization of bacteria and cells	29

METHODS IN MANUSCRIPT III	30
Raman spectroscopy	31
RESULTS	32
Current research of biofilm in bovine mastitis – Manuscript I	32
Bacteria in the bovine milk and udder – Manuscript II	32
Multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy as a future diagnostic tool - Manuscript III	46
DISCUSSION	50
Dairy cows included in study – Manuscript II	50
The bacterial composition in bovine udders – Manuscript II	50
Histopathology of cells - Manuscript II	52
Biofilm in bovine mastitis - Manuscript I and II	52
Raman spectroscopy: a future diagnostic tool of bovine mastitis? Manuscript III	53
General Discussion	54
Limitations	55
CONCLUSION	57
PERSPECTIVES	59
REFERENCES	61
MANUSCRIPT I	74
MANUSCRIPT II	86
MANUSCRIPT III	121

Abbreviations

CLSM	Confocal laser scanning microscopy			
CMT	California Mastitis Test			
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI)			
EPS	Exopolysaccharides			
HE	Hematoxylin and Eosin			
MALDI-TOF MS	Matrix-assisted Laser Desorption Ionization Time-of-Flight Mass			
	Spectrometry			
PNA-FISH	Peptide Nucleic Acid Fluorescence in situ Hybridization			
SCC	Somatic cell count			

English summary

Bovine mastitis is affecting the dairy industry greatly. The condition has great impact on the welfare of animals and is the main reason for antibiotic treatment in the dairy industry. Mastitis is inflammation in the mammary gland and the primary reason is bacterial origin, which is often treated with antibiotics. However, for some cases of mastitis, the condition is not resolved and to optimize the treatment of these dairy cows, it is important with a deeper understanding of mastitis. The majority of the previous research is based upon milk samples.

The aim with this thesis was to contribute to the existing knowledge about mastitis by investigating the bacterial distribution in the udders, visualize the bacteria and determine the bacterial composition in the tissue and of milk samples. Tissue samples from different locations of healthy and mastitis quarters as well as milk samples were collected from 28 recently slaughtered dairy cows with increased somatic cell count. The samples were cultivated, and the bacterial isolates were identified with MALDI-TOF MS. Furthermore, the tissue samples were analyzed with 16s rDNA sequencing to identify non-cultivable bacteria. To visualize the bacteria, tissue samples were stained with PNA-FISH and examined by confocal laser scanning microscopy. The tissue samples from the deepest location in the udders were stained with HE staining and examined by light microscopy to determine the inflammatory response.

Furthermore, Raman spectroscopy was investigated as a possible diagnostic tool, by applying the method to the two pathogens *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Streptococcus uberis*, which are associated with mastitis.

There was bacteria present in tissue samples and milk samples from both healthy and mastitis quarters and bacteria was found in every location of the udder. Furthermore, bacterial species were found in either milk samples or tissue samples. Microscopy of the stained samples showed a higher abundance of aggregates in the mastitis quarters and aggregates were found in all locations of mastitis quarters. On the contrary, very few of the healthy quarters had aggregates and the aggregates were only found at the teat end and the annula ring. The histopathological investigation of the tissue samples from the deepest location of the udders showed an inflammatory response in both healthy and mastitis quarters, however a lower response in the healthy quarters.

It was possible by Raman spectroscopy to detect spectra of the two mastitis pathogens *S. aureus* and *S. uberis* as well as milk, and the method was able to differentiate between different bacterial concentrations in the milk.

The results of this thesis indicate that udders of dairy cows are an organ where bacteria exist in both healthy and mastitis and can be found in different formations. The discrepancies of species 8

found between milk samples and tissue samples indicate that milk samples are not always reflecting the bacteria present in the tissue. Furthermore, Raman spectroscopy was a promising method for diagnostic use in the future.

There is a need for more research with the focus on tissue samples and comparing them with milk samples, as well as the application of Raman spectroscopy as a diagnostic tool.

Danish summary

Yverbetændelse i malkekvæg påvirker mælkeindustrien i høj grad. Sygdommen har stor indvirkning på dyrenes helbred og er den største årsag til antibiotikabehandling i mælkeindustrien. Yverbetændelse er inflammation i yveret, og den primære årsag er af bakteriel oprindelse, som oftest behandles med antibiotika. Men for nogle tilfælde af yverbetændelse virker behandlingen ikke og for at optimere behandlingen af disse køer, er det vigtigt at forstå sygdommen til fulde. Hovedparten af den tidligere forskning er baseret på mælkeprøver.

Målet med denne afhandling var at bidrage til den eksisterende viden om yverbetændelse ved at undersøge hvor bakterierne var til stede i yverne, visualisere bakterierne og bestemme den bakterielle sammensætning i vævet og i mælkeprøverne. Vævsprøver fra flere forskellige områder i raske og syge yverkirtler samt mælkeprøver blev indsamlet fra 28 nyligt slagtede malkekøer med forhøjet celletal. Prøverne blev dyrket og de bakterielle isolater blev identificeret med MALDI-TOF MS. Vævsprøverne blev ydermere analyseret med 16S rDNA sekventering for at identificere bakterier som ikke kan dyrkes frem. For at visualisere bakterierne blev vævsprøver fra de forskellige lokationer farvet med PNA-FISH og undersøgt med konfokalt laser scanning mikroskopi. Vævsprøver fra den dybeste lokation i yveret blev ydermere farvet med HE farvning og undersøgt med lysmikroskopi, for at bestemme det inflammatoriske respons. Derudover blev det undersøgt om Raman spektroskopi er en mulig diagnostisk metode, ved at anvende metoden på mælk med de to patogener *Staphylococcus aureus* og *Streptococcus uberis* som er associeret med yverbetændelse.

Undersøgelserne af mælk og vævsprøverne viste at både raske og syge yverkirtler havde bakterier og at der fandtes bakterier i alle lokationer af yverkirtlerne. Der blev ydermere fundet bakterielle arter som enten blev fundet i mælk eller vævsprøver. Mikroskopering af de farvede prøver fandt at der var en højere andel af prøver fra syge yverkirtler som havde bakterielle aggregater og at de fandtes i alle lokationer i yverkirtlen. Derimod var der en meget lille andel af prøverne fra raske yverkirtler hvor bakterielle aggregater var til stede og de fandtes kun i pattespidsen og overgangen mellem pattekanalen og cisterne. Den histopatologiske undersøgelse af cellerne i prøverne fra den dybeste lokation i yverkirtlerne viste inflammatorisk respons i både syge og raske kirtler, men en mildere grad hos de raske yverkirtler.

Det var muligt med Raman spektroskopi at bestemme spektre for de to bakterier *S. aureus* og *S. uberis* samt mælk, og metoden kunne differentiere mellem forskellige bakterielle koncentrationer i mælk.

Resultaterne fra denne afhandling viser at malkekøers yvere er et organ, hvor bakterier findes både hos syge og raske og kan findes i forskellige formationer. Uoverensstemmelserne mellem mælkeprøverne og vævsprøverne indikerer at mælkeprøver ikke altid reflekterer hvilke bakterier der er tilstede i vævet. Derudover blev Raman spektroskopi fundet til at være en mulig diagnostisk metode i fremtiden.

Der er brug for mere forskning med fokus på vævsprøver og sammenligne dem med mælkeprøver samt mere forskning i Raman spektroskopi som et muligt diagnostisk værktøj.

List of publications

Articles included in thesis:

Manuscript I:

Pedersen, R. R., Krömker, V., Bjarnsholt, T., Dahl-Pedersen, K., Buhl, R., & Jørgensen, E. (2021). *Biofilm Research in Bovine Mastitis*. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 8, 656810.

Manuscript II:

Pedersen, R. R., Hornemann, E., Meyer, B., Bay, L., Fritz, B.G., Jakobsen, T.H., Jensen, L. K., Dahl-Pedersen, K., Jørgensen, E., Buhl, R., Krömker, V., Bjarnsholt, T.

Distribution and spatial organization of bacteria in bovine mammary glands. Manuscript in preparation.

Manuscript III:

Pedersen, R. R., Highmore, C., Hanrahan, N., Mahajan, S., Krömker, V., Dahl-Pedersen, K., Buhl, R., Jørgensen, Bjarnsholt, T., E., Webb, J.S.

Detection of bovine mastitis pathogens in milk by multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy. Manuscript in preparation.

Articles not included in thesis

Pedersen, R. R., Kragh, K. N., Fritz, B. G., Ørbæk, M., Østrup Jensen, P., Lebech, A.-M., & Bjarnsholt, T. (2022).

A novel Borrelia-specific real-time PCR assay is not suitable for diagnosing Lyme neuroborreliosis. Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases, 13(5), 101971.

Clausen, A. S., Ørbæk, M., Pedersen, R. R., Jensen, P. O., Lebech, A., & Kjaer, A. (2020). Positron Emission Tomography (PET) of Borrelia burgdorferi Infection: In Vivo Imaging of Macrophages in Experimental Model of Lyme Arthritis. 1–11.

Background

Bovine mastitis

Historically, dairy products have been an important way for humans to get nutrients for thousands of years [1]. The dairy industry is significant in Denmark, with 564.000 dairy cows producing 5644 million kilograms of milk in 2021 [2]. One of the most impactful diseases on the dairy industry is bovine mastitis, which causes decreased milk production, increases veterinary costs for dairy farmers, has a significant impact on animal welfare, and can lead to early euthanization of animals [3,4]. The disease is defined as "inflammation of the mammary gland" [5] and can be caused by physical damage or, more commonly, bacterial agents [3]. Typically, the pathogens involved in the disease are categorized as contagious or environmental, where examples of contagious bacteria are *Streptococcus agalactiae*, *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* and *Staphylococcus aureus*, environmental bacteria are *Escherichia coli* and some pathogens like *Streptococcus uberis*, that cannot be strictly categorized [5]. Over 120 bacterial species have been identified and linked to bovine mastitis [6].

Bovine mastitis is often categorized as subclinical or clinical mastitis. Subclinical cases of mastitis do not have any visible changes to the mammary gland or milk; however, they can be detected by an increased somatic cell count in the milk [7]. Clinical cases can vary from mild cases with changes in the milk to severe cases where the animal is visibly sick and can lead to culling [4,5,7].

The bovine mammary gland—the udder—consists of four quarters. Each quarters is a system that consist of a teat, the teat canal, the teat cistern, the gland cistern, the duct, and the alveoli (Figure 1).



Figure 1. The anatomy of a quarter from a cow. The teat consists of the teat canal and the teat cistern. The udder consists of the gland cistern, ducts, and alveoli. Created in Biorender.com.

This combination creates an organ capable of producing 30 kg of milk per milking [8]. The udders of dairy cows are under high pressure and at risk of infection. However, the mammary gland is prepared to protect itself from invading pathogens that can enter through the teat orifice. The teat has several defenses against threats; the teat opening consists of the sphincter muscle, causing the teat to be tightly closed between milkings and thus keeping pathogens out of the mammary gland. The teat canal has a protecting lining of keratin, which acts as a physical and chemical barrier [9,10], and the cell surface has a high potential for recruiting immune cells to defeat invading bacteria. If the bacteria circumvent this barrier, they will enter the teat canal, where the immune system detects the bacteria [9,10]. The immune cells will increase in numbers to defend against the bacteria and may cause damage to the mammary gland in the process [9,10]. The milk's elevated number of somatic cells is often detected during milking and is a crucial detection method for dairy farmers [4,7].

The microbiome of the bovine udder and milk

Traditionally, the udder has been considered a sterile environment where bacteria would be present only during infection [11]. However, in recent years, the microbiome of bovine udders has been an expanding research area with a high interest in determining the bacteria in the tissue.

Studies have shown that a healthy udder contains multiple bacterial species. Molecular investigations of milk have shown that healthy udders often contain phyla such as Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, Fusobacteria. The genera often found are *Staphylococcus, Corynebacterium, Acinetobacter, Pseudomonas,* and *Streptococcus* [12–16]. The most prevalent phyla in milk from dairy cows with mastitis are often the same as in healthy cows; however, a dysbiosis of the microbiota is proposed as mastitis has fewer bacterial species and a higher bacterial load [15–17]. Nonetheless, it is widely discussed whether a shift in microbial composition causes mastitis [18].

The risk of contamination is a concern among researchers studying the bovine udder microbiota [11,18]. The research is heavily based on milk samples, which are collected in the dirty environment of dairy farms. The dirty exterior of the cow, and if the teat is not correctly cleaned beforehand, increases the risk of contamination when collecting milk samples. Milk samples should be collected after cleaning the teats, taking the first sample from the nearest teat and working towards the farthest. When collecting the sample, the vial should not touch the teat and must be at a 45-degree angle. The first milk should be discarded, and the vial should be closed before returning to an upright position [19]. When more than three species are present in a milk sample, it is considered contaminated and should be discarded [7].

Most studies have been based on bacteria isolated from milk samples and few studies have investigated the teat canal microbiome by swabs and found the teat canal had diverse bacteria, mainly Actinobacteria, Firmicutes, and Proteobacteria [14,20,21].

Chronic mastitis

In certain bacterial mastitis cases, antibiotics do not resolve disease. Chronic cases are defined as "udder inflammation that continues over a long period of time," [22] and chronic mastitis may be subclinical or clinical [22].

It is unknown why these cases maintain a high somatic cell count (SCC) or why the infections reoccur despite antibiotic treatment for the involved pathogen, but multiple factors are proposed. Factors that could interfere with the success of antibiotic treatment include the age of the dairy cow if the somatic cell count has been elevated, and the animal's clinical history [23]. Another factor that impacts the success of the treatment is the pathogen causing the infection. *S. aureus* a 15

pathogen associated with chronic mastitis and tissue infected with *S. aureus* may have a high proportion of polymorphonuclear leukocyte infiltration and necrosis, causing a decrease in milk synthesis [9].

The complicated diagnosis and the recurrent and chronic infections are similar to the characteristics of biofilm infections, which indicates that biofilm could be a possible factor for chronic mastitis.

Biofilm infections

Traditionally. bacteria were thought of as single cells with no communication or cooperation.

However, J.W. Costerton's discovery of biofilm in the '70s led to a new understanding of bacteria [24,25]. Biofilm is defined as "a coherent cluster of bacterial cells embedded in a biopolymer matrix, which, compared with planktonic cells, shows increased tolerance to antimicrobials and resists the antimicrobial properties of the host defense" [26].

Rather than the bacteria being single-celled "lone wolves," the bacteria can form this community, almost like a small village.

A biofilm is often compared to a fortress [27], as the bacteria surround themselves with exopolysaccharides (EPS). This physical barrier protects them against environmental challenges such as ultraviolet light, desiccation, and other threats from their surroundings. The biofilm aids the bacteria to remain in a favorable habitat. In the biofilm, a kind of community is formed where bacteria share genes and nutrients [27,28].

Regarding infection, these characteristics can be an advantage for the bacteria.

The physical barrier in the form of EPS can shield the bacteria against the host immune cells and antibiotics, provide the ability to stay in a favorable position in the host, and allow the bacteria to share genes in the biofilm, thereby increasing the risk of sharing antibiotic-resistance genes [27]. Combined, these factors result in a perfect storm, making the conditions for a chronic infection almost impossible for the host immune response to eradicate and cure with antibiotics.

The awareness of the importance of biofilm in infections is growing. The majority of research is on chronic infections in humans. Chronic infections with biofilm as a factor range from cystic fibrosis to otitis media, and the primary investigated pathogens range from *S. aureus* to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* [26].

Biofilm infections often share the characteristic that they are chronic diseases, either for an extended period of time or recurrent, often with persistent inflammation [29]. However, recent

research has found that biofilms are also found in acute cases of human lung infections [30]. Chronic biofilm infections are challenging to diagnose and treat; antibiotic treatment often results in failure [31].

A new focus of research on biofilm and bacterial infections is rising. Researchers have long investigated the bacteria or biofilm isolated from the environment (i.e., the host tissue) from which they originated. However, bacteria influence and are influenced by their environment [32]. During an infection, the bacteria are surrounded by immune cells, dead cells, and EPS, as well as excreted products from their metabolism, all of which change the environment around them. This can alter the host's environment, bacterial behavior, and physiology [32].

Biofilm in veterinary disease and mastitis

Biofilm in veterinary diseases is a relatively new research area. It has been investigated in several animals and diseases, such as chronic wounds in horses and dogs [33–35]; the canine ear disease, canine otitis externa [36,37]; heart diseases, such as bovine myocarditis [38]; and endometritis in several animal species [39,40]. Research has indicated that biofilm plays a role in several veterinary diseases.

Biofilm in bovine mastitis has been investigated over the past two decades. **Manuscript I**, the published review "Biofilm Research in Bovine Mastitis" [41], offers a detailed summary of the current status of the research, and I will briefly cover the highlighted aspects of the current research here.

In the recent decades, biofilm research in bovine mastitis has expanded as a possible way to better understand and treat bovine mastitis (Figure 2).



Figure 2. The research on biofilm in bovine mastitis is mainly focused on three areas: (A) the biofilm-forming abilities of bacterial species isolated from milk samples; (B) the molecular profile of bacterial pathogens involved in bovine mastitis; and (C) the visualization of biofilm in bovine mastitis. Created in Biorender.com.

The majority of the research has been based on bacteria isolated from cultured milk samples [42–47]. Hereafter, the bacteria's ability to form biofilm is tested in vitro by various biofilm methods, such as 96 well plates with crystal violet, the tube method, and LIVE/DEAD staining with confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) [42–44,46,48–54]. On this basis, it was established that several mastitis pathogens, such as *S. aureus* [42,43,45,46,48,55], *Klebsiella* spp. [50], *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* [49], and *S. agalactiae* [45,46,48,56] can form biofilms in vitro.

The molecular way is another method to investigate whether mastitis pathogens can form biofilm. The genes (e.g., intercellular gene cluster adhesion operon and biofilm-associated proteins) are also being studied, especially for *S. aureus* [57–60].

Other focuses on the research of biofilm in bovine mastitis are the search for treatment and prevention. Antimicrobial compounds from plants (e.g., spur flowers and rose myrtles) are being investigated as possible treatments [61–63], and vaccines for *S. uberis* and *S. aureus* are developed and under development to prevent mastitis with biofilm infections in dairy cows [64–67].

Few studies have directly observed biofilm in tissue from dairy cows [68,69]. Hensen et al. detected clusters of *S. aureus* in both early and chronic mastitis in three dairy cows that were experimentally infected with *S. aureus* [68]. Schönborn et al. used naturally infected dairy cows with *S. aureus* and detected biofilm components by immunofluorescent staining of the component polysaccharide intercellular adhesin in seven out of 184 smears from swabs taken from the infected udders [70].

Diagnosis and treatment of bovine mastitis

An intramammary infection is detected in different ways depending on the type of mastitis. Clinical mastitis is detected by visible changes to the milk, the udder or the animal's general health [7]. Subclinical mastitis cases are detected due to elevated somatic cell counts in the milk [7]. The somatic cell count (SCC) is often detected during milking and is either estimated by microscopic methods where the cells are stained and counted, by flow cytometry, or by the more on-hand farm method, California Mastitis Test (CMT) [4,7,71,72]. The threshold for inflammation has often been defined as 200,000 cells/mL [73]; however, it is now being discussed that it might be 100,000 cells/ml [74,75]. These methods describe a change in the udder and an indication of an infection but do not provide information about the agent causing the infection.

Different bacterial identification methods are used in diagnostics. The primary methods to detect the bacterial agent is to culture bacteria from milk samples, as most mastitis pathogens grow under aerobic conditions on blood plates and on selective media to identify the pathogen [4,7,71,72]. More precise identification methods for identifying the bacteria isolated from milk samples include matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization—time of flight (MALDI-TOF), where it is possible to identify the bacteria to species level [71,72,76] and molecular methods such as real-time PCR and 16S rDNA sequencing [71,73]. A rule of thumb in diagnosing bovine mastitis is that the milk sample is contaminated when more than three species are present [73].

However, these methods are time-consuming and laborious. Fast and precise methods for diagnostics are needed, and a new and promising one is Raman spectroscopy. Raman spectroscopy is based on Raman scattering and detects the energy levels of molecules, which is measured as wave numbers (i.e., wavelengths per cm⁻¹) and creates a unique imprint of every molecule, allowing chemical bonds to be detected and distinguished. This results in a sensitive and specific method used in multiple research areas, from chemistry to biology [77–79]. In the field of microbiology, Raman spectroscopy could become a potential diagnostic tool to detect and identify

bacterial pathogens [80,81]. This method is precise and only requires minutes to few hours for bacterial identification. [78,80,82–89].

Mastitis is most commonly treated with antibiotics and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs [90]. In Denmark, it is required that:

"A milk sample must be taken prior to antibiotic treatment of mastitis. The sample must be examined by a veterinarian or at an externally qualified laboratory as soon as possible and no later than seven days after initiating the antibiotic treatment. No later than seven days after the result of the examination are available, the veterinarian must report the result to the industry-owned register (*Kvægdatabasen;* 'the Cattle Database')" [2]

and only treated with simple penicillins unless the veterinarian starts another treatment [2]. Dry cow treatment is also possible, which is a way to treat the animals with antibiotics when they are at the end of their lactation [91]. The primary use of antibiotics in dairy cows is due to mastitis [2,92,93].

With the frequent use of antibiotics to treat bovine mastitis, it is essential that their use be efficient and kept to a minimum to avoid compromising animal welfare. It is therefore crucial to understand chronic cases of mastitis. As noted, most research on the microbiome and biofilm in bovine mastitis is based on bacteria isolated from milk samples or teat swabs. However, this may not reflect the situation in the udder. There is a risk that some of the bacteria will not shed into the milk and are located so far up in the udder tissue that they are not detectable by a milk sample.

To my knowledge, few published studies have been based on biopsies on bacterial composition and biofilm formation in mastitis.

It should be investigated whether the milk samples reflect the bacteria inside the tissue. Additionally, there is a need to investigate further; by determining not only the species of bacteria found, but also the inflammation and spatial distribution of bacteria.

Objectives

As bovine mastitis is a key disease for the dairy industry, it is essential for animal welfare and the industry that it is well understood and adequately treated. Antibiotic resistance is a threat to human and animal health, and antibiotic use should be minimal without compromising the patient's health – whether it is a human being or an animal.

As antibiotic treatment can fail in chronic mastitis cases, it is crucial to understand the situation in the udder during infection and thereby optimize the treatment, perhaps even minimizing the use of antibiotics.

This study aimed to investigate the composition and distribution of bacteria directly in the udder and in the milk, as well as the histopathological changes and inflammatory response present. Furthermore, I sought to examine the use of Raman spectroscopy to detect mastitis pathogens in milk samples.

The objectives of this thesis were

- To investigate the spatial distribution of bacteria in different locations of the tissue of healthy and mastitis udder quarters;
- To determine the bacterial composition in different depths of tissue from healthy and mastitis quarters;
- To identify the bacterial composition in milk samples from healthy and mastitis quarters;
- To examine whether the bacterial composition in milk samples is similar to the bacterial composition in the biopsies;
- To determine the histopathological changes in the tissue of healthy and mastitis quarters;
- To assess whether multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy could be a possible diagnostic tool for bovine mastitis.

Methods

Methods in Manuscript II

Manuscript II was based on the collection of milk samples and biopsies from dairy cow udders. As the task revealed itself to be far more daunting than anticipated, it was thus necessary to develop a protocol. The following sections describe the rationale behind the process, as well as the analysis of the collected samples.

Including dairy cows in the study

Eight dairy farmers agreed to participate in the study. When dairy cows with elevated SCC were sent to slaughter, I was contacted and went to collect the udders either at the Danish Crown Holsted Slaughterhouse or Kjellerup Slaughterhouse. In addition, two udders were collected at the Large Animal Teaching Hospital. After sample collection, information about SCC, age, parity, and antibiotic treatment of the dairy cows were obtained from the Cattle Database.

Pilot study for collecting samples

Prior to establishing the protocol for collecting the udders, several logistical challenges had to be solved.

Dairy farmers contacted me when dairy cows were sent to slaughter with a high somatic cell count for a period, and I collected the udders from the slaughterhouses. Initially, the plan was to collect the samples from the udders at the slaughterhouse, ensuring limited damage to the samples during transportation time to the Large Animal Teaching Hospital in Taastrup. I was provided with an improvised table in the slaughterhouse to collect samples from the removed udders (Figure 3). However, during the pilot study, it became clear that this resulted in a high risk of contamination.

The original table only had room for half a quarter. The udder therefore had to be cut in half, increasing the risk of contamination. Furthermore, the udder slid off the table. The second table had a larger cutting board that prevented the udders from sliding off. This setup was more optimal for sample collection, but the high risk of contamination remained since the environment was dirty and had direct access to the outside (Figure 3). Moreover, the table was placed adjacent to where the emergency slaughter of cows took place, with blood, feces, and dirt spreading everywhere.



Figure 3. Collection of samples from recently removed udders at Holsted slaughterhouse during the pilot study. (A) The first table provided at the slaughterhouse. (B) The second table provided by the slaughterhouse.

Due to the high risk of contaminating the samples, I decided to remove the udders at the slaughterhouse and transport them to the Large Animal Teaching Hospital in Taastrup. A pilot study for collecting biopsies from udders was conducted at the Large Animal Teaching Hospital in Taastrup and at the Copenhagen Zoo, where the protocol for preparing the udders and collecting the biopsies was practiced.

Collecting of udders from dairy cows

The udders used in the study were collected at the slaughterhouses or the Large Animal Teaching Hospital, University of Copenhagen in Taastrup. They were transported to the Large Animal Teaching Hospital within three to four hours, where a clean dissection room was available. The udders from the dairy cows were removed by the slaughterhouse workers, while I removed the two udders from the teaching cows.

Collection of milk samples and biopsies from udders

The collection of milk samples and biopsies from the udders was conducted with as minimal a risk of contamination as possible. Various tissue sampling methods were attempted; however, some instruments (e.g., biopsy punches) could not effectively cut through the udder tissue. Single-use

scalpels and tweezers were therefore used and discarded after every biopsy. During the procedure, single-use laboratory coats, masks, hairnets, and gloves were worn at all times. Gloves were changed after cleaning the udders and before collecting samples. All sterile tools were placed on an autoclaved cutting board while sampling.

All udders were thoroughly cleaned with sterile cleaning brushes with water (Mediq) for 4 minutes. A minimum of two brushes per udder were used, according to how dirty they were. Subsequently, the entire udder was rinsed with 70% ethanol, and the gloves were changed.

For each quarter, the initial stream of milk was discarded and CMT was conducted. The quarter with the highest and lowest CMT scores was selected for sample collection. The CMT is a quick test to assess the SCC on the spot. Milk from each quarter was milked into the "paddle," an instrument with a "cup" for each quarter of an udder. The CMT solution was added to the milk, and the paddle was briefly rotated. The CMT solution consists of a purple detergent that lyses cell membranes and coagulates according to the SCC [7,73].

Milk samples were collected aseptically from the selected quarters by holding the vial at a 45degree angle without touching the skin and closing it before returning it to an upright position [19]. Milk samples were stored at 5 °C until further processing. Afterwards, the udder was once again cleaned with a sterile cleaning brush and sprayed with 70% ethanol that was left to evaporate. The first incision was made with a single-use scalpel through the outermost layer of skin to avoid contaminating the udder tissue with bacteria from the skin (Figure 4). The next incision, opening up the quarter, was made by an autoclaved knife. Biopsies from five different tissue depths were collected to determine where in the udders biofilm is found (Figure 4) [94]. The biopsies were named after the location they were collected from – Location 1 from the teat end, to Location 5 in the deepest part of the udder (Figure 4B).



Figure 4. (A) Black arrow: The first incision was cut through the skin by a single-use scalpel to avoid relocating possible bacteria further into the udder and contaminating the biopsies. Dotted arrow: The second incision laid by an autoclaved knife opened the udder. (B) The five locations of the collected biopsies. The biopsies were named after their location from the teat end (1) to the deepest location of the udder (5). The udder shown was a part of the pilot study, and therefore, gloves were not worn when taking the photographs.

Biopsies were collected with single-use tweezers and scalpels, which were changed between each biopsy. Three biopsies were collected from each location (Figure 5). Samples for 16S rDNA sequencing were collected in 1.5ml cryotubes (TTP) and kept on dry ice until storage at -80 °C. Samples for culturing and MALDI-TOF MS were collected in autoclaved microtubes (Sarstedt) with 0.5mm beads (MP Biomedicals, USA) and kept on cooling elements at approximately 5 °C until further processing. The tissue samples for microscopy were preserved in Monovette tubes (Hounisen) with 4% formaldehyde on cooling elements and stored at 5 °C until further processing (Figure 6).



Figure 5. Overview of the collected samples for study. A milk sample and three biopsies at five locations in a quarter were collected and stored in a different tube for further analysis. The sample for 16S rDNA sequencing was stored at -80 °C, and the remaining samples were kept at 5 °C until further analysis the next day. Created in Biorender.com

Biopsies were collected four to eight hours after the slaughter and udder removal. Further analysis of the samples was conducted the following day.



Figure 6, modified from **Manuscript II**: Overview of the collection of samples. From each dairy cow, samples were obtained from two quarters. Three biopsies from five locations and a milk sample were collected from each quarter. Created in Biorender.com.

Identification of bacterial species in milk and biopsies

In this study, the milk samples were cultivated twice to determine whether they had been contaminated during collection. Contamination of milk samples is a well-known issue, and I wanted to ensure that the results were not based upon contaminants from the environment, thus not reflecting the bacterial composition in the milk samples.

To minimize the risk of contamination, the handling and processing of milk samples and biopsies were conducted in a laminar flow bench (LAF) cleaned with 70% ethanol prior to use. Milk samples were cultivated by streaking 150 μ l milk on 5% blood agar plates (SSI, Denmark) that were incubated at 37 °C for up to seven days. After the milk samples were streaked onto plates, they were stored at -20 °C. When plates were examined, the lid was kept closed to reduce the risk of contamination. Bacterial isolates were re-streaked individually on 5% blood agar plates, incubated at 37 °C overnight and subsequently stored in 1.5 ml cryotubes in Luria Broth with 33% glycerol at -80 °C.

The biopsies were added 500µl of sterile 0.9% NaCl, homogenized with beads and sonicated as described in Jørgensen et al. [95]. In this study, the volume for inoculation was 150 µl. The samples were cultivated, and bacteria were isolated as described for milk samples. The frozen milk samples were ultimately sent to the laboratory of the Hannover University of Applied Sciences and Arts in Germany, where they were cultivated and identified, and the somatic cell counts were determined in parallel by the recommendations of the National Mastitis Council [96].

Identification of bacterial species

In this study, MALDI-TOF MS investigated isolates from both milk samples and biopsies. Prior to the investigation, freeze isolates were grown on 5% blood agar plates at 37 °C ON. The bacteria were re-streaked on fresh 5% blood agar plates and incubated, as experience then showed a higher positive rate. The veterinary laboratory, *Sund Vet Diagnostik*, Frederiksberg, identified the isolates using the Vitek MS RUO MALDI-TOF MS system (*bioMérieux*) and the SaramisTM version 3.5 software. For the isolates not identified, the protocol was repeated. At the Hanover laboratory, a MALDI-TOF MS system from Bruker Daltonics with the MBT Compass Library simultaneously cultivated and identified the milk samples (Revision F, MBT 84,668 MSP Library, Bruker Daltonics). For both laboratories, an accepted identification at the species level was ≥ 2.0 .

For metagenomic investigations the biopsies were sent to Novogene, UK, who conducted the DNA extraction, PCR amplification, library preparation, and 16S rDNA amplicon sequencing using 16S primers for regions V3–4. The TruSeq® DNA PCR-Free was used for library preparation and Sample Preparation Kit (Illumina) and sequenced on the Illumina Hiseq platform, providing at least 50,000 raw reads per sample.

Statistics and bioinformatics

A biostatistician in the department performed the data analysis using R statistical software. For data analysis, the raw absolute amplicon sequence variant (ASV) generated by the DADA2 pipeline was used [97]. The data analysis is described in detail in **Manuscript II**.

Alpha diversity was measured by Shannon's diversity index, which identified the diversity and abundance of the mastitis versus healthy quarters (condition), locations (tissue depth), and cows. The beta diversity was similarly measured for conditions, locations, and cows. To determine the effects of the alpha and beta diversity on the conditions, locations, and cows, mixed effects models and ANOVA were used.

Somatic cell count of milk samples

In this study, mastitis quarters were defined with a SCC above 200,000 cells/ml and the quarters with a SCC below the threshold were defined as healthy. The SCC of the milk samples collected in this study was determined by the laboratory of the Hannover University of Applied Sciences and Arts in Hannover, Germany. The SCC of the milk samples was determined after cultivation and MALDI-TOF MS. The milk samples were thawed, and the SCC was determined by two methods: microscopic cell differentiation and flow cytometer.

For microscopic cell differentiation, 10µl of raw milk was smeared on a slide and fixated, defatted, and stained with Broadhurst polychromatic solution as described by Prescott et al. [98]. The stained slides were examined by light microscopy, and the different cell types were differentiated.

Visualization of bacteria and cells

Biopsies were used to visualize cells and bacteria and stored in 4% formaldehyde until the biopsies were embedded in paraffin. The biopsies were cut into tissue sections of $4\mu m$ in thickness and fixated on microscopic glass slides.

To determine the histopathological changes and evaluate the inflammation present in the tissue sections, the light microscope Leica DMLB/100 S was used.

Tissue sections from Location 5 were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE) and evaluated by a blinded pathologist. In collaboration with the pathologists, a scoring system within eight parameters was developed for 10 tissue sections (Table 1), the scoring system was thereafter applied to all tissue sections from Location 5. The scoring system was based on the parameters in Table 1, with the total score resulting from the presence of inflammatory lesions. The resulting groups indicated the presence of pathological changes in the tissue and were described in **Manuscript II**: none (0), mild (1–2), moderate (3–4), and severe (5–8). The neutrophilic granulocyte infiltration was semi-quantitatively categorized as low, moderate, or high.

Hemorrhagi	1
Fibrosis	1
Edema	1
Perivasculitis	1
Inflammation with neutrophilic granulocytes in glandular lumen	1
Inflammation with neutrophilic granulocytes inter/intralobular	1
Inflammation with mononuclear cells in glandular lumen	1
Inflammation with mononuclear cells inter/intralobular	1

Table 1, Manuscript II. The presence of inflammatory lesions by the eight parameters. When a parameter is present, one point is given. The resulting score categorized the tissue sections into the following groups: none (0), mild (1-2), moderate (3-4) and severe (5-8).

Furthermore, tissue sections from all locations were deparaffinated and stained with peptide nucleic acid fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (PNA-FISH) and 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) according to the protocol developed by Fazli et al. [99].

The double-labeled universal Texas Red PNA-FISH bacterial probe (BacUni, AdvanDx) and DAPI were used to stain 278 tissue sections – five locations from 20 healthy and 36 mastitis quarters. The stained tissue sections were visualized by confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM). Two different CLSMs were used in this study; the inverted microscope LSM 880 (Zeiss) with the objectives EC Plan-Neofluar 40x/1.30 Oil DIC M27 and a Plan-Apochromat 63x/1.4 Oil DIC M27 and the upright LSM 710 (Zeiss) with the 63x/1.40 oil Plan-Apochromat objective and EC Plan-Neofluar 40x/1.30 Oil DIC M27. The tissue sections were manually scanned for bacterial aggregates using the 710 microscope, while the 880 was preferred for imaging. The software used was Zen Black version 2.1, and the images were analyzed by Imaris version 9.7.2 (Oxford Instruments).

Tissue sections containing bacterial aggregates over 5 µm were registered as positive [100].

Methods in Manuscript III

I conducted my research exchange in collaboration with Southampton University, spending a month learning the method of Raman spectroscopy. This resulted in **Manuscript III**, whose methods are described here.

Raman spectroscopy

The bacterial strains *S. aureus* and *S. uberis* for the experiments were donated by The Vale Veterinary Laboratory (Devon, UK). The bacteria were grown on 5% blood agar plates.

The bacteria were centrifuged and diluted in 10-times dilution series in semi-skimmed 1.5% fat milk from a supermarket. The diluted bacteria and controls were smeared on quartz microscope slides and air-dried. The protocol developed by Lister *et al.* [80] using a Renishaw InVia Raman microscope (Renishaw, UK) with a Leica DM 2500-M bright field microscope being used. The stage was 100 nm-encoded XYZ, and the lasers used in the study were 532 nm and 785 nm. The cosmic rays were removed by the Renishaw Wire 5.5 software.

Data analysis was performed in Mathlab. In short, the data was first imported to iRootLab and the "Support vector machine" (SVM) machine learning tool was used to classify the data.

Results

Current research of biofilm in bovine mastitis - Manuscript I

Manuscript I, the review "Biofilm Research in Bovine Mastitis," included over 170 papers to assess the current state of the research area.

The research area is still relatively new and mainly focuses on the *in vitro* biofilm-forming abilities of isolates from mastitis milk [41]. Different biofilm assays have been applied to disclose these abilities, and over 140 of the 170 papers reviewed used microtiter plates with crystal violet staining [41]. Furthermore, methods such as the tube method, the Congo red agar test, and microtiter assay with LIVE/DEAD staining and microscopy have been used to elucidate the biofilm-forming abilities of mastitis isolates [42,43,46,47,49–52,54,55,101]. The primary investigated pathogen has been *S. aureus* and other pathogens (e.g., *P. aeruginosa, Klebsiella*, and *S. uberis*) have been investigated [42,43,45,49,50]. The findings conclude that the pathogens can mostly form biofilms *in vitro*.

Furthermore, the development of antimicrobial compounds, primarily extracted from plants, is being investigated, and inhibitory effects on mastitis pathogens *in vitro* have been reported [61–63]. Molecular investigations of genes associated with biofilms, such as the intercellular gene cluster adhesion operon (*ica*) and biofilm-associated proteins (bap), are found in multiple *S. aureus* isolates from bovine mastitis cases [57–60]. Two studies have been published where biofilm has been visualized in bovine udders [68,69].

Bacteria in the bovine milk and udder – Manuscript II

The objectives of **Manuscript II** were to determine the bacteria in the milk and the biopsies throughout the quarters and to compare the findings. Furthermore, tissue sections were visualized to determine the spatial distribution of bacteria and the histopathological changes in the tissue. These results were obtained by collecting milk samples and biopsies from the udders of recently slaughtered dairy cows.

Dairy cows in the study

Quarters from twenty-eight dairy cows were collected in the study, and two quarters from each udder of each cow were collected. The udders were categorized according to their somatic cell count, and the results were 20 healthy quarters and 36 mastitis quarters (Figure 7, **Manuscript II**). Furthermore, a CMT score was determined for each quarter.



For 56.7% of the healthy quarters, the CMT score of 0 did not correlate with the corresponding SCC and for 26.9% of mastitis quarters, the CMT score of 2 did not correlate with the SCC.

The dairy cows ranged in age from approximately two to 11 years and in parity from 1 to 6. It had been at least 17 days since they had received an antibiotic treatment, and for most dairy cows, it had been over a month since they received antibiotics (Table 2).

Figure 7. *Manuscript II:* The somatic cell count visualized by a boxplot. The light gray on the left is the healthy quarters, and the dark gray on the right is the mastitis quarters.

Cow ID	Age (months)	Parity	Days from AB treatment to slaughter
1	23	1	21
2	52	3	36
3	72	4	611
4	47	2	316
5	44	2	356
6	71	5	70
7	73	4	33
8	88	5	173
9	141	6	898
10	66	3	-
11	60	3	779
12	45	2	-
13	31	1	17
15	36	1	-
17	65	3	29
18	40	1	117
19	62	3	139
20	47	2	266
21	89	6	20
22	30	1	20
23	44	2	41
24	70	4	41
25	54	3	41
26	78	4	1196
27	99	6	260
28	56	3	119

Table 2. Supplementary table from **Manuscript II**. Data of the dairy cows included in the study (data obtained from the Cattle Database). The table contains information about the age, parity (number of calves), and days from antibiotic treatment to slaughter. Information of two dairy cows were not accessible.

Identification of bacteria in milk and biopsies

Milk samples and biopsies from the collected udders were investigated to identify the bacteria in the samples.

The milk samples and biopsies were cultivated, and MALDI-TOF MS identified the isolates. Bacteria were identified in both milk and all locations for healthy and mastitis quarters. There was no growth in 10% of the healthy milk samples, and bacterial growth were observed in all mastitis milk samples. The biopsies had a higher occurrence of no growth, with no growth for 24.2% of the healthy biopsies and 19.5% of the mastitis biopsies. Identifying the bacterial isolates from the milk samples was

mainly possible, with 9.2% of the healthy and 10.3% of the isolates from mastitis milk samples not identified.

E. coli, Trueperella pyogenes and *Staphylococcus sciuri* were found to be the most predominant species in healthy milk samples. In contrast, the predominant species found in milk samples from mastitis quarters were *S. aureus*, *Bacillus licheniformis*, and *S. uberis*.

The biopsies had a similar identification success rate, with no identification of 9.94% of healthy biopsy isolates and 8.24% of the mastitis biopsies. The most frequent species of the healthy biopsies were *B. licheniformis* (45%), *Staphylococcus haemolyticius* (35%), and *S. uberis* (25%), whereas the most common species for the mastitis biopsies were *B. licheniformis* (52.7%), *S. aureus* (30.6%) and *S. uberis* (30.6%). Different species dominated the locations throughout the udder; *B. licheniformis* dominated in Location 1, *Streptococcus equinus* in Location 2, *Corynebacterium bovis* in Location 3 and 5, and *S. aureus* in Location 4 in the healthy quarters.

For the different locations in the mastitis quarters, *B. licheniformis* dominated Location 1; *S. uberis* dominated Location 3; and *S. aureus* dominated Locations 2, 4, and 5.

Furthermore, I assessed whether there was a difference in the milk and biopsy composition to reflect on whether milk samples represent the bacterial composition in the udders. I found species that were only present in either the milk or the biopsies. For the healthy quarters, 16 samples were only found in milk samples, and 21 were only found in the biopsies, which indicates that both milk and biopsies were underrepresenting the bacterial composition (Table 3).

Healthy quarters			
Species only found in milk	Number of quarters	Species only found in biopsies	Number of quarters
Acinetobacter johnsonii	1	Bacillus circulans	1
Bacillus atrophaeus/subtilis	1	Brevibacillus species	1
Bacillus horneckiae	1	Brevibacter sp.	1
Bacillus subtilis	1	Brevibacterium sp.	1
Brachybacterium sp.	1	Corynebacterium amycolatum/xerosis	1
Corynebacterium tuberculostearicum	1	Corynebacterium freneyi	1
Enterococcus faecalis	1	Corynebacterium jeikeium	1
Gordonia polyisoprenivorans	1	Corynebacterium mucifaciens	1
Psychrobacter faecalis	1	Corynebacterium pilosum	1
Psychrobacter phenylpyruvicus	1	Enterococcus faecium	1
Sphingobacterium daejeonense	1	Globicatella sanguinis	1
Staphylococcus arlettae	1	Kocuria rhizophila	1
Staphylococcus cohnii	1	Lactococcus raffinolactis	1
Staphylococcus hyicus	1	Microbacterium sp.	1
Staphylococcus succinus	1	Sphingomonas parapaucimobilis	1
Tsukamurella paurometabola	1	Staphylococcus equorum	1
		Staphylococcus saprophyticus	1
		Streptococcus gallolyticus	1
		Streptococcus parauberis	1
		Streptococcus sp.	1
		Streptococcus uberis	1

Table 3. Supplementary from Manuscript II. The bacterial species were exclusively found in milk samples or biopsies from healthy quarters and identified by MALDI-TOF MS.

For the mastitis quarters, species were again only found in milk and biopsies; however, the number of species found only in biopsies was much higher than in milk—33 species were only found in the biopsies, whereas only five species were unique to milk (Table 4).
Mastitis quarters			
Species only found in milk	Number of quarters	Species only found in biopsies	Number of quarters
Brevibacterium sp.	1	Acinetobacter calcoaceticus	1
Corynebacterium amycolatum/xerosis	1	Arthrobacter agilis	1
Paracoccus denitrificans	1	Bacillus altitudinis/pumilus	1
Psychrobacter phenylpyruvicus	1	Bacillus cereus group	1
Rothia mucilaginosa	1	Bacillus clausii	1
		Corynebacterium afermentans	1
		Corynebacterium amycolatum	1
		Corynebacterium confusum	1
		Corynebacterium glutamicum	1
		Corynebacterium mucifaciens	1
		Corynebacterium sp.	1
		Corynebacterium stationis	1
		Corynebacterium ulcerans	1
		Enterococcus cecorum	1
		Gordonia polyisoprenivorans	1
		Klebsiella oxytoca	1
		Kocuria palustris	1
		Lichtheimia corymbifera	1
		Listeria sp.	1
		Microbacterium sp.	1
		Paenibacillus	1
		Ralstonia picketii	1
		Sphingomonas parapaucimobilis	1
		Sphingomonas paucimobilis	1
		Staphylococcus auricularis	1
		Staphylococcus capitis	1
		Staphylococcus cohnii	1
		Staphylococcus epidermidis	1
		Staphylococcus hominis	1
		Staphylococcus lugdunensis	1
		Staphylococcus piscifermentans	1
		Streptococcus agalactiae	1
		Streptococcus pluranimalium	1

Table 4. Supplementary from Manuscript II. The bacterial species from mastitis quarters that were exclusively found in milk samples or biopsies and identified by MALDI-TOF MS.

Some mastitis pathogens are among the species only found in one type of samples; however they were found in both healthy and mastitis quarters. These species were only found once in all quarters.

For the metagenomics analysis of the biopsies, the alpha and beta diversity of the 16S rDNA sequencing data of the biopsies were determined to further identify the bacteria present in the tissue. There was a significant effect of location on alpha diversity (*p*-value $7.092*10^6$). When compared to

Location 1, all depths were less diverse (*p*-values: Location 2: 0.043011, Location 3: 0.000431, Location 4: 0.018043, and Location 5: 0.016813; Figure 8). There was no significant effect on mastitis or healthy alpha diversity, nor interaction between the locations and healthy versus mastitis alpha diversity.



Figure 8. Manuscript II. Alpha diversity for the different locations for the healthy and mastitis quarters.

Acinetobacter dominated throughout the healthy quarters and was observed in four out of five locations, with *Staphylococcus* dominating Location 1. The results were mainly the same for the mastitis quarters; Locations 1, 2 and 5 were primarily dominated by *Staphylococcus*, while *Acinetobacter* prevailed in Locations 3 and 4 (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Manuscript II. Most common species for the healthy and mastitis quarters for the five locations throughout the udder. 39

The beta diversity showed that between-sample variability varied greatly among the dairy cows (Figure 10). When the high variability between the dairy cows was accounted for, there was a significant effect of healthy/mastitis and locations (p < 0.001) and the locations (p < 0.001) on community composition. There were not observed any significant interactions between healthy/mastitis and location 1, the teat end, presented a different community composition than the other locations in the udder, as visualized by the slightly left-shifted centroid of Group S1 in Figure 10A.



Figure 10. Manuscript II. (A-C) PCA plots of locations (depth), dairy cows (cow ID), and healthy/mastitis (condition). The PCA plots show the groups and the distance to the centroid lines. (D-F) Boxplots over the distance to the centroid for the locations (depth), dairy cows (cow ID), and healthy/mastitis (condition).

Visualization of bacteria and cells

The cells in the tissue sections from Location 5 from the healthy and mastitis quarters were stained with HE staining and evaluated according the factors described in the methods section (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Manuscript II. Representative images of HE-stained tissue sections included in the study. (A) Tissue section from the mastitis quarter with a histopathological score of 6 (severe) and a moderate neutrophilic score, 100-200x magnification. (B) Tissue section from the mastitis quarter with a histopathological score of 5 (severe) and a high neutrophilic score, 100-200x magnification. (C) Tissue section from a healthy quarter with a histopathological score of 0 (none) and a low neutrophilic score of 100x magnification.

The majority of the tissue sections from the healthy quarters had a mild inflammation score (13), and two had no inflammation. However, five samples had a moderate or severe inflammation score. Surprisingly, 16 of the mastitis quarters only had a mild inflammation score, and two had none while 18 had either a moderate or severe inflammation score (Table 5).

Inflammation in the quarters	Healthy quarters	Mastitis quarters
None	2	2
Histological score: 0		
Mild	13	16
Histological score 1–2		
Moderate	3	9
Histological score 3–4		
Severe	2	9
Histological score 5–6		

Table 5. Manuscript II. Histopathological analysis of tissue sections from Location 5. The tissue sections were scored based on the pathological change in the tissue.

Furthermore, the neutrophilic granulocyte score was semi-quantitative (Table 6). The majority of healthy quarters had a low neutrophilic granulocyte score, and the majority of mastitis had a moderate score.

Neutrophilic granulocyte score	Healthy	Mastitis
Low	17	4
Moderate	0	10
High	3	6
C C		

Table 6. The neutrophilic granulocyte score of tissue sections from Location 5.

The spatial distribution of bacteria in biopsies from healthy and mastitis quarters was visualized by staining 278 slides with tissue sections with PNA-FISH and DAPI (Figures 12-14).

In healthy quarters, aggregates were rarely observed (i.e., in 3%). These aggregates were observed in Locations 1 and 2 of the quarters—the teat end and the annula ring. The morphology of the bacteria in these was cocci and rods. An example of an aggregate from a healthy sample is in Figure 14.B (**Manuscript II**).



Figure 12. Tissue sections from dairy cows were stained with the Texas Red universal PNA-FISH probe (red) and DAPI (blue). (A) Aggregate with rods from Location 3 in the mastitis quarter, 630x magnification. (B) Aggregate with rods from Location 1 in the mastitis quarter, 630x magnification. All images were taken by CLSM.



Figure 13. Tissue sections from dairy cows were stained with the Texas Red universal PNA-FISH probe (red) and DAPI (blue). (A) Aggregate with rods from Location 3 in the mastitis quarter, 630x magnification (B) Aggregate with cocci from Location 4 in the mastitis quarter, 630x magnification. All images were taken by CLSM.



Figure 14. Manuscript II. Tissue sections from dairy cows stained with Texas Red universal PNA-FISH probe (red) and DAPI (blue). Green is tissue autofluorescence. (A) Aggregate with cocci from Location 2 in the mastitis quarter, 630x magnification. (B) Aggregate with zoom on cocci from Location 2 in the healthy quarter, 630x magnification. (C) Aggregate with cocci from Location 4 in the mastitis quarter, 400x magnification. (D) Aggregate with both cocci (dotted arrow) and rod (filled arrow) from Location 1 in the mastitis quarter, 630x magnification. All images were taken by CLSM.

The aggregates in the healthy quarters were observed in different quarters, meaning no healthy quarters had aggregates in more than one location.

Aggregates were observed in 18.4% of the mastitis tissue sections and found in all five locations. Location 2 had a slightly higher proportion of aggregates than the others. In half of the quarters, there were only aggregates in one location, and the exact location differed between the quarters. For the other half of the mastitis quarters, aggregates were found in multiple locations. Both cocci and rods 45

were observed, and one quarter had both cocci and rods in one aggregate (Figure 12.D; **Manuscript II**).

Multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy as a future diagnostic tool - Manuscript III

The objective of **Manuscript III** was to examine the potential use of multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy to detect bacteria in bovine mastitis milk.

It was possible to detect spectra for both *S. aureus* and *S. uberis* at 532 nm and 785 nm, although distinct peaks were observed at 785 nm (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Manuscript III. (A) Class means for the two bacterial species S. aureus and S. uberis and milk at 532 nm. (B) Class means for the two bacterial species S. aureus and S. uberis and milk at 785 nm.

Table 7 depicts the distinct peaks for the two bacterial species and the milk for the two wavelengths, 532 nm and 785 nm. The bacterial strains and the milk had unique and shared peaks.

	Wavenumbers cm ⁻¹
532	
S. aureus	372, 508, 630, 750, 837, 847, 987, 1155, 1229, 1249, 1360, 1372, 1522, 1659, 1806, 1816
S. uberis	487, 723, 784, 808, 1004, 1096, 1155, 1240, 1333, 1372, 1451, 1482, 1587, 1628, 1660, 1806, 1816, 1957
Milk	351, 450, 641, 756, 851, 872, 1003, 1079, 1123, 1157, 1259, 1298, 1441, 1517, 1654, 1740
785	
S. aureus	603, 618, 665, 782, 851, 900, 934, 948, 1003, 1030, 1095, 1130, 1252, 1315, 1333, 1447, 1524, 1556, 1572
S. uberis	603, 665, 782, 808, 900, 1003, 1095, 1130, 1241, 1333, 1371, 1451, 1475, 1572, 1586, 1600, 1625, 1654
Milk	618, 702, 756, 851, 874, 1003, 1078, 1120, 1205, 1259, 1300, 1333, 1443, 1654

Table 7. *Manuscript III*. The spectral peaks for the two bacterial strains S. aureus and S. uberis and milk at the two wavelengths of 532 nm and 785 nm.

The SVM machine learning model was used to analyze the method's capability by classifying the data (Figure 16) [81]. The classification accuracies of *S. aureus* were high for 532 and 785 nm, with the lowest accuracy being 80.21% for 532 nm and 83.53% for 785 nm. The highest accuracies for *S. aureus* were 97.8% for 532 nm and 99.29% for 785 nm, indicating that 785 nm was the most optimal for *S. aureus*.

S. uberis had a lower classification accuracy of 532 with 72.74% and 78.72% for 785 nm, indicating that the two wavelengths were less optimal for this bacterial species (Figure 16). However, the highest accuracies were 98.82% and 98.29%. In general, the method could differentiate between the different bacterial concentrations, and the few concentrations the method had difficulty classifying were closely related to concentrations. The concentrations that were challenging to classify for *S. aureus* were $5.5*10^4$ and $5.5*10^3$ for 785 nm. *S. uberis* had more misclassifications of $4*10^4$ and $4*10^3$ for 532 nm and $4*10^6$ for 785 nm.



Figure 16. Manuscript III. Support vector machine learning was used to determine the classification accuracies for S. aureus and S. uberis in different concentrations at 532 nm and 785 nm excitations. The green balls refer to the correct identification of the sample, and the red balls refer to the incorrect identification.

When the two excitations of 532 nm and 785 nm were combined, the SVM had higher success in classifying the samples (Figure 17). Here, the lowest accuracy was 91.41% for *S. aureus* and 90.4% for *S. uberis*.



Figure 17. Manuscript III. Support vector machine learning was used to determine the classification accuracies for S. aureus and S. uberis in different concentrations at the combined excitations of 532 nm and 785 nm. The green balls refer to the correct identification of the sample, and the red balls refer to the incorrect identification.

Discussion

Dairy cows included in study – Manuscript II

Quarters from dairy cows with elevated somatic cell counts were collected for **Manuscript II**. The quarters were divided into the categories "Healthy" or "Mastitis" according to their SCC. This resulted in 20 healthy quarters and 36 mastitis quarters from 28 dairy cows. The corresponding SCC results did not correlate with the CMT results for all quarters. In general, the CMT is considered a reliable analysis to identify intramammary inflammation on the cow-side [7,72]. Studies have found that CMT and SCC typically correspond well [102,103]. A reason for the two methods not correlating well in this study could be the subjective nature of CMT. I conducted CMT on milk during sample collection. I followed the protocol carefully; however, it is possible that my limited experience with the method and the subjective nature of the test led to the results of the two methods are not correlating. This did not influence the study's results, as the quarters were categorized by SCC and not CMT, despite the two dairy cows having no available SCC data. However, the quarters were selected due to the CMT, and it would have been most optimal to have selected a healthy and a mastitis quarter for every cow, resulting in a paired internal control for each mastitis quarter in the study.

The bacterial composition in bovine udders – Manuscript II

The human microbiome conveyed that bacteria are a vital part of the body that maintain many essential functions [104,105]. The importance of bacteria as beneficial commensals and dysbiosis is evolving in many areas [106,107]. When a shift occurs in the commensal microbiome – antibiotic treatment, or other factors, the microbial composition changes to a higher prevalence of a few opportunistic pathogens, causing disease in the host [106,107].

The idea of a commensal microbiome in dairy cows' udders is also evolving. The healthy udder was initially thought to be a sterile environment [11], but in the recent decades, studies have shown that bacteria are present in healthy udders. The most common phylum detected in milk samples include Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria and Bacteroidetes [14,15,21]

In the study, a discrepancy was found of the count of bacterial species between milk samples and biopsies by cultivating and MALDI-TOF MS. To my knowledge, no studies have compared milk samples and biopsies. The bovine mastitis pathogens *S. uberis*, *E. faecium*, and multiple

Corynebacterium species were found only in biopsies. The results were similar for the mastitis quarters; however, more species were only detected in the biopsies and not in the milk. Here the *B. cereus, Corynebacterium, Listeria,* and *S. agalactiae* pathogens were identified in the biopsies but not in the milk samples. The presence of the pathogens only in the tissue and not detected in milk samples could indicate a risk of underdiagnosis of mastitis pathogens.

Another explanation for why the milk samples are not reflecting the bacterial composition in the tissue samples, could be that the number of bacteria is so low in the tissue that they are not shedding into the milk. However, it is essential to remember that all the bacteria, unique for either milk samples or biopsies, were only detected in either one quarter or milk sample.

The most common species by cultivation and MALDI-TOF for biopsies from the healthy quarters were *B. licheniformis*, a soil bacteria [108] that is not associated with mastitis. In the mastitis quarters, the known mastitis pathogen *S. aureus* dominated the samples [109,110]. Another mastitis pathogen, *S. uberis*, was found to be one of the most common bacteria in both healthy and mastitis quarters. The findings of *S. uberis* in healthy and mastitis quarters correlate with other studies that have found the bacteria in healthy udders [111].

The results of published studies investigating the commensal microbiome of bovine udders and the microbiome during mastitis differ. Some studies have found a higher diversity in healthy udders [17,21], and others have noted that both healthy and mastitis udders have a high diversity but with different compositions [12,15,112]. Acinetobacteria, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Bacterioidetes are phyla often detected in healthy udders [15,20,21,113], whereas *Bacilli*, *Staphylococcus*, *Streptococcus*, and *Chlamydiia* are associated with mastitis cases [12,15,21,111].

In this study, *Acinetobacter* was one of the most dominant species in both healthy and mastitis quarters found by the metagenomics analysis. The bacteria typically found in soil [114] are not associated with mastitis; however, other studies reported it as one of the most common, indicating that the bacteria could be part of a core microbiota [13–15,115–117]. However, Wang et al. found an association between *Acinetobacter* and subclinical mastitis [114].

When the metagenome of the biopsies was analyzed, the biopsies from Location 1, the teat end, had significantly different alpha diversity than those from the other locations, which could be explained by the teat end being exposed to the environment.

Multiple factors could influence the bacterial composition of the udders. As Ruegg states in her review of the bovine milk microbiome, many factors could influence bacterial composition, such as the animal's age, diet, lactation status, country of origin, bedding and environment, and medical history [18]. Ruegg also identifies a relevant point – that the methods used are not standardized and that contamination is at significant risk when collecting milk samples [18].

This study also demonstrated that more than three bacterial species could be present in a milk sample, challenging the rule that a milk sample is contaminated when more than three bacterial morphologies are present on a plate [7]. These results show that milk and udder composition comparisons should be investigated further to determine whether milk samples truly reflect the bacterial composition in the udders. Moreover, the data presented suggests that more research is needed to understand the role of other species that cannot be cultured.

Histopathology of cells - Manuscript II

In **Manuscript II**, quarters in the healthy category underwent histopathological changes, indicating inflammation. The majority had a low score of neutrophilic granulocytes, which could be due to lactation. When a dairy cow is entering into lactation, local inflammation prepares the udder for the possibility of incoming bacteria during milking. The mastitis quarters varied in histopathological and neutrophilic results. Only the tissue sections from the deepest location of the quarters, Location 5, were analyzed. A small sample from a large organ such as the udder might not reflect the inflammation in the whole quarter.

Biofilm in bovine mastitis - Manuscript I and II

Manuscript I describes how bovine mastitis and biofilm research has mainly focused on the *in vitro* abilities of bacteria to form biofilm in the last few decades [41]. The current research has laid a solid foundation, as we know that some of the most common mastitis pathogens form biofilms *in vitro* [41,118,119]. However, it is suggested that most bacteria can form biofilm and may prefer the biofilm form [27]. It is therefore essential to examine whether mastitis pathogens form biofilm *in vivo* – and to determine whether they are in biofilm form inside the udders of dairy cows. Few studies have visualized the bacteria in the udders of dairy cows [68,70], and this study is one of them. In **Manuscript II**, aggregates were found in approximately 18% of mastitis tissue sections and in 3% of the healthy tissue sections. In the healthy quarters, aggregates were found exclusively in the first two locations. In the mastitis quarters, the aggregates were found in all locations – from 52

the teat end to the parenchyma. These findings correspond with the two other studies that have investigated biofilm in bovine mastitis *in vivo*. Hensen et al. found "clusters of bacteria" in dairy cows' udder cistern and parenchyma experimentally infected with *S. aureus* [68]. Schönborn et al. detected the polysaccharide intercellular adhesin (PIA) biofilm component for *S. aureus* in multiple locations (e.g. the teat cistern, the gland cistern, and the parenchyma), and found PIA in seven out of 184 swabs [70].

Bacteria can be visualized using several methods. Gram-staining is a common method and used by Hensen et al. [9]. Specific stains can be used to visualize the polysaccharides of EPS and the biofilm matrix [10–12] In this study, I used PNA-FISH to visualize the bacteria present in the tissue sections, as PNA-FISH is a recognized staining technique for visualizing bacteria in tissue and is used both in clinical settings and for research purposes [100,120–123]. The advantage of PNA-FISH is the "uncharged backbone", that enables the probes to hybridize targets less accessible than other probes [124]. The protocol for staining samples with PNA-FISH is simple, and the probes easily bind to both Gram-negative and positive bacteria [99,124]. PNA-FISH is very suitable for visualizing bacteria within tissue in human diseases, due to great resolution [26].

Nonetheless, bacterial aggregates was not found in all samples or all dairy cows. When tissue biopsies are collected from udders, a very small sample is collected from a very big organ, thus resulting in the risk of missing possible aggregated bacteria. Bacteria are often heterogeneously distributed in the tissue, and the placement of the aggregates in the tissue may depend on stochastic events [94]. As few studies have investigated biofilm in the tissue of bovine mastitis udders, future research should aim to investigate the bacteria in the udders by visualizing them to fully understand aggregates and biofilm's role in bovine mastitis.

Raman spectroscopy: a future diagnostic tool of bovine mastitis? Manuscript III

The current diagnostic methods to identify bacterial agents in bovine mastitis rely on cultures or molecular analysis [7,72]. These methods may take at least 24 hours to identify bacteria. In **Manuscript III**, the potential use of multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy was investigated with strains of *S. aureus* and *S. uberis*. It was possible to detect the different spectra of the pathogens and the milk as well as the various concentrations for both species. Some peaks for the two species correlated with other studies on *S. aureus* and *Streptococci* [77,80,82]; however, no other studies with *S. aureus* and *S. uberis* in milk have been published. A few studies have examined surface-53

enhanced Raman and Raman spectroscopy to detect antibiotic residues and inflammatory markers in milk [125–127].

This study used milk from a supermarket rather than of directly from dairy cows, to ensure that there no pathogens were present in the milk. However, this does not resemble the milk collected directly from a dairy cow, especially not from a cow with mastitis [7,72,128,129]. Further research should examine whether the changed composition of milk during mastitis and milk from a healthy dairy cow could affect the results of Raman spectroscopy.

A small area is being analyzed when using Raman spectroscopy, resulting in the risk of missing bacteria. The risk can be avoided by concentrating the bacteria in the sample while preparing for Raman spectroscopy or scanning a larger area. However, this technique requires an extended turnaround time.

No studies have examined the use of Raman spectroscopy to detect bacterial agents in milk, and the results of this study are a promising foundation for further research. The analysis is fast, and relatively easy to use, and the materials are inexpensive. One study investigating the method for detecting antibiotic residues in milk from dairy cows used on-site [125] has suggested that an on-farm use of the method could be possible.

This method could deliver results in minutes rather than days, making it possible to treat dairy cows efficiently and quickly. One main limitation of the method is reference libraries. Commercial and free online libraries exist [130–133], but they are still limited, and with the limited research on Raman spectroscopy on bovine mastitis and milk, there is still some way before the method can be implemented in daily diagnostics.

General Discussion

The results from **Manuscript II** demonstrated that bacterial species are found in all udder locations, regardless of whether the dairy cow is healthy or has mastitis. They may be found as single cells or aggregates. The idea of the udder as a sterile environment is being disproved by researchers, and this study contributes to this notion. This study indicates the need for more research on the bacterial composition and spatial distribution in the udder tissue and whether or not they are in biofilm formation. The knowledge of whether mastitis is underdiagnosed or if

biofilm causes chronic disease could affect the treatment outcome and gaining an understanding of biofilm in bovine mastitis is crucial.

Furthermore, the whole environment of the udder should be investigated, as the bacteria and the environment around them act differently in the original environment than in *in vitro* settings in a laboratory [32].

However, collecting biopsies from udders are not simple. Collecting biopsies deep in the udder from living animals is difficult; therefore researchers mainly rely on recently euthanized animals. Relying on euthanized animals limits the knowledge that is possible to gain, as it is only possible to gain information about a single time point. Collecting information over time, (e.g. during the development of an infection), is challenging. Swabs, as described by Hensen et al. a possible way to collect samples from living dairy cows; however they are limited how far they can be inserted [68].

The risk of contamination is necessarily present when collecting samples. In this study, it was an ever-present concern and consideration, especially with 16S rDNA sequencing, where only a small amount of DNA is required for the analysis, increasing the risk of contaminants being included as part of the microbiome.

I discovered that some species only detected in either milk samples or biopsies. Faster and more precise diagnostics could improve the outcome. A method that could be applied in the future could be Raman spectroscopy, as examined in **Manuscript III**. The study results indicated that the method could be implemented as a diagnostic tool in the future – however, more research is needed before the method is ready for diagnostic purposes.

Limitations

A primary limitation of the study of **Manuscript II** was the lack of information about the dairy cows before collection. The only information available from the dairy farmers prior to collecting was that the dairy cows had elevated SCC for a longer period. To ensure a more homogeneous group, it would have been optimal to select dairy cows in advance, culture their milk, and study their medical history and SCC before slaughter. This method also would have eliminated the study's other main limitations: the lack of a "control" quarter and the uneven distribution of healthy versus mastitis quarters. It would have been ideal to have a healthy quarter as internal control and

a mastitis quarter from each dairy cow and to have healthy cows as external controls. This was impossible due to time restrictions.

Only the biopsies were analyzed by 16S rDNA sequencing to determine the bacterial composition due to budget limitations. In the current study of **Manuscript II**, the milk samples were only analyzed by cultivation and MALDI-TOF MS, thus limiting the results to bacteria that could be cultivated. To truly compare the results of the milk samples and biopsies, 16S rDNA sequencing would have been optimal. Furthermore, estimating the bacterial load of the bacterial species would have provided interesting information. The biopsies and milk samples were only grown on blood agar plates under aerobic conditions. There is a possibility that more species would be detected by cultivation and MALDI-TOF MS if multiple conditions and plates were used.

In **Manuscript II**, aggregates were found in nearly one out of five tissue sections from mastitis quarters. As mentioned previously, it is possible to miss areas with biofilm when collecting tissue samples. In this study, five biopsies were collected from the quarters, and the size of the biopsies was small compared to the large size of the udders. The visual examination of the 278 tissue sections in this study was time-consuming, and it would not have been possible to collect and examine additional samples. Future studies could circumvent this issue by selecting a few quarters and collecting more biopsies from them.

Manuscript III was a smaller study based on a one-month exchange stay at Southampton University, United Kingdom. The study could have benefited from more replications to strengthen the results. Furthermore, the milk used in the study was supermarket milk, rather than the milk collected from dairy cows on a dairy farm. Experiments with milk from healthy cows and milk from a dairy cow with mastitis with visible changes in the milk composition are essential to investigate. There is a risk that the increase of cells and various milk components in mastitis milk could interfere with Raman spectroscopy, so this possibility should be investigated.

Conclusion

As one of the most common diseases in the dairy industry and with the highest use of antibiotics, it is vital to understand the dynamics of bovine mastitis. Although bovine mastitis has been extensively researched, certain research areas are new and under development. This thesis contributed to the knowledge of bacteria in bovine udders.

Manuscript I reviewed the current status of biofilm in bovines. The last decades of research have mainly focused on bacteria isolated from milk and whether they could form biofilm in laboratory *in vitro* settings. The main studied species is *S. aureus,* and most studies show that the investigated isolates could form biofilm by examining them with standard biofilm assays. However, only two studies investigated whether biofilm was formed in the tissue of udders [68,70]. While the current research has laid a foundation, further research should focus on the visualization of bacteria to assess whether biofilm plays a role in bovine mastitis.

The spatial distribution of bacteria in the quarters was determined by visualizing the bacteria in tissue sections by PNA-FISH and CLSM in **Manuscript II**. Bacterial aggregates were mainly found in mastitis quarters and in all locations of the quarters, where the healthy quarters had limited aggregates. This finding indicated that aggregates are mainly associated with mastitis; however, more conclusive research is needed.

In Manuscript II, bacteria were found in all locations of healthy and mastitis quarters. The bacterial composition at the teat end was different from the biopsies obtained deeper inside the udder. The most common species in milk samples and biopsies were similar for healthy and mastitis quarters, with a few bacteria that differed between healthy and mastitis, which adds to the knowledge that the bovine udder is not a sterile environment. Some species were only found in either milk samples or biopsies, indicating that milk samples do not detect some species in the quarters. As this factor could have implications for the diagnostics of bovine mastitis, it should be investigated further.

The histopathological changes in the tissue samples indicated that there may be a low grade of inflammation in the healthy quarters and that the inflammation varied among the mastitis quarters.

In **Manuscript III**, multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy was investigated to detect bovine mastitis pathogens in milk. The method was able to detect the spectra of *S. aureus*, *S. uberis*, and milk, as well as spectra for different concentrations of *S. aureus* and *S. uberis* in milk. These 57

promising results lay a foundation for future research on multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy as a diagnostic tool.

The findings in this thesis contribute to the knowledge that the bovine udder is not a sterile environment. As one of the few studies focusing on biopsies collected from udders, the results indicate the need for future research on biopsies obtained from udders. Furthermore, the promising aspects of Raman spectroscopy as a diagnostic tool should be investigated further.

Perspectives

There is room for continued research in the areas investigated in this PhD thesis. In this section, I propose suggestions for future research.

The bovine udder microbiome

An aspect not investigated in **Manuscript II** was the 16S rDNA sequencing of the milk samples collected. A study analyzing both milk and biopsies with 16S rDNA sequencing would be fascinating to compare the findings. Furthermore, estimating the bacterial load of these samples would give valuable information about the bacteria's significance. RNA sequencing of both the bacteria and the dairy cow cells to estimate up- and down-regulation of genes during infection, as well as in healthy dairy cows, could also be interesting to attain more profound knowledge of the interactions during infection in the dairy cow. Healthy dairy cows with no prior mastitis history could be interesting as a control group.

Biofilm in bovine mastitis

As noted, it is possible to miss bacteria both single cells and aggregates in an organ as large as the bovine udder. *S. aureus* are associated with low bacteriological cure rates [23], and a future study could investigate dairy cows with *S. aureus* infection and a prolonged period of high SCC. Milk samples and biopsies could be collected as in **Manuscript II**; however, more biopsies would be collected from each quarter to increase the possibility of finding the biofilm. Combining the universal bacteria probe used in **Manuscript II** and a specific probe for *S. aureus* could elucidate whether the biofilm was an *S. aureus* biofilm to determine whether *S. aureus* are, in fact, forming a biofilm during infection.

Raman spectroscopy

The study in **Manuscript III** was on a small scale and in a relatively sparsely investigated area. Many aspects could be interesting to study further. In **Manuscript III**, the two bacterial species were examined individually. Further analysis of mixed cultures in milk could be interesting—both with multiple pathogens and with commensals with a pathogen in different concentrations. As mentioned previously, **Manuscript III** only used milk from a supermarket, which may not resemble milk collected on a dairy farm. An experiment with milk from healthy udders and udders with mastitis in different degrees could be interesting to explore to determine whether the change in milk composition will mask the bacteria in the milk. The presence of biofilm in milk samples 59 could be relevant to explore to assess whether the method could detect biofilm and differentiate between single cells and biofilm in milk samples. Another possible application for the method could be Raman spectroscopy on biopsies. My ambition was to investigate this during my research exchange; however, due to time restraints, it was only possible to conduct a few pilot studies. If Raman spectroscopy could detect bacteria or biofilm in biopsies, its application to diagnostics would be highly valuable.

References

- Brüssow H. Europe, the bull and the Minotaur: the biological legacy of a Neolithic love story. Environ Microbiol 2009;11:2778–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2009.01962.x.
- [2] DANMAP 2021: Use of antimicrobial agents and oc- currence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from food animals, food and humans in Denmark. 2021.
- [3] Ruegg PL. A 100-Year Review: Mastitis detection, management, and prevention. J Dairy Sci 2017;100:10381–97. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-13023.
- [4] Ashraf A, Imran M. Causes, types, etiological agents, prevalence, diagnosis, treatment, prevention, effects on human health and future aspects of bovine mastitis. Anim Heal Res Rev 2020;21:36–49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466252319000094.
- [5] Bradley A. Bovine mastitis: an evolving disease. Vet J 2002;164:116–28. https://doi.org/10.1053/tvjl.2002.0724.
- [6] Watts JL. Etiological agents of bovine mastitis. Vet Microbiol 1988;16:41–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1135(88)90126-5.
- [7] Adkins PRF, Middleton JR. Methods for Diagnosing Mastitis. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 2018;34:479–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2018.07.003.
- [8] Nickerson SC, Akers RM. MAMMARY GLAND | Anatomy. In: Fuquay JW, editor. Encycl. Dairy Sci. (Second Ed. Second Edi, San Diego: Academic Press; 2011, p. 328–37. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374407-4.00290-9.
- Zhao X, Lacasse P. Mammary tissue damage during bovine mastitis: causes and control. J Anim Sci 2008;86:57–65. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2007-0302.
- [10] Sordillo LM. Mammary Gland Immunobiology and Resistance to Mastitis. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 2018;34:507–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2018.07.005.
- [11] Rainard P. Mammary microbiota of dairy ruminants: fact or fiction? Vet Res 2017;48:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-017-0429-2.
- [12] Kuehn JS, Gorden PJ, Munro D, Rong R, Dong Q, Plummer PJ, et al. Bacterial community profiling of milk samples as a means to understand culture-negative bovine clinical mastitis. PLoS One 2013;8:e61959. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061959.
- [13] Bonsaglia ECR, Gomes MS, Canisso IF, Zhou Z, Lima SF, Rall VLM, et al. Milk microbiome and bacterial load following dry cow therapy without antibiotics in dairy cows with healthy mammary gland. Sci Rep 2017;7:8067. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08790-5.

- [14] Derakhshani H, Plaizier JC, De Buck J, Barkema HW, Khafipour E. Composition and co-occurrence patterns of the microbiota of different niches of the bovine mammary gland: potential associations with mastitis susceptibility, udder inflammation, and teat-end hyperkeratosis. Anim Microbiome 2020;2:11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42523-020-00028-6.
- [15] Steinberg RS, Silva E Silva LC, de Souza MR, Reis RB, da Silva PCL, Lacorte GA, et al. Changes in bovine milk bacterial microbiome from healthy and subclinical mastitis affected animals of the Girolando, Gyr, Guzera, and Holstein breeds. Int Microbiol Off J Spanish Soc Microbiol 2022;25:803–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10123-022-00267-4.
- [16] Porcellato D, Meisal R, Bombelli A, Narvhus JA. A core microbiota dominates a rich microbial diversity in the bovine udder and may indicate presence of dysbiosis. Sci Rep 2020;10:21608. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-77054-6.
- [17] Ganda EK, Bisinotto RS, Lima SF, Kronauer K, Decter DH, Oikonomou G, et al. Longitudinal metagenomic profiling of bovine milk to assess the impact of intramammary treatment using a third-generation cephalosporin. Sci Rep 2016;6:37565. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep37565.
- [18] Ruegg PL. The bovine milk microbiome an evolving science. Domest Anim Endocrinol 2022;79:106708. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2021.106708.
- [19] Council NM. Procedures for collecting milk samples. 2004.
- [20] Gill JJ, Sabour PM, Gong J, Yu H, Leslie KE, Griffiths MW. Characterization of bacterial populations recovered from the teat canals of lactating dairy and beef cattle by 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2006;56:471–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2006.00091.x.
- [21] Falentin H, Rault L, Nicolas A, Bouchard DS, Lassalas J, Lamberton P, et al. Bovine Teat Microbiome Analysis Revealed Reduced Alpha Diversity and Significant Changes in Taxonomic Profiles in Quarters with a History of Mastitis. Front Microbiol 2016;7:480. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00480.
- [22] International Dairy Federation 2011., Brussels (revision of Bulletin of IDF N° 338/1999).
 Suggested Interpretation of Mastitis Terminology n.d.
- [23] Ziesch M, Krömker V. Factors influencing bacteriological cure after antibiotic therapy of clinical mastitis. Milchwissenschaft 2016;69:7.
- [24] Costerton JW, Geesey GG, Cheng KJ. How bacteria stick. Sci Am 1978;238:86–95. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican0178-86.
- [25] McCoy WF, Bryers JD, Robbins J, Costerton JW. Observations of fouling biofilm62

formation. Can J Microbiol 1981;27:910-7. https://doi.org/10.1139/m81-143.

- [26] Burmølle M, Thomsen TR, Fazli M, Dige I, Christensen L, Homøe P, et al. Biofilms in chronic infections - A matter of opportunity - Monospecies biofilms in multispecies infections. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2010;59:324–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2010.00714.x.
- [27] Flemming HC, Wingender J, Szewzyk U, Steinberg P, Rice SA, Kjelleberg S. Biofilms: An emergent form of bacterial life. Nat Rev Microbiol 2016;14:563–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2016.94.
- [28] Hall-Stoodley L, Costerton JW, Stoodley P. Bacterial biofilms: From the natural environment to infectious diseases. Nat Rev Microbiol 2004;2:95–108. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro821.
- [29] Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Bassi GL, Coenye T, Donelli G, et al. ESCMID guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of biofilm infections 2014. Clin Microbiol Infect Off Publ Eur Soc Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2015;21 Suppl 1:S1-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2014.10.024.
- [30] Kolpen M, Kragh KN, Enciso JB, Faurholt-Jepsen D, Lindegaard B, Egelund GB, et al. Bacterial biofilms predominate in both acute and chronic human lung infections. Thorax 2022. https://doi.org/10.1136/thoraxjnl-2021-217576.
- [31] Høiby N, Ciofu O, Johansen HK, Song ZJ, Moser C, Jensen PØ, et al. The clinical impact of bacterial biofilms. Int J Oral Sci 2011;3:55–65. https://doi.org/10.4248/IJOS11026.
- [32] Bjarnsholt T, Whiteley M, Rumbaugh KP, Stewart PS, Jensen PØ, Frimodt-Møller N. The importance of understanding the infectious microenvironment. Lancet Infect Dis 2022;22:e88–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(21)00122-5.
- [33] Jørgensen E, Bjarnsholt T, Jacobsen S. Biofilm and Equine Limb Wounds. Anim an Open Access J from MDPI 2021;11. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11102825.
- [34] Swanson EA, Freeman LJ, Seleem MN, Snyder PW. Biofilm-infected wounds in a dog. J Am Vet Med Assoc 2014;244:699–707. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.244.6.699.
- [35] Westgate SJ, Percival SL, Knottenbelt DC, Clegg PD, Cochrane CA. Microbiology of equine wounds and evidence of bacterial biofilms. Vet Microbiol 2011;150:152–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2011.01.003.
- [36] Chan WY, Hickey EE, Page SW, Trott DJ, Hill PB. Biofilm production by pathogens associated with canine otitis externa, and the antibiofilm activity of ionophores and antimicrobial adjuvants. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2019;42:682–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvp.12811.

- [37] Parnell-Turner H, Griffin CE, Rosenkrantz WS, Kelly Keating M, Bidot WA. Evaluation of the use of paired modified Wright's and periodic acid Schiff stains to identify microbial aggregates on cytological smears of dogs with microbial otitis externa and suspected biofilm. Vet Dermatol 2021;32:448-e122. https://doi.org/10.1111/vde.13009.
- [38] Sandal I, Shao JQ, Annadata S, Apicella MA, Boye M, Jensen TK, et al. Histophilus somni biofilm formation in cardiopulmonary tissue of the bovine host following respiratory challenge. Microbes Infect 2009;11:254–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2008.11.011.
- [39] Fiamengo TE, Runcan EE, Premanandan C, Blawut B, Coutinho da Silva MA. Evaluation of Biofilm Production by Escherichia coli Isolated From Clinical Cases of Canine Pyometra. Top Companion Anim Med 2020;39:100429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcam.2020.100429.
- [40] Ferris RA, McCue PM, Borlee GI, Loncar KD, Hennet ML, Borlee BR. In Vitro Efficacy of Nonantibiotic Treatments on Biofilm Disruption of Gram-Negative Pathogens and an In Vivo Model of Infectious Endometritis Utilizing Isolates from the Equine Uterus. J Clin Microbiol 2016;54:631–9. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02861-15.
- [41] Pedersen RR, Krömker V, Bjarnsholt T, Dahl-Pedersen K, Buhl R, Jørgensen E. Biofilm Research in Bovine Mastitis. Front Vet Sci 2021;8:656810. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2021.656810.
- [42] Darwish SF, Asfour HAE. Investigation of biofilm forming ability in Staphylococci causing bovine mastitis using phenotypic and genotypic assays. ScientificWorldJournal 2013;2013:378492. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/378492.
- [43] Notcovich S, DeNicolo G, Flint SH, Williamson NB, Gedye K, Grinberg A, et al. Biofilm-Forming Potential of Staphylococcus aureus Isolated from Clinical Mastitis Cases in New Zealand. Vet Sci 2018;5. https://doi.org/10.3390/vetsci5010008.
- [44] Salimena APS, Lange CC, Camussone C, Signorini M, Calvinho LF, Brito MAVP, et al. Genotypic and phenotypic detection of capsular polysaccharide and biofilm formation in Staphylococcus aureus isolated from bovine milk collected from Brazilian dairy farms. Vet Res Commun 2016:97–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-016-9658-5.
- [45] Bonsaglia ECR, Latosinski GS, Rossi RS, Rossi BF, Possebon FS, Pantoja JCF, et al. Biofilm production under different atmospheres and growth media by Streptococcus agalactiae isolated from milk of cows with subclinical mastitis. Arch Microbiol 2020;202:209–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-019-01727-8.
- [46] Pang M, Sun L, He T, Bao H, Zhang L, Zhou Y, et al. Molecular and virulence characterization of highly prevalent Streptococcus agalactiae circulated in bovine dairy

herds. Vet Res 2017;48:65. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-017-0461-2.

- [47] Varhimo E, Varmanen P, Fallarero A, Skogman M. Alpha- and b -casein components of host milk induce biofilm formation in the mastitis bacterium Streptococcus uberis 2011;149:381–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2010.11.010.
- [48] Varhimo E, Varmanen P, Fallarero A, Skogman M, Pyörälä S, Iivanainen A, et al. Alphaand β-casein components of host milk induce biofilm formation in the mastitis bacterium Streptococcus uberis. Vet Microbiol 2011;149:381–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2010.11.010.
- [49] Sela S, Hammer-Muntz O, Krifucks O, Pinto R, Weisblit L, Leitner G. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of Pseudomonas aeruginosa strains isolated from mastitis outbreaks in dairy herds. J Dairy Res 2007;74:425–9. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022029907002610.
- [50] Massé J, Dufour S, Archambault M. Characterization of Klebsiella isolates obtained from clinical mastitis cases in dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci 2020;103:3392–400. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-17324.
- [51] Dhanawade NB, Kalorey DR, Srinivasan R, Barbuddhe SB, Kurkure N V. Detection of intercellular adhesion genes and biofilm production in Staphylococcus aureus isolated from bovine subclinical mastitis. Vet Res Commun 2010;34:81–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-009-9326-0.
- [52] Aslantaş Ö, Demir C. Investigation of the antibiotic resistance and biofilm-forming ability of Staphylococcus aureus from subclinical bovine mastitis cases. J Dairy Sci 2016;99:8607–13. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2016-11310.
- [53] Shah MS, Qureshi S, Kashoo Z, Farooq S, Wani SA, Hussain MI, et al. Methicillin resistance genes and in vitro biofilm formation among Staphylococcus aureus isolates from bovine mastitis in India. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 2019;64:117–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cimid.2019.02.009.
- [54] Budri PE, Silva NCC, Bonsaglia ECR, Fernandes A, Araújo JP, Doyama JT, et al. Effect of essential oils of Syzygium aromaticum and Cinnamomum zeylanicum and their major components on biofilm production in Staphylococcus aureus strains isolated from milk of cows with mastitis. J Dairy Sci 2015;98:5899–904. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2015-9442.
- [55] Salimena APS, Lange CC, Camussone C, Signorini M, Calvinho LF, Brito MAVP, et al. Genotypic and phenotypic detection of capsular polysaccharide and biofilm formation in Staphylococcus aureus isolated from bovine milk collected from Brazilian dairy farms. Vet Res Commun 2016;40:97–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-016-9658-5.

- [56] Bonsaglia ECR, Rossi RS, Latosinski G, Rossi BF, Campos FC, Junior AF, et al. Relationship between Biofilm Production and High Somatic Cell Count in Streptococcus agalactiae Isolated from Milk of Cows with Subclinical Mastitis. Pathog (Basel, Switzerland) 2023;12. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens12020311.
- [57] Rumi MV, Huguet MJ, Bentancor AB, Gentilini ER. The icaA gene in staphylococci from bovine mastitis. J Infect Dev Ctries 2013;7:556–60. https://doi.org/10.3855/jidc.2670.
- [58] Cucarella C, Tormo MA, Ubeda C, Trotonda MP, Monzón M, Peris C, et al. Role of biofilmassociated protein bap in the pathogenesis of bovine Staphylococcus aureus. Infect Immun 2004;72:2177–85. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.72.4.2177-2185.2004.
- [59] Melchior MB, van Osch MHJ, Graat RM, van Duijkeren E, Mevius DJ, Nielen M, et al. Biofilm formation and genotyping of Staphylococcus aureus bovine mastitis isolates: evidence for lack of penicillin-resistance in Agr-type II strains. Vet Microbiol 2009;137:83– 9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2008.12.004.
- [60] Szweda P, Schielmann M, Milewski S, Frankowska A, Jakubczak A. Biofilm production and presence of ica and bap genes in Staphylococcus aureus strains isolated from cows with mastitis in the eastern Poland. Polish J Microbiol 2012;61:65–9.
- [61] Nascimento FR, Albuquerque KRS, Oliveira MR, Pizziolo VR, Brasileiro BG, Diaz G, et al. Antibiotic activity of Plectranthus ornatus Codd., a Traditional Medicinal Plant. An Acad Bras Cienc 2017;89:2461–9. https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201720170068.
- [62] Mordmuang A, Brouillette E, Voravuthikunchai SP, Malouin F. Evaluation of a Rhodomyrtus tomentosa ethanolic extract for its therapeutic potential on Staphylococcus aureus infections using in vitro and in vivo models of mastitis. Vet Res 2019;50:49. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-019-0664-9.
- [63] Cerioli MF, Moliva M V, Cariddi LN, Reinoso EB. Effect of the Essential Oil of Minthostachys verticillata (Griseb.) Epling and Limonene on Biofilm Production in Pathogens Causing Bovine Mastitis. Front Vet Sci 2018;5:146. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00146.
- [64] Collado R, Prenafeta A, González-González L, Pérez-Pons JA, Sitjà M. Probing vaccine antigens against bovine mastitis caused by Streptococcus uberis. Vaccine 2016;34:3848– 54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.05.044.
- [65] Côté-Gravel J, Brouillette E, Malouin F. Vaccination with a live-attenuated small-colony variant improves the humoral and cell-mediated responses against Staphylococcus aureus. PLoS One 2019;14:e0227109. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227109.
- [66] Gogoi-Tiwari J, Williams V, Waryah CB, Eto KY, Tau M, Costantino P, et al. Comparative

studies of the immunogenicity and protective potential of biofilm vs planktonic Staphylococcus aureus vaccine against bovine mastitis using non-invasive mouse mastitis as a model system. Biofouling 2015;31:543–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2015.1074681.

- [67] Prenafeta A, March R, Foix A, Casals I, Costa L. Study of the humoral immunological response after vaccination with a Staphylococcus aureus biofilm-embedded bacterin in dairy cows: possible role of the exopolysaccharide specific antibody production in the protection from Staphylococcus aureus induced m. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2010;134:208–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2009.09.020.
- [68] Hensen SM, Pavičić MJAMP, Lohuis JACM, De Hoog JAM, Poutrel B. Location of Staphylococcus aureus within the experimentally infected Bovine Udder and the expression of capsular polysaccharide type 5 in situ. J Dairy Sci 2000;83:1966–75. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(00)75073-9.
- [69] Schönborn S, Krömker V. Detection of the biofilm component polysaccharide intercellular adhesin in Staphylococcus aureus infected cow udders. Vet Microbiol 2016;196:126–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.10.023.
- [70] Schönborn S, Krömker V. Detection of the biofilm component polysaccharide intercellular adhesin in Staphylococcus aureus infected cow udders. Vet Microbiol 2016;196:126–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.10.023.
- [71] Loy JD, Clawson ML, Adkins PRF, Middleton JR. Current and Emerging Diagnostic Approaches to Bacterial Diseases of Ruminants. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 2023;39:93–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2022.10.006.
- [72] Ashraf A, Imran M. Diagnosis of bovine mastitis: from laboratory to farm. Trop Anim Health Prod 2018;50:1193–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-018-1629-0.
- [73] Viguier C, Arora S, Gilmartin N, Welbeck K, O'Kennedy R. Mastitis detection: current trends and future perspectives. Trends Biotechnol 2009;27:486–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2009.05.004.
- [74] Sumon SMMR, Parvin MS, Ehsan MA, Islam MT. Relationship between somatic cell counts and subclinical mastitis in lactating dairy cows. Vet World 2020;13:1709–13. https://doi.org/10.14202/vetworld.2020.1709-1713.
- [75] Zhang J, Li W, Tang Y, Liu X, Zhang H, Zhou Y, et al. Testing Two Somatic Cell Count Cutoff Values for Bovine Subclinical Mastitis Detection Based on Milk Microbiota and Peripheral Blood Leukocyte Transcriptome Profile. Anim an Open Access J from MDPI 2022;12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12131694.

- [76] Nonnemann B, Lyhs U, Svennesen L, Kristensen KA, Klaas IC, Pedersen K. Bovine mastitis bacteria resolved by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. J Dairy Sci 2019;102:2515–24. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-15424.
- [77] Movasaghi Z, Rehman S, Rehman DIU. Raman Spectroscopy of Biological Tissues. Appl Spectrosc Rev 2007;42:493–541. https://doi.org/10.1080/05704920701551530.
- [78] Wang L, Liu W, Tang J-W, Wang J-J, Liu Q-H, Wen P-B, et al. Applications of Raman Spectroscopy in Bacterial Infections: Principles, Advantages, and Shortcomings. Front Microbiol 2021;12:683580. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.683580.
- [79] Das RS, Agrawal YK. Raman spectroscopy: Recent advancements, techniques and applications. Vib Spectrosc 2011;57:163–76. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vibspec.2011.08.003.
- [80] Lister AP, Highmore CJ, Hanrahan N, Read J, Munro APS, Tan S, et al. Multi-Excitation Raman Spectroscopy for Label-Free, Strain-Level Characterization of Bacterial Pathogens in Artificial Sputum Media. Anal Chem 2022;94:669–77. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.1c02501.
- [81] Lister A, Avershina E, Ali J, Devitt G, Hanrahan N, Highmore C, et al. Multi-excitation Raman Spectroscopy Complements Whole Genome Sequencing for Rapid Detection of Bacterial Infection and Resistance in WHO Priority Pathogens. BioRxiv 2022. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.02.08.479540.
- [82] Dahms M, Eiserloh S, Rödel J, Makarewicz O, Bocklitz T, Popp J, et al. Raman Spectroscopic Differentiation of Streptococcus pneumoniae From Other Streptococci Using Laboratory Strains and Clinical Isolates. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022;12:930011. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2022.930011.
- [83] Dekter HE, Orelio CC, Morsink MC, Tektas S, Vis B, Te Witt R, et al. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing of Gram-positive and -negative bacterial isolates directly from spiked blood culture media with Raman spectroscopy. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis Off Publ Eur Soc Clin Microbiol 2017;36:81–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-016-2773-y.
- [84] Ho C-S, Jean N, Hogan CA, Blackmon L, Jeffrey SS, Holodniy M, et al. Rapid identification of pathogenic bacteria using Raman spectroscopy and deep learning. Nat Commun 2019;10:4927. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12898-9.
- [85] Kloß S, Rösch P, Pfister W, Kiehntopf M, Popp J. Toward culture-free Raman spectroscopic identification of pathogens in ascitic fluid. Anal Chem 2015;87:937–43. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac503373r.
- [86] Kriem LS, Wright K, Ccahuana-Vasquez RA, Rupp S. Confocal Raman microscopy to 68

identify bacteria in oral subgingival biofilm models. PLoS One 2020;15:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232912.

- [87] Lu J, Chen J, Liu C, Zeng Y, Sun Q, Li J, et al. Identification of antibiotic resistance and virulence-encoding factors in Klebsiella pneumoniae by Raman spectroscopy and deep learning. Microb Biotechnol 2022;15:1270–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.13960.
- [88] Rebrosova K, Samek O, Kizovsky M, Bernatova S, Hola V, Ruzicka F. Raman Spectroscopy-A Novel Method for Identification and Characterization of Microbes on a Single-Cell Level in Clinical Settings. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022;12:866463. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2022.866463.
- [89] Zhang Y, Ren L, Wang Q, Wen Z, Liu C, Ding Y. Raman Spectroscopy: A Potential Diagnostic Tool for Oral Diseases. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022;12:775236. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2022.775236.
- [90] Wilm J, Svennesen L, Østergaard Eriksen E, Halasa T, Krömker V. Veterinary Treatment Approach and Antibiotic Usage for Clinical Mastitis in Danish Dairy Herds. Antibiot (Basel, Switzerland) 2021;10. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10020189.
- [91] Vilar MJ, Rajala-Schultz PJ. Dry-off and dairy cow udder health and welfare: Effects of different milk cessation methods. Vet J 2020;262:105503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2020.105503.
- [92] Preine F, Herrera D, Scherpenzeel C, Kalmus P, McCoy F, Smulski S, et al. Different European Perspectives on the Treatment of Clinical Mastitis in Lactation. Antibiot (Basel, Switzerland) 2022;11. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11081107.
- [93] Preine, Franziska; Krömker V. Associations between udder health, udder health management and antimicrobial consumption: Insights into the mechanisms influencing antibiotic usage in German dairy farms. Milk Sci Int - Milchwiss 2022;75:7–15.
- [94] Jakobsen TH, Xu Y, Bay L, Schønheyder HC, Jakobsen T, Bjarnsholt T, et al. Sampling challenges in diagnosis of chronic bacterial infections. J Med Microbiol 2021;70. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.001302.
- [95] Jørgensen E, Bay L, Skovgaard LT, Bjarnsholt T, Jacobsen S. An Equine Wound Model to Study Effects of Bacterial Aggregates on Wound Healing. Adv Wound Care 2019;8:487– 98. https://doi.org/10.1089/wound.2018.0901.
- [96] Council NM. Laboratory Handbook on Bovine Mastitis. 1999.
- [97] Callahan BJ, McMurdie PJ, Rosen MJ, Han AW, Johnson AJA, Holmes SP. DADA2: Highresolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat Methods 2016;13:581–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869.

- [98] Prescott SC, Breed RS. The Determination of the Number of Body Cells in Milk by a Direct Method. Am J Public Hygiene 1910;20:663–4.
- [99] Fazli M, Bjarnsholt T, Høiby N, Givskov M, Tolker-Nielsen T. PNA-based fluorescence in situ hybridization for identification of bacteria in clinical samples. Methods Mol Biol 2014;1211:261–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-1459-3_21.
- [100] Bay L, Kragh KN, Eickhardt SR, Poulsen SS, Gjerdrum LMR, Ghathian K, et al. Bacterial Aggregates Establish at the Edges of Acute Epidermal Wounds. Adv Wound Care 2018;7:105–13. https://doi.org/10.1089/wound.2017.0770.
- [101] Shah MS, Qureshi S, Kashoo Z, Farooq S, Wani SA, Hussain MI, et al. Methicillin resistance genes and in vitro biofilm formation among Staphylococcus aureus isolates from bovine mastitis in India. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 2019;64:117–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cimid.2019.02.009.
- [102] Leach KA, Green MJ, Breen JE, Huxley JN, Macaulay R, Newton HT, et al. Use of domestic detergents in the California mastitis test for high somatic cell counts in milk. Vet Rec 2008;163:566–70. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.163.19.566.
- [103] Sargeant JM, Leslie KE, Shirley JE, Pulkrabek BJ, Lim GH. Sensitivity and Specificity of Somatic Cell Count and California Mastitis Test for Identifying Intramammary Infection in Early Lactation1. J Dairy Sci 2001;84:2018–24. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)74645-0.
- [104] Requena T, Velasco M. The human microbiome in sickness and in health. Rev Clin Esp 2021;221:233–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rceng.2019.07.018.
- [105] Lloyd-Price J, Abu-Ali G, Huttenhower C. The healthy human microbiome. Genome Med 2016;8:51. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-016-0307-y.
- [106] Petersen C, Round JL. Defining dysbiosis and its influence on host immunity and disease. Cell Microbiol 2014;16:1024–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/cmi.12308.
- [107] Bäckhed F, Fraser CM, Ringel Y, Sanders ME, Sartor RB, Sherman PM, et al. Defining a healthy human gut microbiome: current concepts, future directions, and clinical applications. Cell Host Microbe 2012;12:611–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2012.10.012.
- [108] Chen Z, Liu P, Li Z, Yu W, Wang Z, Yao H, et al. Identification of key genes involved in polysaccharide bioflocculant synthesis in Bacillus licheniformis. Biotechnol Bioeng 2017;114:645–55. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.26189.
- [109] Rossi BF, Bonsaglia ECR, Castilho IG, Dantas STA, Salina A, Langoni H, et al. Genotyping of long term persistent Staphylococcus aureus in bovine subclinical mastitis. Microb Pathog

2019;132:45-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2019.04.031.

- [110] Hoekstra J, Zomer AL, Rutten VPMG, Benedictus L, Stegeman A, Spaninks MP, et al. Genomic analysis of European bovine Staphylococcus aureus from clinical versus subclinical mastitis. Sci Rep 2020;10:18172. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-75179-2.
- [111] Oikonomou G, Machado VS, Santisteban C, Schukken YH, Bicalho RC. Microbial diversity of bovine mastitic milk as described by pyrosequencing of metagenomic 16s rDNA. PLoS One 2012;7:e47671. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047671.
- [112] Oikonomou G, Bicalho ML, Meira E, Rossi RE, Foditsch C, Machado VS, et al. Microbiota of cow's milk; distinguishing healthy, sub-clinically and clinically diseased quarters. PLoS One 2014;9:e85904. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085904.
- [113] Derakhshani H, Fehr KB, Sepehri S, Francoz D, De Buck J, Barkema HW, et al. Invited review: Microbiota of the bovine udder: Contributing factors and potential implications for udder health and mastitis susceptibility. J Dairy Sci 2018;101:10605–25. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-14860.
- [114] Wang Y, Nan X, Zhao Y, Wang H, Wang M, Jiang L, et al. Coupling 16S rDNA Sequencing and Untargeted Mass Spectrometry for Milk Microbial Composition and Metabolites from Dairy Cows with Clinical and Subclinical Mastitis. J Agric Food Chem 2020;68:8496–508. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.0c03738.
- [115] Gryaznova M V, Syromyatnikov MY, Dvoretskaya YD, Solodskikh SA, Klimov NT, Mikhalev VI, et al. Microbiota of Cow's Milk with Udder Pathologies. Microorganisms 2021;9. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9091974.
- [116] Metzger SA, Hernandez LL, Suen G, Ruegg PL. Understanding the Milk Microbiota. Vet Clin North Am - Food Anim Pract 2018;34:427–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2018.06.003.
- [117] Metzger SA, Hernandez LL, Skarlupka JH, Walker TM, Suen G, Ruegg PL. A Cohort Study of the Milk Microbiota of Healthy and Inflamed Bovine Mammary Glands From Dryoff Through 150 Days in Milk. Front Vet Sci 2018;5:247. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00247.
- [118] Melchior MB, Vaarkamp H, Fink-Gremmels J. Biofilms: A role in recurrent mastitis infections? Vet J 2006;171:398–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2005.01.006.
- [119] Gomes F, Saavedra MJ, Henriques M. Bovine mastitis disease/pathogenicity: evidence of the potential role of microbial biofilms. Pathog Dis 2016;74:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/femspd/ftw006.
- [120] Kolpen M, Jensen PØ, Faurholt-Jepsen D, Bjarnsholt T. Prevalence of biofilms in acute 71

infections challenges a longstanding paradigm. Biofilm 2022;4:100080. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioflm.2022.100080.

- [121] Kvich L, Burmølle M, Bjarnsholt T, Lichtenberg M. Do Mixed-Species Biofilms Dominate in Chronic Infections?-Need for in situ Visualization of Bacterial Organization. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2020;10:396. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2020.00396.
- [122] Nadler N, Kvich L, Bjarnsholt T, Jensen JB, Gögenur I, Azawi N. The discovery of bacterial biofilm in patients with muscle invasive bladder cancer. APMIS 2021;129:265–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/apm.13097.
- [123] Kirketerp-Møller K, Jensen PØ, Fazli M, Madsen KG, Pedersen J, Moser C, et al. Distribution, organization, and ecology of bacteria in chronic wounds. J Clin Microbiol 2008;46:2717–22. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00501-08.
- [124] Perry-O'Keefe H, Rigby S, Oliveira K, Sørensen D, Stender H, Coull J, et al. Identification of indicator microorganisms using a standardized PNA FISH method. J Microbiol Methods 2001;47:281–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-7012(01)00303-7.
- [125] Dhakal S, Chao K, Huang Q, Kim M, Schmidt W, Qin J, et al. A Simple Surface-Enhanced Raman Spectroscopic Method for on-Site Screening of Tetracycline Residue in Whole Milk. Sensors (Basel) 2018;18. https://doi.org/10.3390/s18020424.
- [126] Chen R, Wang H, Zhao Y, Nan X, Wei W, Du C, et al. Quantitative Detection of Mastitis Factor IL-6 in Dairy Cow Using the SERS Improved Immunofiltration Assay. Nanomaterials 2022;12. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano12071091.
- [127] Nirala NR, Shtenberg G. N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminidase biomarker quantification in milk using Ag-porous Si SERS platform for mastitis severity evaluation. Appl Surf Sci 2021;566:150700. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2021.150700.
- [128] He H, Sun D-W, Pu H, Chen L, Lin L. Applications of Raman spectroscopic techniques for quality and safety evaluation of milk: A review of recent developments. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2019;59:770–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2018.1528436.
- [129] Coates LC, Durham SD, Storms DH, Magnuson AD, Van Hekken DL, Plumier BM, et al. Associations among Milk Microbiota, Milk Fatty Acids, Milk Glycans, and Inflammation from Lactating Holstein Cows. Microbiol Spectr 2023:e0402022. https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.04020-22.
- [130] Freeman F+. Raman Spectra Databases n.d. https://fosterfreeman.com/raman-spectradatabases/.
- [131] Life R for. Raman Spectra Library n.d. https://ramanlife.com/raman-spectra-library/.
- [132] Lafuente B, Downs R T, Yang H SN. The power of databases: the RRUFF projec.72
Highlights Mineral Crystallogr 2015. https://rruff.info/.

[133] The Infrared and Raman Users Group. Spectral Databases for Raman n.d. http://www.irug.org/resources/spectral-databases-for-raman.

Manuscript I

Pedersen, R. R., Krömker, V., Bjarnsholt, T., Dahl-Pedersen, K., Buhl, R., & Jørgensen, E. **''Biofilm Research in Bovine Mastitis**."

Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 2021. In print.





Biofilm Research in Bovine Mastitis

Regitze Renee Pedersen¹, Volker Krömker², Thomas Bjarnsholt^{3,4}, Kirstin Dahl-Pedersen¹, Rikke Buhl¹ and Elin Jørgensen^{3*}

¹ Department of Veterinary Clinical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ² Department of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ³ Department Immunology and Microbiology, Costerton Biofilm Center, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁴ Department of Clinical Microbiology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark

Bovine mastitis is one of the most important diseases in the dairy industry and has detrimental impact on the economy and welfare of the animals. Further, treatment failure results in increased antibiotic use in the dairy industry, as some of these mastitis cases for unknown reasons are not resolved despite standard antibiotic treatment. Chronic biofilm infections are notoriously known to be difficult to eradicate with antibiotics and biofilm formation could be a possible explanation for mastitis cases that are not resolved by standard treatment. This paper reviews the current literature on biofilm in bovine mastitis research to evaluate the status and methods used in the literature. Focus of the current research has been on isolates from milk samples and investigation of their biofilm forming properties in vitro. However, in vitro observations of biofilm formation are not easily comparable with the in vivo situation inside the udder. Only two papers investigate the location and distribution of bacterial biofilms inside udders of dairy cows with mastitis. Based on the current knowledge, the role of biofilm in bovine mastitis is still unclear and more in vivo investigations are needed to uncover the actual role of biofilm formation in the pathogenesis of bovine mastitis.

University of Concepción, Chile

Reviewed by:

Edited by:

OPEN ACCESS

Alejandra Andrea Latorre,

Bharat Bhanderi, Anand Agricultural University, India Mohanned Naif Alhussien, Technical University of Munich, Germany

*Correspondence:

Elin Jørgensen elin.jorgensen@sund.ku.dk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Infectious Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 21 January 2021 Accepted: 09 April 2021 Published: 07 May 2021

Citation:

Pedersen RR, Krömker V, Bjarnsholt T, Dahl-Pedersen K, Buhl R and Jørgensen E (2021) Biofilm Research in Bovine Mastitis. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:656810. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2021.656810 Keywords: biofilm, bovine mastitis, chronic infections, antimicrobial resistance, antimicrobial therapy

INTRODUCTION

Bovine mastitis is an important disease in the dairy industry with severe consequences for the welfare of dairy cows and the economy of the industry (1). Antibiotic treatment of bovine mastitis account for the highest antibiotic use in the dairy industry (2).

Bovine mastitis is defined as inflammation of the mammary gland and is most commonly caused by bacterial infection (3). Bovine mastitis occurs in two different clinical manifestations; subclinical and clinical mastitis, and ranges from mild, moderate to severe cases. Subclinical mastitis can be diagnosed by tests, e.g., the somatic cell count in milk, however, no clinical signs are apparent (4). Clinical mastitis manifests with visible changes to the milk in the form of clots or flakes and clinical signs of infection and inflammation, such as fever, redness, pain, and swelling of udder and lymph nodes (4). Some cases of bovine mastitis resolve themselves and most cases resolve after standard antibiotic treatment (2), however, some cases can progress to a detrimental point where the cow is culled, and in severe cases, spontaneous death may even occur (1, 4).

The most common infectious agents of bovine mastitis are Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus agalactiae (2), Escherichia coli (5), and Streptococcus uberis (6). S. aureus is a common and challenging mastitis pathogen, as S. aureus has a high persistence rate (7, 8) and a low bacteriological cure rate in clinical mastitis cases (9). During bovine mastitis, bacteria potentially upregulate expression of virulence factors that can lead to higher resistance to phagocytosis (10)

1

and upregulation of genes that destruct host tissue and the ability of the host cells to capture iron, e.g., lactoferrin (11). The pathogens are adapted to infection of the tissue in the mammary gland by a broad variety of virulence factors, e.g., the propensity to invade and escape host cell defenses by hemolysins (12), adhesion to host cells and production of leukotoxins to destroy monocytes and polymorphonuclear cells (12). Further, some of the pathogens are low shedders (13) and some form biofilm (12). All resulting in pathogens capable of causing long-lasting infections.

Bovine mastitis is normally treated with antibiotics, however, in some cases, the antibiotics are not resolving the disease and the infection becomes chronic. Continued antibiotic treatment in these cases where antibiotics do not eradicate the microbial agents increases the risk of developing antibiotic resistance, which is one of the greatest threats to human and animal health (14).

Chronic and recurrent cases of bovine mastitis share similar characteristics with chronic biofilm infections observed in humans and other animals. Biofilm is defined as "a coherent cluster of bacterial cells imbedded in a biopolymer matrix, which, compared with planktonic cells, shows increased tolerance to antimicrobials and resists the antimicrobial properties of the host defense" (15), however the role of matrix is unclear *in vivo* (16). Biofilm is suggested to be the default mode of growth for bacteria (17). Antibiotic treatment of biofilm infections is often unsuccessful and thus the infections are difficult to eradicate (18, 19). Being part of a biofilm can provide protection for the bacteria against threats from the environment, including antibiotics and host defenses (20).

The role of biofilm in human infections has been an expanding research field since bacterial aggregates were observed in 1977 in the lungs of patients with cystic fibrosis (21), and since 1982 where the first report on a medical biofilm causing recurrent infection (bacteremia) was described (22). However, in veterinary medicine, few reports exist on biofilms' direct role in infections, as most literature focuses on *in vitro* characteristics of pathogenic bacteria/biofilms and not their role *in vivo*.

In human medicine, biofilms are known to contribute to a wide variety of infections and diseases including wound infections, implant related infections, lung infections, osteomyelitis, chronic otitis media, urinary tract infections, chronic sinusitis, dental plaque, endocarditis, etc. (23). Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm infection in cystic fibrosis patients is one of the most well-studied biofilm infections to date, and intense research has revealed both pathogenetic, diagnostic, and therapeutic breakthroughs, and has increased the life expectancy of these patients dramatically (24-26). Biofilms are found in the majority of human chronic wounds and are considered to play a consistent role in the pathogenesis of impaired wound healing (27-29). Major biofilm pathogens in chronic wounds are S. aureus, P. aeruginosa, and Enterobacteriaceae (27, 30, 31). Implant related infections are often also driven by biofilms that cause low grade, difficult to detect infections with delayed onset (32, 33). Biofilm infections are thus important and are estimated to account for 550,000 deaths and 17 million infections yearly in the USA (34).

Understanding the role of biofilm in bovine mastitis will potentially unlock new treatment options and avoid unnecessary antibiotic treatment. If thereby being able to cure these chronic and recurrent bovine mastitis cases, the economy of the dairy industry, as well as animal welfare will improve and use of antibiotics will decrease.

In this paper, we review the literature on the development of bovine mastitis biofilm research with focus on the last two decades. In addition, we review the methods applied in published research and propose new methods for future research of biofilms' role in bovine mastitis.

DEVELOPMENT OF RESEARCH OF BOVINE MASTITIS

The first studies investigating biofilm forming abilities of bovine mastitis pathogens emerged in the early 1990s. In 1993, "slime production" (exopolysaccharide matrix) was observed in bovine coagulase-negative staphylococci (CNS) strains. This slime production was observed in vitro by using the tube method together with Congo Red Agar plates and suggested that the slime-production functioned as a virulence factor (35). Later, strains of S. aureus isolated from bovine mastitis cases were found to bind to milk fat globules. This suggested that the bacteria were in a biofilm mode of growth in vitro (36). During the first decade of 2000, most papers concentrated on investigating the in vitro biofilm forming abilities of S. aureus and Staphylococcus epidermidis isolates from bovine mastitis cases (37-39), the genes that were associated with biofilm formation (39-41), the susceptibility to antimicrobial agents (42), and potential treatment options against biofilm infections (43-45).

After 2010, the research of biofilm in bovine mastitis accelerated, and during the last decade, over 170 studies have been published. The focus of the research is still the *in vitro* biofilm forming abilities of bovine mastitis pathogens but also investigations of antibiotic resistance, molecular investigations of biofilm related genes, and the search for potential treatments and vaccines; the majority of these paper have focused on *S. aureus*. In only two *in vivo* studies, bacterial biofilms have been directly identified in bovine udders with mastitis (46, 47).

BIOFILM METHODS APPLIED TO THE RESEARCH OF BIOFILM IN BOVINE MASTITIS

Methods Used for Investigation of Biofilm Forming Abilities of Bovine Mastitis Pathogens

The biofilm forming abilities of bovine mastitis pathogens *in vitro* have been investigated by multiple traditional biofilm methods. Most studies have focused on bacterial isolates from milk samples of bovine mastitis cases and the main focus has been on *S. aureus*, a well-known *in vitro* biofilm producer (48) and one of the most common pathogens in chronic bovine mastitis (49). The majority of the studies, i.e., more than 140 papers, have been using microtiter plates with crystal violet staining for

quantification of the bacterial biomass. When using this biofilm assay, the bacteria are grown in polystyrene microtiter plates. The wells are emptied and washed at different time points, whereby the remaining biofilm biomass can be stained and quantified with crystal violet (50, 51). The crystal violet stain is used to quantify the total biomass in these system, as the stain binds to negatively charged molecules, which means to both the bacteria and exopolysaccharides (50). S. aureus is the most common species investigated using the microtiter assay in biofilm and bovine mastitis research to investigate its ability to form biofilm in vitro. Multiple studies found that majorities of S. aureus isolates from bovine mastitis cases can form biofilm in vitro by this assay (52-54). Applying the same method, 20-30% of S. agalactiae mastitis isolates also showed biofilm forming abilities in vitro when cultivated in different atmospheric conditions and growth media (55-57). This assay was also used to investigate the biofilm forming abilities of 53 mastitis isolates of Klebsiella spp. and 17 Pseudomonas aeruginosa mastitis isolates, all isolates were able to form biofilm (58, 59).

Although not as common as the crystal violet assay, several studies use the Congo Red Agar (CRA) test. The CRA method was developed by Freeman et al. (60) in 1989 for "detecting the production of slime by coagulase-negative staphylococci." The "slime-forming" strains are black and the strains not capable of forming slime appear red on the agar (60). The CRA test is a qualitative method to estimate whether staphylococci isolates are able to produce biofilm *in vitro* and is often followed by a quantitative assay—such as the tube method or the microtiter assay. Half of *S. aureus* isolates from dairy cows with subclinical mastitis were able to produce biofilm by the CRA method (61, 62).

In the standard tube method, bacteria are cultivated in culture tubes, washed and then stained with crystal violet, safranine, or other stains. Biofilm production is observed by color on the sides and bottom of the tube (63). When the biofilm forming ability of *S. aureus* isolates from bovine mastitis cases was investigated by the tube method using safranine stain, 25–70% of the isolates were able to form biofilm (61, 64, 65).

Using yet another staining method, \sim 85% of CNS isolates from mastitis milk samples were able to form biofilm when their biofilm forming ability was investigated by the microtiter assay and stained using the LIVE/DEAD technique with subsequent confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) to study the composition of the matrix (66). Confocal laser scanning microscopy is widely used in the visualization of medical biofilm, as some of the advantages of this technique are the possibility to visualize 3D and spatial structures of biofilms (51). Furthermore, it is possible to quantify volume and other parameters of the biofilm and to apply different fluorescent probes (51).

Quantitative and qualitative assays for investigating the biofilm forming abilities of bovine mastitis pathogens *in vitro* are inexpensive, fairly simple and fast. In the last years, microscope techniques have become more accessible and would facilitate more detailed investigations of the biofilm phenotype and interactions between antimicrobial compounds and biofilms.

Investigations of Antimicrobial Compounds Against Biofilm Forming Mastitis Pathogens

Different antimicrobial compounds and antibiotics have been tested on bovine mastitis isolates' ability to form biofilm. The biofilm forming ability of E. coli in the presence of different antibiotics was investigated using CLSM and revealed increased adhesion of the isolates (67) and a greater biofilm formation of E. coli bovine mastitis isolates in the presence of enrofloxacin (68). When grown as biofilms, S. aureus bovine mastitis isolates are highly resistant to antimicrobial agents (42). The antibacterial use of the traditional medicinal plant Plectranthus ornatus (spur flowers) used in Brazil for treatment of skin infections was investigated for its anti-biofilm properties by using the plant as a herbal soap on gloves contaminated with S. aureus from dairy cows with bovine mastitis. There was no microbial growth after the gloves were submerged in the herbal soap and when the biofilm inhibitory concentration by microtiter plates and crystal violet staining was investigated, the plant was able to inhibit biofilm formation (69). Anti-biofilm agents against S. aureus have also been investigated in vivo. Ethanolic extracts from the leaves of Rhodomyrtus tomentosa (rose myrtle) were investigated as a possible antimicrobial agent against biofilm producing S. aureus in combination with the antibiotic pirlimycin. When extracts were used alone, there was no significant reduction in the bacterial load in a murine mastitis model. In combination with the antibiotic, a significant antibacterial effect was observed, but there was no significant difference between the antibiotic used alone compared with the combination of antibiotics and extract (70). The possible inhibitory effect of the Argentinian medicinal plant Minthostachys verticillata was tested on Escherichia coli, Bacillus pumilus, and Enterococcus faecium isolated from mastitis milk. The essential oil of the plant had inhibitory effect on the production of biofilm of all isolates in 96 well-microtiter plates (71). The naturally occurring signaling molecule of bacteria, cyclic dinucleotide 3',5'-cyclic diguanylic acid (c-di-GMP), has been investigated to inhibit biofilm formation of S. aureus, and a decrease in the colonization of the pathogen in the mammary glands was shown in a murine mastitis model (44). The alternative drug, 1-hydroxyanthraquinone, was found to have a significant inhibitory action against Staphylococcus xylosus in vitro as well as a reduction in inflammation in the mammary glands of murine models (72).

Biofilm-Associated Genes in Bovine Mastitis Pathogens

The molecular identification of pathogens is another direction in the research of biofilm in bovine mastitis and several studies have investigated different biofilm-associated genes of bovine mastitis isolates. The intercellular gene cluster adhesion operon (*ica*) is one of the genes that has been investigated for its role in biofilm formation and has been found in 40% of *S. aureus* isolates from bovine mastitis by analyzing their biofilm forming abilities within the microtiter assay and then sequencing the isolates (73). However, whether the isolates carrying the *ica* genes actually produce biofilm *in vitro*, depends on the biofilm assay. Some

studies found that even if the isolates carried the *ica* genes, not all of the isolates produced biofilm in the microtiter plate (74) and that some isolates would form black colonies (indicating slimeformation) when grown on CRA plates but not necessarily form biofilm in the microtiter assay (41). Biofilm-associated proteins (bap) has been researched by several bovine mastitis studies and S. aureus isolates have been investigated for the presence of bap genes and their biofilm forming ability (40). A study found that over 90% of isolates carried *icaADBC* genes and of these 25% carried the bap genes. When the isolates were positive for both *icaADBC* and *bap*, they were strong biofilm producers *in* vitro, however, when only positive for *icaADBC*, they produced less biofilm. The role of bap was investigated by constructing a mutant only positive for *bap* and found that the mutant had the same biofilm forming capacity as the wild type (40). However, in other studies, the bap gene was not found at all in S. aureus isolates from bovine mastitis cases (39, 74).

OTHER TOPICS ADDRESSED IN THE RESEARCH OF BIOFILM IN BOVINE MASTITIS

Multispecies Biofilm

The research of bovine mastitis and biofilm often focuses on one specific pathogen and its ability to form biofilm in vitro. When only single species are investigated, there is a risk of overseeing keystone species (75) or possible interactions between commensals and pathogens or amongst pathogens, which might be important in the understanding of biofilms' role in bovine mastitis. However, the majority of studies investigating the role of biofilm in bovine mastitis focuses solely on S. aureus. In the environment, there is often more than one bacterial strain present and multispecies biofilms are commonly observed (76). Bovine mastitis infections can have multiple bacterial agents (9) and it is also important to consider the possible role of commensal bacteria in udders. Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are commonly isolated from the teat canals and milk of dairy cows (77). Wallis et al. investigated the effect of growing two probiotic LAB strains together with a challenge between biofilm of probiotic LAB and S. aureus biofilm. They observed that when two LAB strains were co-cultured with S. aureus, it resulted in no growth of S. aureus, suggesting the beneficial use of probiotic bacteria against pathogenic biofilms in bovine mastitis (78). The presence of specific bacteria can either promote or decrease growth of other bacteria (79, 80) and the competition between these bacteria can cause damage to the surrounding environment or tissue (81). Immune responses toward bacteria and biofilm may similarly cause collateral damage to the surrounding tissue (82). Therefore, it is important to consider possible interactions between other bacteria and bovine mastitis pathogens as well as between pathogens and the immune response.

Potential Vaccines Against Biofilm Forming Mastitis Pathogens

Two mastitis vaccine candidates against *S. uberis* have shown a significant reduction in the mortality of mice infected with

the pathogen (83). Different candidates for a S. aureus vaccine is currently being investigated; in one study, live-attenuated small-colony variants have shown promising results compared to inactivated bacteria in murine models (84). However, in another study, a formalin-killed whole-cell vaccine candidate of S. aureus biofilm showed a significant reduction in the colonization of S. aureus in the udder in vaccinated mice compared to mice vaccinated with a vaccine candidate from planktonic S. aureus (85). A killed bacterin vaccine candidate against S. aureus was tested in primiparous gestating cows. There were no observations of any prevention of intramammary infection by S. aureus but a reduced multiplication of S. aureus in the mammary glands was observed (86). S. aureus' protein A has also been investigated as a possible vaccine target and a vaccine candidate has shown a significant reduction in bacterial load of the mammary glands of pregnant mice. However, the immunized mice were not protected when they subsequently were infected with biofilm producing encapsulated S. aureus (87). Currently, two mastitis vaccines are available on the market against S. aureus and S. uberis from the company HIPRA (Amer, Spain).

In vivo Investigations of Biofilm in Bovine Mastitis

Most of the so-called in vivo investigations of biofilm in bovine mastitis have used experimental models (mice and sheep), and the majority of these studies focused on anti-biofilm treatment or vaccines against biofilm udder infections (Table 1) (44, 69, 70, 72, 83-85). Only a few studies investigated and confirmed biofilm in vivo within udder tissue of dairy cows with bovine mastitis. Two studies directly detected biofilm inside udders of dairy cows with mastitis. Clustering of S. aureus bacteria in udders of dairy cows with bovine mastitis were observed by microscopy to be located in the lumen of the alveoli and lactiferous ducts of the udders of experimentally infected dairy cows (47). In another study, the presence of biofilm was investigated directly in the udders of dairy cows by collecting swabs from the udders of slaughtered dairy cows with S. aureus infection. Swabs were obtained from the teat cistern, gland cistern, and parenchyma and were subsequently stained using immunofluorescence staining of polysaccharide intercellular adhesions (PIA), which is a component of the S. aureus biofilm matrix. The samples were investigated by fluorescence microscopy and PIA was found in 71 out of 184 swabs (46).

The Bovine Mammary Immune Response to Biofilm Infection

The response to infections is crucial for the survival of mammals. The response mechanisms to bacterial and viral infections are widely investigated, however much less is known about the immune response toward biofilm. As per definition, host immune responses are tolerated by biofilms, and no specific anti-biofilm immune responses have been identified (82).

The protection against infectious agents in the bovine mammary gland has been recently reviewed by Sordillo (93). As for biofilm infections in general, the mammary gland response toward bacterial biofilms is not fully understood yet, and as

References	Year	Sample type	Focus of study	Pathogen	Experimental animal
Cucarella et al. (88)	2001	Bovine subclinical mastitis and human isolates	Molecular basis of biofilm	S. aureus	Mice
Brouillette et al. (44)	2005	Clinical bovine mastitis isolates	Antibacterial treatment	S. aureus	Mice
Gogoi-Tiwari et al. (85)	2015	Bovine mastitis isolates	Vaccine	S. aureus	Mice
Collado et al. (83)	2016	Clinical bovine mastitis isolates	Vaccine	S. uberis	Mice
Gogoi-Tiwari et al. (87)	2016	Bovine mastitis isolates	Vaccine	S. aureus	Mice
Mordmuang et al. (70)	2019	Bovine mastitis isolates	Antibacterial treatment	S. aureus	Mice
Montironi et al. (89)	2019	Subclinical bovine mastitis isolates, milk samples	Investigation of phenotype, genotype and virulence	Enterococcus faecium	Mice
Côté-Gravel et al. (84)	2019	Bovine mastitis isolates	Vaccine	S. aureus	Mice
Marbach et al. (90)	2019	Subclinical bovine mastitis isolates, milk samples	Interactions between host and bacteria	S. aureus	Mice
Wang et al. (72)	2020	Isolates (Purchased strains)	Antibacterial treatment	S. xylosus	Mice
Prenafeta et al. (86)	2010	Ruminant mastitis isolates	Vaccine	S. aureus	Heifers, cows
Savijoki et al. (91)	2014	Bovine mastitis isolates	Genomics and proteomics	S. epidermidis	Cows
Seroussi et al. (92)	2018	Bovine mastitis isolates	Antibacterial treatment	E. coli, S. aureus	Cows
Cucarella et al. (40)	2004	Bovine subclinical mastitis isolates	Molecular basis of biofilm	S. aureus	Sheep

TABLE 1 | Studies investigating biofilm forming bovine mastitis pathogens in animal models or the effect of possible antibacterial agents and vaccines in animal models.

described above very few in vivo investigations of mammary biofilm infections exist. Some studies have investigated the response of mammary cells to biofilm-producing strains of known mastitis-causing pathogens in vitro. The ability of S. aureus biofilm forming strains to adhere and invade the mammary cells is especially investigated. A study found that S. aureus biofilm showed lower invasion ability into mammary epithelial cells compared to planktonic S. aureus cultures and that the biofilm culture induced less cellular activation than the planktonic cultures. Both planktonic culture and S. aureus biofilm culture induced expression of interleukin 6 by mammary alveolar cells, which could be an anti-inflammatory response (94). This corresponds well to human research of biofilm infections and immune response, where biofilms do not trigger any specific immune responses (82) and downregulates specific virulence genes when the cell density is low to "fly under the radar" so the immune system does not detect the bacteria. Whenever the cell density is high enough, the bacteria can upregulate the virulence factors (95). However, other in vitro studies found no difference in the ability to invade host cells by non-biofilm producing mastitis strains compared to biofilm producing mastitis strains (96, 97). The role of the Bap protein expressed by S. aureus has been investigated in a lactating mouse model, where the surface protein Bap, involved in biofilm matrix, adhered to epithelial cells and bound to host receptor Gp96. The bacteria expressing the surface protein Bap did not invade the cells and had increased persistence in the mammary glands of the lactating mice, indicating that the protein promotes adhesion to the cells and limits invasion of the host cells (98).

The main question still not resolved is how the biofilms go undetected and survive the immune response (99) and more

research is needed to answer that question both for mastitis and for all other biofilm infections. The current research is based on *in vitro* experiments and as discussed earlier in this review, more *in vivo* research is needed to fully understand the role of biofilm in mastitis.

DISCUSSION

The role of biofilm in the pathogenesis of bovine mastitis infection is still unclear. To the authors' best knowledge, only two papers investigate and detect the presence of biofilms inside udders from dairy cows with mastitis (46, 47). Plenty of in vitro studies investigate the biofilm forming abilities of mastitis pathogens isolated from milk samples. Similar to swabs and wound fluid samples, analyzing milk samples is a great, easy and quick way to investigate and culture the bacteria present in the samples and to determine, e.g., the genetic composition and antibiotic susceptibility. However, disadvantages are the risk of contamination from the environment and that it is only possible to detect bacteria present in or released into the milk, however bacteria embedded in the tissue, encapsulated bacteria, lowshedding bacteria, and potential biofilms might not be detectable in milk samples (100). Even if bacteria are isolated from milk samples and are able to form biofilm in vitro, this does not provide any information on the bacteria's phenotype in vivo in the infected udder. In vitro biofilms of P. aeruginosa have a markedly different genetic expression profile than in vivo biofilms during human infections (101). This is due to, e.g., the environment in the host tissue, interactions with the immune system, and antibiotic treatment that are impossible to fully mimic in vitro. Further, major physical differences exist between in vitro and *in vivo* biofilms; for example, *in vitro* biofilms normally form large mushroom-shaped structures, which are never observed *in vivo*, where the biofilms are markedly smaller in size (16).

Hence to find the actual role of biofilm in bovine mastitis, the approach needs to change from in vitro to in vivo investigations of biofilms in infected udders. When diagnosing biofilm infections in human medicine, the gold standard is to directly visualize the biofilms and concurrent immune response in the tissue. This can be done with, e.g., CLSM or scanning electron microscopy (15, 18, 102). Sample collection for biofilm diagnosis naturally varies for different diseases/tissue, e.g., from cystic fibrosis patients, expectorated sputum samples, bronchoalveolar lavage, or biopsies from removed lung tissues during lung transplantation can be collected (18, 102), and from chronic wounds, biopsies or debrided tissue can be investigated (103). Especially in wound infections, the spatial distribution of different bacterial biofilms within the tissue can be observed using microscopic examination; this method has further found the pathogen P. aeruginosa to be underestimated when performing culture of standard wound swabs (104, 105). A good technique to detect bacterial biofilms in tissue is peptide nucleic acid fluorescence in situ hybridization (PNA-FISH), with probes that hybridize to bacterial ribosomal RNA, which can subsequently be detected using CLSM. This is a sensitive method that is well-established in the research of biofilm infections in humans (102, 104, 106-108). This method would be applicable to udder tissue samples as well.

If biofilms are found present in mastitis udders, e.g., by use of the methods just described, the next question is whether the biofilms are part of the pathogenesis of bovine mastitis? Therefore, the immune response to the biofilms is also important to investigate. The cytological cure of mastitis is delayed compared to the bacteriological cure, meaning that when the infection appears cleared, the inflammation can continue in the udder (9). The cytological cure rate can be as low as around 20% and therefore it should be considered that chronic mastitis cases could be due to long-lasting inflammation, potentially driven by biofilms, after the apparent bacterial cure (9). The treatment of especially S. aureus mastitis cases is difficult, and therefore the connection between these cases and S. aureus biofilm presence and many virulence factors that are upregulated during mastitis infections should be further investigated (10, 11). We propose that udder cell and tissue models could potentially be applied to investigate how biofilms affect bovine udder tissue, however, studies of natural or experimentally induced mastitis will provide more information as a competent immune system would respond to the infection.

Collecting udder tissue biopsies from live dairy cows with mastitis for microscopy is difficult, if not impossible. However, biopsies can easily be obtained after euthanasia and by applying relevant staining and microscopy techniques, a more accurate view of biofilms' potential location and distribution as well as the related host immune response during mastitis can be revealed. Only a few papers provide information on biofilms' presence in udders from dairy cows with mastitis (46, 47) and more research is needed to elucidate biofilms' role in mastitis pathogenesis. Therefore, the collection of biopsies from euthanized animals might not have any direct clinical relevance, as the animals would be dead, but has important scientific relevance to better understand the disease and relate this to findings in milk samples. If biofilms play a role in bovine mastitis, diagnostic methods to detect biofilm in milk samples could be a possible way to easily diagnose the biofilms. However, for now, no such biofilm marker, specific biofilm product, or specific biofilm immune response have been identified that would be usable for quick and simple biofilm diagnostics neither in human or veterinary medicine. This is naturally the topic and aim of many human research groups' intense work, as biofilm infections play an important part of many human infections, and whenever found this would hopefully also be applicable to milk samples from bovine mastitis. By understanding the bacteria and biofilms including their interactions with the host immune system during mastitis infections, potentially new possible diagnostic methods could be developed as well as new optimized treatment options.

CONCLUSIONS

Bovine mastitis is one of the most important diseases in the dairy industry and a better understanding of the role of biofilm in the disease is of high importance to achieve more successful treatments. Chronic biofilm infections are recognized as serious and difficult-to-treat diseases in human medicine. The majority of the research on biofilm and bovine mastitis has so far focused on in vitro studies; however, to uncover the presence of biofilm in udders of dairy cows suffering from mastitis, direct methods need to be applied. Some of the methods used in the diagnosis and research of biofilms in human infections could be applied to the research of biofilm in bovine mastitis. There is a need for in vivo research where the location and distribution of biofilms are investigated directly in the udder of dairy cows with mastitis and where these findings are related to findings in milk samples. The continuous unsuccessful antibiotic treatment of potential biofilm mastitis infections can increase the risk of antibiotic resistance, which is one of the biggest threats to human and animal health. The role of biofilm infections in bovine mastitis therefore seems a key to unlock the required knowledge to develop new diagnostic methods and treat the persistent and chronic cases of bovine mastitis.

METHODS

This review has included studies that examine biofilm in relation to mastitis in dairy cows. We have included studies investigating biofilm abilities, molecular properties, treatment options, prevention and interactions of bovine mastitis related pathogens. Studies published since 2000 were included. Reviews and manuscripts in other languages than English have not been included in this review.

The literature search was carried out using the database Pubmed on October 1st 2020 with the search words "bovine mastitis + biofilm." Over 170 papers investigated the role of biofilm in bovine mastitis by *in vitro* methods and 16 papers used *in vivo* methods.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RP: original draft preparation, methodology, and writing. EJ: writing, editing, and supervision. VK, TB, KD-P, and RB: editing and supervision. All authors have read the manuscript and agreed to the published version.

REFERENCES

- Viguier C, Arora S, Gilmartin N, Welbeck K, O'Kennedy R. Mastitis detection: current trends and future perspectives. *Trends Biotechnol.* (2009) 27:486–93. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2009.05.004
- Ruegg PL. A 100-year review: mastitis detection, management, and prevention. J Dairy Sci. (2017) 100:10381–97. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13023
- Bradley A. Bovine mastitis: an evolving disease. Vet J. (2002) 164:116–28. doi: 10.1053/tvjl.2002.0724
- Adkins PRF, Middleton JR. Methods for diagnosing mastitis. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract. (2018) 34:479–91. doi: 10.1016/j.cvfa.2018.07.003
- Suojala L, Kaartinen L, Pyörälä S. Treatment for bovine *Escherichia coli* mastitis - an evidence-based approach. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther*. (2013) 36:521– 31. doi: 10.1111/jvp.12057
- Oliver SP, Almeida RA, Gillespie BE, Headrick SJ, Dowlen HH, Johnson DL, et al. Extended ceftiofur therapy for treatment of experimentally-induced *Streptococcus uberis* mastitis in lactating dairy cattle. *J Dairy Sci.* (2004) 87:3322–9. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73468-2
- Wente N, Grieger AS, Klocke D, Paduch J-H, Zhang Y, Leimbach S, et al. Recurrent mastitis-persistent or new infections? *Vet Microbiol.* (2020) 244:108682. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108682
- Lundberg Å, Nyman A-K, Aspán A, Börjesson S, Unnerstad HE, Waller KP. Udder infections with *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Streptococcus dysgalactiae*, and *Streptococcus uberis* at calving in dairy herds with suboptimal udder health. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:2102–17. doi: 10.3168/jds.2015-9487
- Schmenger A, Krömker V. Characterization, cure rates and associated risks of clinical mastitis in Northern Germany. *Vet Sci.* (2020) 7:170. doi: 10.3390/vetsci7040170
- Zecconi A, Cesaris L, Liandris E, Daprà V, Piccinini R. Role of several *Staphylococcus aureus* virulence factors on the inflammatory response in bovine mammary gland. *Microb Pathog.* (2006) 40:177–83. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2006.01.001
- Oogai Y, Matsuo M, Hashimoto M, Kato F, Sugai M, Komatsuzawa H. Expression of virulence factors by *Staphylococcus aureus* grown in serum. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2011) 77:8097–105. doi: 10.1128/AEM.05316-11
- Pérez VKC, Custódio DAC, Silva EMM, de Oliveira J, Guimarães AS, Brito MAVP, et al. Virulence factors and antimicrobial resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from bovine mastitis in Brazil. *Braz J Microbiol*. (2020) 51:2111–22. doi: 10.1007/s42770-020-00363-5
- Hamel J, Zhang Y, Wente N, Krömker V. Non-S. aureus staphylococci (NAS) in milk samples: Infection or contamination? Vet Microbiol. (2020) 242:108594. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108594
- Dhingra S, Rahman NAA, Peile E, Rahman M, Sartelli M, Hassali MA, et al. Microbial resistance movements: an overview of global public health threats posed by antimicrobial resistance, and how best to counter. *Front Public Health.* (2020) 8:535668. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.535668
- Burmølle M, Thomsen TR, Fazli M, Dige I, Christensen L, Homøe P, et al. Biofilms in chronic infections - A matter of opportunity - Monospecies biofilms in multispecies infections. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol.* (2010) 59:324–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-695X.2010.00714.x
- Bjarnsholt T, Alhede M, Alhede M, Eickhardt-Sørensen SR, Moser C, Kühl M, et al. The *in vivo* biofilm. *Trends Microbiol*. (2013) 21:466–74. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2013.06.002

FUNDING

This research was funded by the Danish Veterinary and Food Administration.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Ida Thaarup for ideas and comments to the manuscript.

- Flemming HC, Wingender J, Szewzyk U, Steinberg P, Rice SA, Kjelleberg S. Biofilms: an emergent form of bacterial life. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2016) 14:563–75. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.94
- Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Bassi GL, Coenye T, Donelli G, et al. ESCMID guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of biofilm infections 2014. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2015) 21:S1–S25. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2014.10.024
- Høiby N, Ciofu O, Johansen HK, Song ZJ, Moser C, Jensen PØ, et al. The clinical impact of bacterial biofilms. *Int J Oral Sci.* (2011) 3:55–65. doi: 10.4248/IJOS11026
- Hall-Stoodley L, Costerton JW, Stoodley P. Bacterial biofilms: from the natural environment to infectious diseases. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2004) 2:95– 108. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro821
- Hoiby N. Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in cystic fibrosis. Diagnostic and prognostic significance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa precipitins determined by means of crossed immunoelectrophoresis. A survey. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand Suppl. (1977) 58:1–96.
- Marrie TJ, Nelligan J, Costerton JW. A scanning and transmission electron microscopic study of an infected endocardial pacemaker lead. *Circulation*. (1982) 66:1339–41. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.66.6.1339
- Lebeaux D, Ghigo J-M. Management of biofilm-associated infections: what can we expect from recent research on biofilm lifestyles? *Med Sci (Paris)*. (2012) 28:727–39. doi: 10.1051/medsci/2012288015
- Bhagirath AY, Li Y, Somayajula D, Dadashi M, Badr S, Duan K. Cystic fibrosis lung environment and Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection. *BMC Pulm Med.* (2016) 16:174. doi: 10.1186/s12890-016-0339-5
- Bjarnsholt T. The role of bacterial biofilms in chronic infections. APMIS Suppl. (2013) 136:1–51. doi: 10.1111/apm.12099
- Stephenson AL, Tom M, Berthiaume Y, Singer LG, Aaron SD, Whitmore GA, et al. A contemporary survival analysis of individuals with cystic fibrosis: a cohort study. *Eur Respir J.* (2015) 45:670–9. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00119714
- Bjarnsholt T, Kirketerp-Møller K, Jensen PØ, Madsen KG, Phipps R, Krogfelt K, et al. Why chronic wounds will not heal: a novel hypothesis. *Wound repair*. (2008) 16:2–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-475X.2007.00283.x
- Malone M, Bjarnsholt T, McBain AJ, James GA, Stoodley P, Leaper D, et al. The prevalence of biofilms in chronic wounds: a systematic review and meta-analysis of published data. *J Wound Care.* (2017) 26:20–5. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2017.26.1.20
- James GA, Swogger E, Wolcott R, Pulcini E deLancey, Secor P, Sestrich J, et al. Biofilms in chronic wounds. Wound repair. (2008) 16:37–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-475X.2007.00321.x
- Gjødsbøl K, Christensen JJ, Karlsmark T, Jørgensen B, Klein BM, Krogfelt KA. Multiple bacterial species reside in chronic wounds: a longitudinal study. *Int Wound J.* (2006) 3:225–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-481X.2006.00159.x
- Wolcott RD, Hanson JD, Rees EJ, Koenig LD, Phillips CD, Wolcott RA, et al. Analysis of the chronic wound microbiota of 2,963 patients by 16S rDNA pyrosequencing. *Wound Repair*. (2016) 24:163–74. doi: 10.1111/wrr. 12370
- Trampuz A, Zimmerli W. Diagnosis and treatment of implant-associated septic arthritis and osteomyelitis. *Curr Infect Dis Rep.* (2008) 10:394–403. doi: 10.1007/s11908-008-0064-1
- Jakobsen TH, Eickhardt SR, Gheorghe AG, Stenqvist C, Sønderholm M, Stavnsberg C, et al. Implants induce a new niche for microbiomes. *APMIS*. (2018) 126:685–92. doi: 10.1111/apm.12862

- Wolcott RD, Rhoads DD, Bennett ME, Wolcott BM, Gogokhia L, Costerton JW, et al. Chronic wounds and the medical biofilm paradigm. J Wound Care. (2010) 19:45–6, 48–50, 52–53. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2010.19.2.46966
- Baselga R, Albizu I, De La Cruz M, Del Cacho E, Barberan M, Amorena B. Phase variation of slime production in *Staphylococcus aureus*: implications in colonization and virulence. *Infect Immun.* (1993) 61:4857– 62. doi: 10.1128/IAI.61.11.4857-4862.1993
- Ali-Vehmas T, Westphalen P, Myllys V, Sandholm M. Binding of *Staphylococcus aureus* to milk fat globules increases resistance to penicillin-G. J Dairy Res. (1997) 64:253–60. doi: 10.1017/S0022029996002026
- Fox LK, Zadoks RN, Gaskins CT. Biofilm production by Staphylococcus aureus associated with intramammary infection. Vet Microbiol. (2005) 107:295–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2005.02.005
- Oliveira M, Nunes SF, Carneiro C, Bexiga R, Bernardo F, Vilela CL. Time course of biofilm formation by *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Staphylococcus epidermidis* mastitis isolates. *Vet Microbiol.* (2007) 124:187– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2007.04.016
- Melchior MB, van Osch MHJ, Graat RM, van Duijkeren E, Mevius DJ, Nielen M, et al. Biofilm formation and genotyping of *Staphylococcus aureus* bovine mastitis isolates: evidence for lack of penicillin-resistance in Agr-type II strains. *Vet Microbiol.* (2009) 137:83–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2008.12.004
- Cucarella C, Tormo MA, Ubeda C, Trotonda MP, Monzón M, Peris C, et al. Role of biofilm-associated protein bap in the pathogenesis of bovine *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Infect Immun.* (2004) 72:2177–85. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.4.2177-2185.2004
- Vasudevan P, Nair MKM, Annamalai T, Venkitanarayanan KS. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of bovine mastitis isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus* for biofilm formation. *Vet Microbiol.* (2003) 92:179–85. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1135(02)00360-7
- 42. Melchior MB, Vaarkamp H, Fink-Gremmels J. Biofilms: a role in recurrent mastitis infections? *Vet J.* (2006) 171:398–407. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2005.01.006
- Arrizubieta MJ, Toledo-Arana A, Amorena B, Penadés JR, Lasa I. Calcium inhibits bap-dependent multicellular behavior in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Bacteriol. (2004) 186:7490–8. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.22.7490-7498.2004
- 44. Brouillette E, Hyodo M, Hayakawa Y, Karaolis DKR, Malouin F. 3',5'-cyclic diguanylic acid reduces the virulence of biofilm-forming *Staphylococcus aureus* strains in a mouse model of mastitis infection. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother.* (2005) 49:3109–13. doi: 10.1128/AAC.49.8.3109-3113.2005
- Karaolis DKR, Rashid MH, Chythanya R, Luo W, Hyodo M, Hayakawa Y. cdi-GMP (3'-5'-cyclic diguanylic acid) inhibits *Staphylococcus aureus* cell-cell interactions and biofilm formation. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2005) 49:1029–38. doi: 10.1128/AAC.49.3.1029-1038.2005
- Schönborn S, Krömker V. Detection of the biofilm component polysaccharide intercellular adhesin in Staphylococcus aureus infected cow udders. Vet Microbiol. (2016) 196:126–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.10.023
- Hensen SM, Pavičić MJAMP, Lohuis JACM, De Hoog JAM, Poutrel B. Location of *Staphylococcus aureus* within the experimentally infected Bovine Udder and the expression of capsular polysaccharide type 5 *in situ. J Dairy Sci.* (2000) 83:1966–75. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(00)75073-9
- Moormeier DE, Bayles KW. Staphylococcus aureus biofilm: a complex developmental organism. Mol Microbiol. (2017) 104:365–76. doi: 10.1111/mmi.13634
- Rossi BF, Bonsaglia ECR, Castilho IG, Dantas STA, Salina A, Langoni H, et al. Genotyping of long term persistent *Staphylococcus aureus* in bovine subclinical mastitis. *Microb Pathog.* (2019) 132:45–50. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2019.04.031
- Stiefel P, Rosenberg U, Schneider J, Mauerhofer S, Maniura-Weber K, Ren Q. Is biofilm removal properly assessed? Comparison of different quantification methods in a 96-well plate system. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol.* (2016) 100:4135–45. doi: 10.1007/s00253-016-7396-9
- Azeredo J, Azevedo NF, Briandet R, Cerca N, Coenye T, Costa AR, et al. Critical review on biofilm methods. *Crit Rev Microbiol.* (2017) 43:313–51. doi: 10.1080/1040841X.2016.1208146
- 52. Darwish SF, Asfour HAE. Investigation of biofilm forming ability in *Staphylococci* causing bovine mastitis using phenotypic and genotypic assays. *Sci World J.* (2013) 2013:378492. doi: 10.1155/2013/378492
- 53. Notcovich S, DeNicolo G, Flint SH, Williamson NB, Gedye K, Grinberg A, et al. Biofilm-forming potential of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated

from clinical mastitis cases in New Zealand. Vet Sci. (2018) 5:8. doi: 10.3390/vetsci5010008

- 54. Salimena APS, Lange CC, Camussone C, Signorini M, Calvinho LF, Brito MAVP, et al. Genotypic and phenotypic detection of capsular polysaccharide and biofilm formation in *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from bovine milk collected from Brazilian dairy farms. *Vet Res Commun.* (2016) 40:97–106. doi: 10.1007/s11259-016-9658-5
- 55. Bonsaglia ECR, Latosinski GS, Rossi RS, Rossi BF, Possebon FS, Pantoja JCF, et al. Biofilm production under different atmospheres and growth media by *Streptococcus agalactiae* isolated from milk of cows with subclinical mastitis. *Arch Microbiol.* (2020) 202:209–12. doi: 10.1007/s00203-019-01727-8
- Pang M, Sun L, He T, Bao H, Zhang L, Zhou Y, et al. Molecular and virulence characterization of highly prevalent *Streptococcus agalactiae* circulated in bovine dairy herds. *Vet Res.* (2017) 48:65. doi: 10.1186/s13567-017-0461-2
- Varhimo E, Varmanen P, Fallarero A, Skogman M, Pyörälä S, Iivanainen A, et al. Alpha- and β-casein components of host milk induce biofilm formation in the mastitis bacterium *Streptococcus uberis*. *Vet Microbiol.* (2011) 149:381–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2010.11.010
- Sela S, Hammer-Muntz O, Krifucks O, Pinto R, Weisblit L, Leitner G. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains isolated from mastitis outbreaks in dairy herds. *J Dairy Res.* (2007) 74:425–9. doi: 10.1017/S0022029907002610
- Massé J, Dufour S, Archambault M. Characterization of Klebsiella isolates obtained from clinical mastitis cases in dairy cattle. J Dairy Sci. (2020) 103:3392–400. doi: 10.3168/jds.2019-17324
- Freeman DJ, Falkiner FR, Keane CT. New method for detecting slime production by coagulase negative staphylococci. *J Clin Pathol.* (1989) 42:872– 4. doi: 10.1136/jcp.42.8.872
- Dhanawade NB, Kalorey DR, Srinivasan R, Barbuddhe SB, Kurkure N V. Detection of intercellular adhesion genes and biofilm production in *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from bovine subclinical mastitis. *Vet Res Commun.* (2010) 34:81–9. doi: 10.1007/s11259-009-9326-0
- 62. Castelani L, Pilon LE, Martins T, Pozzi CR, Arcaro JRP. Investigation of biofilm production and icaA and icaD genes in Staphylococcus aureus isolated from heifers and cows with mastitis. *Anim Sci J.* (2015) 86:340–4. doi: 10.1111/asj.12284
- Christensen GD, Simpson WA, Bisno AL, Beachey EH. Adherence of slimeproducing strains of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* to smooth surfaces. *Infect Immun.* (1982) 37:318–26. doi: 10.1128/IAI.37.1.318-326.1982
- Aslantaş Ö, Demir C. Investigation of the antibiotic resistance and biofilmforming ability of *Staphylococcus aureus* from subclinical bovine mastitis cases. J Dairy Sci. (2016) 99:8607–13. doi: 10.3168/jds.2016-11310
- 65. Shah MS, Qureshi S, Kashoo Z, Farooq S, Wani SA, Hussain MI, et al. Methicillin resistance genes and *in vitro* biofilm formation among *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates from bovine mastitis in India. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2019) 64:117–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cimid.2019.02.009
- 66. Tremblay YDN, Lamarche D, Chever P, Haine D, Messier S, Jacques M. Characterization of the ability of coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from the milk of Canadian farms to form biofilms. *J Dairy Sci.* (2013) 96:234–46. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-5795
- Silva VO, Soares LO, Silva Júnior A, Mantovani HC, Chang Y-F, Moreira MAS. Biofilm formation on biotic and abiotic surfaces in the presence of antimicrobials by Escherichia coli Isolates from cases of bovine mastitis. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2014) 80:6136–45. doi: 10.1128/AEM. 01953-14
- Costa M, Freitas I De. Increased production of biofilms by *Escherichia coli* in the presence of enrofloxacin. *Vet Microbiol.* (2012) 160:488–90. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.05.036
- Nascimento FR, Albuquerque KRS, Oliveira MR, Pizziolo VR, Brasileiro BG, Diaz G, et al. Antibiotic activity of *Plectranthus ornatus* Codd., a Traditional Medicinal Plant. *An Acad Bras Cienc.* (2017) 89:2461–9. doi: 10.1590/0001-3765201720170068
- Mordmuang A, Brouillette E, Voravuthikunchai SP, Malouin F. Evaluation of a *Rhodomyrtus tomentosa* ethanolic extract for its therapeutic potential on *Staphylococcus aureus* infections using *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of mastitis. *Vet Res.* (2019) 50:49. doi: 10.1186/s13567-019-0664-9
- 71. Cerioli MF, Moliva MV, Cariddi LN, Reinoso EB. Effect of the essential oil of *Minthostachys verticillata* (Griseb.) epling and limonene on biofilm

production in pathogens causing bovine mastitis. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:146. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00146

- 72. Wang J, Qu Q, Liu X, Cui W, Yu F, Chen X, Xing X, Zhou Y, Yang Y, Bello-Onaghise G, et al. 1-Hydroxyanthraquinone exhibited antibacterial activity by regulating glutamine synthetase of Staphylococcus xylosus as a virulence factor. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2020) 123:109779. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.109779
- Rumi MV, Huguet MJ, Bentancor AB, Gentilini ER. The icaA gene in staphylococci from bovine mastitis. J Infect Dev Ctries. (2013) 7:556–560. doi: 10.3855/jidc.2670
- Szweda P, Schielmann M, Milewski S, Frankowska A, Jakubczak A. Biofilm production and presence of ica and bap genes in *Staphylococcus aureus* strains isolated from cows with mastitis in the eastern Poland. *Polish J Microbiol.* (2012) 61:65–9. doi: 10.33073/pjm-2012-009
- Tan CH, Lee KWK, Burmølle M, Kjelleberg S, Rice SA. All together now: experimental multispecies biofilm model systems. *Environ Microbiol.* (2017) 19:42–53. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.13594
- Burmølle M, Ren D, Bjarnsholt T, Sørensen SJ. Interactions in multispecies biofilms: do they actually matter? *Trends Microbiol.* (2014) 22:84–91. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2013.12.004
- 77. Frola ID, Pellegrino MS, Espeche MC, Giraudo JA, Nader-Macias ME, Bogni CI. Effects of intramammary inoculation of *Lactobacillus perolens* CRL1724 in lactating cows' udders. *J Dairy Res.* (2012) 79:84–92. doi: 10.1017/S0022029911000835
- Wallis JK, Krömker V, Paduch J-H. Biofilm challenge: lactic acid bacteria isolated from bovine udders versus staphylococci. *Foods.* (2019) 8:79 doi: 10.3390/foods8020079
- Ren X, Wang L, Chen W. Oxytropis glabra DC. Inhibits Biofilm Formation of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* by Down-regulating ica operon expression. *Curr Microbiol.* (2020) 77:1167–73. doi: 10.1007/s00284-019-01847-w
- Wolcott R, Costerton JW, Raoult D, Cutler SJ. The polymicrobial nature of biofilm infection. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2013) 19:107–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2012.04001.x
- Brown SP, Fredrik Inglis R, Taddei F. Evolutionary ecology of microbial wars: within-host competition and (incidental) virulence. *Evol Appl.* (2009) 2:32–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-4571.2008.00059.x
- Jensen PØ, Givskov M, Bjarnsholt T, Moser C. The immune system vs. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol.* (2010) 59:292–305. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-695X.2010.00706.x
- Collado R, Prenafeta A, González-González L, Pérez-Pons JA, Sitjà M. Probing vaccine antigens against bovine mastitis caused by *Streptococcus uberis. Vaccine.* (2016) 34:3848–54. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016. 05.044
- Côté-Gravel J, Brouillette E, Malouin F. Vaccination with a liveattenuated small-colony variant improves the humoral and cell-mediated responses against Staphylococcus aureus. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0227109. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0227109
- Gogoi-Tiwari J, Williams V, Waryah CB, Eto KY, Tau M, Costantino P, et al. Comparative studies of the immunogenicity and protective potential of biofilm vs planktonic *Staphylococcus aureus* vaccine against bovine mastitis using non-invasive mouse mastitis as a model system. *Biofouling.* (2015) 31:543–54. doi: 10.1080/08927014.2015.1074681
- 86. Prenafeta A, March R, Foix A, Casals I, Costa L. Study of the humoral immunological response after vaccination with a *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilm-embedded bacterin in dairy cows: possible role of the exopolysaccharide specific antibody production in the protection from *Staphylococcus aureus* induced mastitis. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol.* (2010) 134:208–17. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2009.09.020
- 87. Gogoi-Tiwari J, Williams V, Waryah CB, Mathavan S, Tiwari HK, Costantino P, et al. Intramammary immunization of pregnant mice with staphylococcal protein a reduces the post-challenge mammary gland bacterial load but not pathology. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0148383. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148383
- Cucarella C, Solano C, Valle J, Amorena B, Lasa I, Penadés JR. Bap, a *Staphylococcus aureus* surface protein involved in biofilm formation. *J Bacteriol.* (2001) 183:2888–96. doi: 10.1128/JB.183.9.2888-2896.2001

- Montironi ID, Moliva M V, Campra NA, Raviolo JM, Bagnis G, Cariddi LN. Characterization of an *Enterococcus faecium* strain in a murine mastitis model. *J Appl Microbiol.* (2019) 128:1289–300. doi: 10.1111/jam. 14554
- Marbach H, Mayer K, Vogl C, Lee JYH, Monk IR, Sordelli DO, et al. Within-host evolution of bovine Staphylococcus aureus selects for a SigB-deficient pathotype characterized by reduced virulence but enhanced proteolytic activity and biofilm formation. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:13479. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-49981-6
- 91. Savijoki K, Iivanainen A, Siljamäki P, Laine PK, Paulin L, Karonen T, et al. Genomics and proteomics provide new insight into the commensal and pathogenic lifestyles of bovine- and human-associated *Staphylococcus epidermidis* strains. J Proteome Res. (2014) 13:3748–62. doi: 10.1021/pr500322d
- Seroussi E, Blum SE, Krifucks O, Lavon Y, Leitner G. Application of pancreatic phospholipase A2 for treatment of bovine mastitis. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0203132. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203132
- Sordillo LM. Mammary gland immunobiology and resistance to mastitis. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract. (2018) 34:507–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cvfa.2018.07.005
- 94. Bohl LP, Isaac P, Breser ML, Orellano MS, Correa SG, Tolosa de Talamoni NG, et al. Interaction between bovine mammary epithelial cells and planktonic or biofilm *Staphylococcus aureus*: the bacterial lifestyle determines its internalization ability and the pathogen recognition. *Microb Pathog.* (2021) 152:104604. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2020. 104604
- Bjarnsholt T, Givskov M. The role of quorum sensing in the pathogenicity of the cunning aggressor *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Anal Bioanal Chem*. (2007) 387:409–14. doi: 10.1007/s00216-006-0774-x
- Zaatout N, Ayachi A, Kecha M. Interaction of primary mammary bovine epithelial cells with biofilm-forming staphylococci associated with subclinical bovine mastitis. *Iran J Vet Res.* (2019) 20:27–32.
- Oliveira M, Bexiga R, Nunes SF, Vilela CL. Invasive potential of biofilmforming Staphylococci bovine subclinical mastitis isolates. J Vet Sci. (2011) 12:95–7. doi: 10.4142/jvs.2011.12.1.95
- Valle J, Latasa C, Gil C, Toledo-Arana A, Solano C, Penadés JR, et al. Bap, a biofilm matrix protein of Staphylococcus aureus prevents cellular internalization through binding to GP96 host receptor. *PLoS Pathog.* (2012) 8:e1002843. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002843
- Mulcahy LR, Isabella VM, Lewis K. Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms in disease. Microb Ecol. (2014) 68:1–12. doi: 10.1007/s00248-013-0297-x
- 100. Krömker V, Friedrich J, Klocke C. Ausscheidung und Nachweis von Staphylococcus aureus über Milch aus infizierten Milchdrüsenvierteln. [Excretion and detection of Staphylococcus aureus via milk from infected mammary gland quarters]. *Tierärztl Prax.* (2008) 389-392. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1623865
- 101. Cornforth DM, Dees JL, Ibberson CB, Huse HK, Mathiesen IH, Kirketerp-Møller K, et al. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* transcriptome during human infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2018) 115:E5125–E34. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1717525115
- 102. Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Jensen PØ, Kolpen M, Qvist T, et al. Diagnosis of biofilm infections in cystic fibrosis patients. *APMIS*. (2017) 125:339–43. doi: 10.1111/apm.12689
- 103. Thomsen TR, Aasholm MS, Rudkjøbing VB, Saunders AM, Bjarnsholt T, Givskov M, et al. The bacteriology of chronic venous leg ulcer examined by culture-independent molecular methods. *Wound repair*. (2010) 18:38–49. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-475X.2009.00561.x
- 104. Kirketerp-Møller K, Jensen PØ, Fazli M, Madsen KG, Pedersen J, Moser C, et al. Distribution, organization, and ecology of bacteria in chronic wounds. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2008) 46:2717–22. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00501-08
- 105. Fazli M, Bjarnsholt T, Kirketerp-Møller K, Jørgensen B, Andersen AS, Krogfelt KA, et al. Nonrandom distribution of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Staphylococcus aureus in chronic wounds. J Clin Microbiol. (2009) 47:4084–9. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01395-09
- 106. Fazli M, Bjarnsholt T, Høiby N, Givskov M, Tolker-Nielsen T. PNA-based fluorescence in situ hybridization for identification of

bacteria in clinical samples. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2014) 1211:261-71. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-1459-3_21

- 107. Rudkjøbing VB, Thomsen TR, Xu Y, Melton-Kreft R, Ahmed A, Eickhardt S, et al. Comparing culture and molecular methods for the identification of microorganisms involved in necrotizing soft tissue infections. BMC Infect Dis. (2016) 16:652. doi: 10.1186/s12879-016-1976-2
- 108. Malic S, Hill KE, Hayes A, Percival SL, Thomas DW, Williams DW. Detection and identification of specific bacteria in wound biofilms using peptide nucleic acid fluorescent *in situ* hybridization (PNA FISH). *Microbiology*. (2009) 155:2603–11. doi: 10.1099/mic.0. 028712-0

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Pedersen, Krömker, Bjarnsholt, Dahl-Pedersen, Buhl and Jørgensen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

NOMENCLATURE

CNS, Coagulase-negative staphylococci CRA, Congo Red Agar CLSM, confocal laser scanning microscopy LAB, lactic acid bacteria PIA, polysaccharide interstellar adhesions PNA-FISH, peptide nucleic acid fluorescence *in situ* hybridization.

Manuscript II

Pedersen, R. R., Hornemann, E., Meyer, B., Bay, L., Fritz, B.G., Jakobsen, T.H., Jensen, L. K., Dahl-Pedersen, K., Jørgensen, E., Buhl, R., Krömker, V., Bjarnsholt, T.

"Distribution and spatial organization of bacteria in bovine mammary glands."

Manuscript in preparation.

Distribution and spatial organization of bacteria in bovine mammary glands

Regitze Renee Pedersen^{1,3}, Emma Hornemann¹, Benjamin Meyer², Lene Bay³, Blaine Gabriel Fritz³, Tim Holm Jakobsen³, Louise Kruse Jensen², Kirstin Dahl-Pedersen¹, Elin Jørgensen³, Rikke Buhl¹, Volker Krömker² and Thomas Bjarnsholt^{3,4}

¹ Department of Veterinary Clinical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark,
 ² Department of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark,
 ³ Department Immunology and Microbiology, Costerton Biofilm Center, University of Copenhagen,

Copenhagen, Denmark,

⁴ Department of Clinical Microbiology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark

Abstract:

In mastitis control, the detection of pathogenic microorganisms in milk is used to describe microbial dysbiosis on the milk-producing epithelium. However, there are few studies comparing the microbiological and cytological findings of the milk with those of the milk-giving epithelium. This study aims to determine the microbial composition and spatial distribution in healthy and mastitis quarters by analyzing milk samples and biopsies from different locations within the udder. Cultivation, MALDI-TOF MS, and 16S rDNA sequencing were used to determine the bacterial composition. HE-staining was used to evaluate the histopathology of the biopsies. Furthermore, this study is the first to apply PNA-FISH and CLSM to visualize the spatial distribution of bacteria in the udders. This study's findings included diverse microbial compositions for both the healthy and mastitis quarters and the presence of bacteria throughout the udders. Bacterial aggregates were found in 18% of samples from mastitis quarters and 3% samples from healthy quarters. We conclude that bacteria are present throughout the bovine udder, and aggregates are found in some cases of bovine mastitis.

Keywords: Mastitis, milk microbiota, chronic infections, biofilm, PNA-FISH

Background

Bovine mastitis is one of the most crucial diseases that the dairy industry is facing – affecting the economy and animal welfare [1]. Mastitis is inflammation in the udder and is caused mainly by bacteria [2]. Mastitis can present itself in several aspects, including subclinical and clinical, environmental, and contagious [1]. Various bacterial species can be involved in the bovine mastitis, such as *Streptococcus uberis, Staphylococcus aureus,* and *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* [3]. Bovine mastitis is the primary reason for antibiotic treatment in dairy cows [4–6].

Bovine mastitis can be treated in various ways, depending on the disease's clinical aspects and origin. However, in some cases, the disease is not resolved despite antibiotic treatment and becomes chronic. Chronic mastitis is characterized by udder inflammation over a long period of time [7] with an elevated somatic cell count for over three weeks [8]. The reason why some cases of mastitis do not resolve, despite antibiotic treatment, is unknown, although, some factors have been shown to affect the success of a bacteriological cure. For example, the animal's age, the somatic cell count, the pathogen causing the infection, or whether the animal had an intramammary infection earlier in the lactation are factors that impact the bacteriological cure [9]. Another possible explanation for the unsuccessful antibiotic treatment could be bacterial biofilm formation. Biofilm has been defined as "a coherent cluster of bacterial cells embedded in a biopolymer matrix, which, compared with planktonic cells, shows increased tolerance to antimicrobials and resists the antimicrobial properties of the host defence" [10]. Biofilm infections can be challenging to eradicate and are associated with chronic infections in several human diseases [10]. The role of biofilm in veterinary diseases has been sparsely investigated. Nevertheless, research on this topic [11-13] as well as bovine mastitis [14] is evolving. Most research demonstrates that bacterial strains isolated from the milk of mastitis cases can form biofilm in vitro [15–17], while only a few research papers have investigated biofilm in bovine mastitis *in vivo* [18,19].

Current diagnostic methods for bovine mastitis of bacterial origin often rely on culturing milk samples and analyzing them with morphological and biochemical methods [20,21]. Identifying the bacterial agents by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) or 16S rDNA sequencing has been increasingly used in diagnostics [1,20–23]. However, these methods only disclose the bacterial agent in the samples but not whether the bacteria are in fact embedded in biofilms [14]. The importance of visualizing biofilm *in situ* has been a focus in research on biofilm infections in humans for a long time [24–28]. Visualization methods such as peptide nucleic acid fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (PNA-FISH) are one of the most common ways of diagnosing biofilm infections [10,24,29].

Previous studies of biofilm and the bacterial composition of bovine mastitis have mainly been based on milk samples. To the best of our knowledge, few studies have investigated the bacterial composition in udder tissues and compared to that of milk samples. This study aims to describe the distribution of bacteria in various locations in dairy cows' udders and teat canals to better understand chronic mastitis. Additionally, to determine the bacterial composition and visualize the spatial distribution of bacteria as well as the histopathology in the infected and healthy udders using biopsies and milk.

Materials and methods

Dairy cows

All udder quarters included in the study were from dairy cows sent to slaughter. The dairy cows had elevated cell counts over a longer period of time. All dairy cows were either Holsteins or Jerseys from

Danish dairy farms. Twenty-eight dairy cows were included in the study, with ages ranging from 2 to 11 years and parity from 1 to 6 (Table 1, supplementary).

Collection of udders

The udders were collected from slaughterhouses or the University Hospital for Large Animals, (University of Copenhagen, Denmark) and transported to the University Hospital for Large Animals to be prepared for biopsy collection. Biopsies were collected within 4–8 hours of slaughter.

Sample collection from the quarters

To minimize the risk of contamination, the investigator wore a hairnet, gloves, a mask, and a single-use laboratory coat during the collection of samples.

The udders were cleaned with water (Mediq) using sterile cleaning brushes for 4 minutes, after which 70% ethanol was applied. Milk samples were collected from the selected quarters in sterile tubes and stored at 5°C until the following day. The first milk from the quarters was discarded. Analysis was conducted only on the milk that followed thereafter was used.

Milk samples were analyzed with a California Mastitis Test (Kruuse) [30] before the udders were opened. The cleaning steps were then repeated for the udder. Biopsies were obtained from two quarters of each udder: the quarters with the highest and lowest CMT score, respectively. A sterile scalpel was used for the first incision, while an autoclaved knife was used for the remaining sectioning of the quarter.

Biopsies were collected at five locations (Figure 1); three biopsies were collected from each of the locations using sterile surgical single-use tweezers and scalpels. For each biopsy collected, a new sterile scalpel and tweezer was used to minimize the risk of cross-contamination.



Figure 1. Locations (1 to 5) of collected biopsies from the udders of dairy cows included in the study. At each location, three biopsies were collected. Created in Biorender.com

Biopsies for cultivation were stored in microtubes (Sarstedt) at 5°C until the next day. Prior to collecting biopsies, the microtubes were prefilled with two 0.5 mm beads (MP Biomedicals) and autoclaved. The samples for microscopy were stored in Monovette (Hounisen) tubes with 4% formaldehyde at 5°C for a maximum of three weeks (Figure 2). The biopsies for 16S rDNA sequencing were stored at -80°C in 1.5 ml cryotubes (TTP) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Overview of samples taken from the quarters. Milk samples were collected from two quarters of each dairy cow and analyzed with the California Mastitis Test. Furthermore, microscopy determined the somatic cell counts. The milk samples were cultivated, and the isolates were identified by cytomicrobiological tests and MALDI-TOF MS. Three biopsies at five locations were collected from the quarters and analyzed with 16S rDNA sequencing and MALDI-TOF MS (after culturing) for identification of bacteria present in the tissue and PNA-FISH and CLSM for visualization of the bacteria. Abbreviations in the figure: PNA-FISH: peptide nucleic acid fluorescent in situ hybridization; CLSM: confocal light scanning microscopy; 16S rDNA sequencing: 16S ribosomal DNA sequencing; MALDI-TOF MS: matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Created in Biorender.com

Cultivation of biopsies and milk samples:

The handling and processing of biopsies and milk samples was performed in sterilized laminar flow benches. Sterile water with 0.9% NaCl (500 μ l) was added to the biopsies that were homogenized with a Magnalyzer (Roche) three times in 20 seconds at 6,000 RPM. Between cycles, the samples were kept on ice. The samples were degassed (5 minutes), sonicated (5 minutes) (Branson 2510 Ultrasonic Cleaner, Marshall Scientific), vortexed, and 150 μ l of the liquid was spread on a 5% horse blood agar plate (SSI). The plates were incubated at 37°C for seven days, examining the plates daily without opening the lid. The milk samples were thoroughly vortexed, and 100 μ l of the milk was spread on 5% horse blood agar plates and incubated for one to seven days. The remaining milk samples were stored at -20° C until further analysis.

Single bacterial colonies were streaked on 5% blood agar plates and incubated at 37° C ON. The isolates were transfered to 1.5 ml cryotubes (TTP) with Luria broth with 33% glycerol and stored at -80° C.

Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry of isolates from biopsies and milk samples:

Bacterial isolates were incubated consecutively twice on 5% blood agar plates at 37°C ON. The bacterial identification was performed using the MALDI-TOF MS system Vitek MS RUO (*bioMérieux*) with the software used SaramisTM v3.5. The cut-off level for species identification was defined as \geq 2.0. All negative isolates were analyzed twice.

Cytomicrobiological diagnostics of milk samples, somatic cell count, and microscopic cell differentiation:

The milk samples were analyzed by conventional diagnostics at the laboratory of Hannover University of Applied Sciences and Arts, Hannover, Germany, as described by Fredebeul-Krein *et al.* [31]. The bacteria were further analyzed by MALDI-TOF MS (Bruker Daltonics) without acid extraction, and the species were identified by the MBT Compass Library (Revision F, MBT 84,668 MSP Library, Bruker Daltonics). Isolates were stored in brain-heart broth (Merck KGaA) with 25% glycerol at -80°C.

The cell count of the milk samples was determined by somatic cell count and microscopic cell differentiation. A flow cytometer was used to determine the somatic cell count (SomaScope Smart & Delta Instruments). Milk (10 µl) was smeared on an area of 1 cm² on a clean slide. Fixation, defatting, and staining of smears with Broadhurst polychromatic solution were done as described in Prescott *et al.* [32]. Smears were examined microscopically with oil immersion at 100x magnification. Fifty cells in each sample were used to calculate a percentage ratio of cell populations, size, and granularity.

The quarters were categorized as either "Healthy Quarter" or "Mastitis Quarter" according to a microscopic somatic cell count below or above 200,000 cells/ml, respectively. For one cow, no milk was available, and the quarters were categorized according to the CMT results.

16S rDNA amplicon sequencing and data analysis

The DNA extraction, PCR amplification, library preparation, and 16S rDNA amplicon sequencing were performed by Novogene Co. Ltd, UK. The PCR was performed with the primer 16SV34, the library preparation was performed with the TruSeq® DNA PCR-Free Sample Preparation Kit (Illumina) and the libraries were sequenced with Illumina platforms with a minimum of 50,000 raw reads per sample.

The raw, absolute amplicon sequence variant (ASV) feature tables were used for the data analysis. ASVs with zero counts across all samples were removed. Alpha diversity was calculated by the Shannon Diversity Index. A mixed-effects model was fitted to the alpha-diversity data using Condition (mastitis/healthy) and Location (S1-S5) and the interaction (Condition:Depth) as fixed effects, including nested random effects of Quarter within Cow.ID, to determine the effects of mastitis and depth on alpha diversity. Statistical analysis was performed with a type III ANOVA implemented in the ImerTest package in R.

To analyze beta diversity, ASVs, which were observed in less than 5% of samples, were first removed. The count data were normalized using a centered-log ratio transformation implemented in the decostand

function in the vegan R package. A sample distance matrix was then created using the robust aitchinson distance method implemented in the vegdist function of the vegan R package. For plotting PCAs and distances to the centroid for the groups, the betadisper function of vegan was used to calculate the group dispersions and distances to the centroid. The adonis2 function in the vegan package was used to assess the effect of Condition and Depth on composition. The model included Condition and Depth as well as the interaction as fixed effects and was stratified by Cow.ID.

The abundance-filtered ASV table was summarized at the genus level using the tax_glom function in phyloseq to identify genera that were differentially abundant due to condition. Differential abundance testing was performed with DESeq2 using default settings with ~Condition as the design formula. Results were filtered to only include differentially abundant ASVs with a base mean expression of 100, adjusted *p*-value less than 0.05 and an absolute log2 fold change >2.

PNA-FISH and HE staining of tissue section

The biopsies stored in 4% formaldehyde were embedded in paraffin. From each biopsy tissue sections (4 μ m) were cut and deparaffinized; one was stained with an universal bacterial, double-labeled PNA-FISH probe (Panagene) described by Fazli *et al.* [26] and one with hematoxylin and eosin staining for histology. The slides were incubated at 55°C for 90 minutes in the dark; coverslips were removed, and slides were inserted into the wash buffer at 55°C consisting of 4 ml of washing buffer (AdvanDx) and 240 ml of MilliQ water for 30 minutes. The slides were air-dried in the dark and then counterstained with 0.3 mM DAPI (Sigma) and incubated for 15 minutes in the dark. Slides were rinsed with sterile PBS buffer and air-dried in the dark. One drop of Pro-long Gold (ThermoFisher) was added to the slides and covered with a cover glass. Slides were air-dried in the dark until the next day and the edges were sealed with clear nail polish.

Aggregate detection by CLSM and image analysis:

Two confocal laser scanning microscopes were used in this study: the inverted microscopes 880 and the upright 710 (Zeiss). The objectives EC Plan-Neofluar 40x/1.30 Oil DIC M27 and Plan-Apochromat 63x/1.4 Oil DIC M27 objective were used. Image analysis was performed by Zen Black version 2.1, and the software used for image analysis was Imaris version 9.7.2 (Oxford Instruments). A sample was positive for aggregate if a minimum of a 5 µm aggregate was observed in the sample, as established by Bay *et al.* [33].

Microscopic evaluation of histological slides

The histological slides from location five were evaluated using a light microscope (Leica DMLB /100 S microscope). Initially, biopsies from 10 cases were used to select the parameters for a scoring system developed to evaluate the presence of inflammatory lesions. Each slide was scored "yes/no" on the individual inflammatory parameters listed in Table 1. Four of the parameters were based on the dominant immune cell type (neutrophilic granulocytes, mononuclear cells, or both) within well-defined mammalian tissue structures. Depending on the number of observed pathological changes, an overall histopathological score was given (0-8). The biopsies were divided into four groups according to their scoring: none (0), mild (1-2), moderate (3-4), and severe (5-8). According to this approach, if the score values increase, more inflammatory change is observed. The amount of neutrophilic granulocyte infiltration within the udder tissue was evaluated and semi-quantitatively categorized as "low," "moderate," or "high." Histology was performed by a pathologist blinded to the group allocation. The

scoring system is based on comparable scoring systems used in previous experimental studies of bacterial-induced inflammatory lesions [34,35].

Table 1. Scoring system to evaluate histological slides from location 5 from biopsies collected from bovine mastitis and healthy quarters. Indication of pathological change in the tissue was based upon the total score of the following parameters.

Hemorrhagi	1
Fibrosis	1
Edema	1
Perivasculitis	1
Inflammation with neutrophilic granulocytes in glandular lumen	1
Inflammation with neutrophilic granulocytes inter/intralobular	1
Inflammation with mononuclear cells in glandular lumen	1
Inflammation with mononuclear cells inter/intralobular	1

Results

Milk samples

Based on the somatic cell count determined by microscopy. If no microscopic somatic cell count was available, the cell count by flow cytometry (SomaScope) was used. One cow did not have any milk available for analysis, so the CMT score was used (Table 2, supplementary).





Figure 3. Boxplot for the somatic cell count for the healthy and mastitis quarters. The quarters are categorized by the microscopic cell count. If the data is not available, the somatic cell count is used. For one cow, neither data nor results were available, so the results from the California Mastitis Test were used. The healthy quarters are defined by a somatic cell count under 200,000 cells/ml and the mastitis quarters with a somatic cell count over 200,000 cells/ml.

Cultivation and MALDI-TOF MS of milk samples and biopsies

In the healthy quarters, 40 bacterial species were identified in the milk samples and 46 in the biopsies. There were more species in location 1 (teat) of the quarters compared to the other locations (2–5) deeper in the quarter (Figure 4). Both the healthy and mastitis quarters had more species in the biopsies than the milk samples (Figure 4). For mastitis quarters, 33 unique species were identified in the milk samples and 62 in the biopsies. For both milk and biopsy samples, and more bacterial species were identified in the mastitis quarters than in the healthy quarters. However, it should be noted that there were more quarters in the mastitis group (36) than in the healthy group (20).



Figure 4. The number of species in milk and five locations in the quarters for the healthy and mastitis quarters. The species were cultivated on blood agar plates, and the isolates were identified by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry.

Identification of bacterial isolates from healthy milk samples and biopsies was unsuccessful for 9.21% and 9.94%, respectively (Table 2). For the mastitis quarters, it was not possible to identify 10.34% of the isolates in the milk samples and 8.24% of the biopsies (Table 2). The milk samples from healthy quarters had no bacterial growth in 10% of the samples, and 24.2% of the biopsies had no growth. All milk samples from mastitis quarters had bacterial growth, and 19.5% of the biopsies had no growth.

Table 2. The percentage of bacterial isolates from milk samples and biopsies from different locations in healthy and mastitis dairy cow quarters that could not be identified by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry.

of-fight mass spectrometry.							
	Milk	Location 1	Location 2	Location 3	Location 4	Location 5	All biopsies
Healthy							
No match	9.21	10.64	3.70	14.29	6.25	13.51	9.94
Mastitis							
No match	10.34	9.57	9.23	6.15	7.14	8.33	8.24

Unique species identified in milk samples and biopsies

Some species were unique for the milk and for the biopsies, respectively. In the healthy quarters, we found 16 unique species for milk and 21 unique species for the biopsies. However, these species were only found once. For the mastitis quarters, we found five unique species in the milk samples and 33 unique species in the biopsies. All the species were found only once.

Most common species found in milk samples and the udder biopsies

The most common species in the healthy quarters are shown in Table 3. In healthy quarters, the most common species in milk were *E. coli*, *S. sciuiri*, and *T. pyogenes*. At the different biopsy locations in the quarter, the most common species were *B. licheniformis*, *S. equinus*, *C. bovis*, and *S. aureus*.

Table 3. The most common bacterial species found by cultivation in healthy quarters for the different locations in the udder. Only species found in more than three quarters are included in the table. The species were identified by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry.

Milk	Location 1	Location 2	Location 3	Location 4	Location 5
Escherichia coli	Bacillus licheniformis	Streptococcus equinus	Corynebacterium bovis	Staphylococcus aureus	Corynebacterium bovis
Staphylococcus sciuri	Staphylococcus haemolyticus				Trueperella pyogenes
Trueperella pyogenes					
Bacillus licheniformis					
Corynebacterium bovis					
Staphylococcus aureus					
Staphylococcus haemolyticus					
Streptococcus equinus					

Bacillus licheniformis was the most common species found in healthy quarter biopsies (45%) when accounting for the total number of species throughout the healthy quarters. *S. haemolyticus* (35%), *S. uberis* (25%) and *C. bovis* (20%) (Table 4) were the next most common species.

Table 4. The most common bacterial species for all biopsy locations from quarters. Only species observed in more than three quarters are included. The bacterial species were identified by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry and are shown in percentage of quarters.

Healthy quarters	%	Mastitis quarters	%
Bacillus licheniformis	45	Bacillus licheniformis	52.7
Staphylococcus haemolyticus	35	Staphylococcus aureus	30.6
Streptococcus uberis	25	Streptococcus uberis	30.6
Corynebacterium bovis	20	Bacillus pumilus	19.4
Paenibacillus durus	20	Staphylococcus hominis	19.4
Streptococcus equinus	20	Corynebacterium bovis	16.7
Corynebacterium xerosis	15	Paenibacillus durus	16.7

Staphylococcus haemolyticus	16.7
Lactococcus lactis	13.9
Sphingomonas parapaucimobilis	13.9
Staphylococcus chromogenes	13.9
Trueperella pyogenes	13.9
Aerococcus viridans	11.1
Micrococcus luteus	11.1
Staphylococcus sciuri	11.1

The most common species in the milk and biopsies from mastitis quarters were *S. aureus*, *B. licheniformis*, and *S. uberis* (Table 5).

Table 5. The bacterial species found by cultivation in most quarters with mastitis at the different locations in the udder, with the most common species listed first. Only species found in more than three quarters are included in the table. The species were identified by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry.

Milk	Location 1	Location 2	Location 3	Location 4	Location 5
Staphylococcus aureus	Bacillus licheniformis	Staphylococcus aureus	Streptococcus uberis	Staphylococcus aureus	Staphylococcus aureus
Bacillus licheniformis	Staphylococcus aureus	Streptococcus uberis	Staphylococcus aureus	Streptococcus uberis	Streptococcus uberis
Streptococcus uberis	Bacillus pumilus	Lactococcus lactis	Trueperella pyogenes	Lactococcus lactis	Paenibacillus durus
Staphylococcus haemolyticus	Lactococcus lactis	Staphylococcus chromogenes	Corynebacterium bovis	Trueperella pyogenes	Lactococcus lactis
Aerococcus viridans	Trueperella pyogenes	Trueperella pyogenes			Ralstonia picketii
Staphylococcus sciuri	Streptococcus uberi	\$			
Corynebacterium bovis	Staphylococcus hae	molyticus			
Paenibacillus durus					
Staphylococcus chromoge	enes				

Staphylococcus equorum

16S rDNA sequencing of biopsies

Alpha-diversity of the samples

To determine whether condition or location affects the microbial diversity, we analyzed alpha diversity with the Shannon Diversity Index. We identified a significant effect of depth on the alpha diversity (p-value: $7.092*10^6$), which generally decreased in deeper udder locations. No significant effect on condition or interaction between depth and condition was found. All depths had a lower alpha diversity than location 1 (p-values: Location 2: 0.043011, Location 3: 0.000431, Location 4: 0.018043, Location 5: 0.016813) (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Alpha diversity of the biopsies collected from bovine udders in the two groups, healthy and mastitis. S1–S5 refers to the different locations in the quarter (Figure 1), S1 being location 1 at the teat end.

Beta-diversity of samples

To analyze differences in bacterial community between conditions and location, beta diversity analysis was performed. The largest source of community variability was due to the cow. We observed large differences in the inter-sample variability, depending on from which cow the samples were collected. When accounting for this in our model, we identified a significant effect of both condition (p<0.001) and depth (p<0.001) on community composition. There was no significant interactions between these two effects and the effect of mastitis was consistent regardless of the sample depth. We also identified that samples from S1 displayed an overall different community composition than samples deeper in the udder (Figure 6A).



Figure 6. A–C: PCA plot of the groups and distance to centroid lines for the groups over the first two principal components for the following: A) location of the biopsies, B) dairy cows, and C) condition (healthy or mastitis quarter). D–F: Boxplots showing the distance to the centroid for the following: D) depth (location of the biopsies), E) the dairy cows, and F) condition (healthy or mastitis quarter).

Figure 7 depicts the five most common species at the different locations of the udder. For healthy quarters, the dominating genera were *Acinetobacter* and *Staphylococcus*, with *Acinetobacter* dominating in locations 2–5 and *Staphylococcus* in location 1. For the mastitis quarters, the same two genera dominated; however, *Staphylococcus* dominated locations 1, 2, and 5, and *Acinetobacter* dominated locations 3 and 4.



Figure 7. The five most dominant species at the five locations in healthy and mastitis quarters. S1–S5 refers to the different locations in the quarter (Figure 1), S1 being location 1 at the teat end.

PNA-FISH and CLSM of tissue sections

Bacterial aggregates were found in 18.4% of the tissue sections from mastitis quarters, while 97% of the tissue sections from healthy quarters had no bacterial aggregates (Table 6).

Table 6. Percentage of bacterial aggregates found in tissue sections from dairy cows by PNA-FISH and CLSM. A sampleis defined as positive if an aggregate of a minimum of 5 μ m was observed in the sample. Otherwise, the sample was negative.The results are shown in percentages.

	Negative	Positive
Healthy quarters	97%	3%
Mastitis quarters	81.6%	18.4%

Positive aggregate samples in healthy quarters were mainly found in locations 1 and 2, while positive aggregate samples in mastitis quarters were found in all locations (Table 7).

Table 7. Percentage of bacterial aggregates for the different locations in the tissue sections from dairy cows by PNA-FISH and CLSM. Samples with aggregates $>5 \mu m$ were defined as positive.

••···				F	
	Location 1	Location 2	Location 3	Location 4	Location 5
Healthy quarters					
Negative	94.7%	90%	100%	100%	100%
Positive	5.3%	10%	0%	0%	0%
Mastitis quarters					
Negative	82.9%	77.8%	83.3%	83.3%	80.6%
Positive	17.1%	22.2%	16.7%	16.7%	19.4%

We observed bacterial aggregates of either cocci (Figure 8.A–C,9) or rods. In one quarter, an aggregate with both cocci and rod morphology was observed (Figure 8.D).



Figure 8. PNA-FISH and DAPI-stained mammary gland tissue from slaughtered dairy cows. Red is bacteria stained with the universal bacterial probe PNA-FISH, and blue is the dairy cow cell nuclei stained with DAPI. Green is autofluorescence from tissue. A) Cocci observed in aggregates in tissue section from location 2 from mastitis quarter, 630x objective; B) Cocci observed in aggregates in tissue section from location 2 from healthy quarter, 630x objective; C) Cocci observed in aggregates in tissue section from location 2 from healthy quarter, 630x objective; C) Cocci observed in aggregates in tissue section from location 1 from mastitis quarter, 630x magnification. Images obtained with CLSM.



Figure 9. Cocci, as observed in the aggregate in the tissue section from location 4 of the mastitis quarter. The mammary gland tissue was stained with the universal bacterial probe (red) and counterstained with DAPI, showing the nuclei of the dairy cow cells in blue. The images were taken with a 400x magnification by CLSM.

Histopathology of biopsies

To determine the degree of inflammation in the tissue sections, HE-stained biopsies from location 5 from healthy and mastitis samples were investigated. The majority of healthy quarters and mastitis quarters were mild. Furthermore, nine mastitis quarters were moderate, and nine were severe.

minuminution score is bused upon the put	lological changes of the	ussue.
Inflammation in the quarters	Healthy quarters	Mastitis quarters
None Histological score: 0	2	2
Mild Histological score 1–2	13	16
Moderate Histological score 3–4	3	9
Severe Histological score 5–6	2	9

Table 8. Histological analysis of the biopsies obtained from location 5 (Figure 1). The inflammation score is based upon the pathological changes of the tissue.

Representative images of the biopsies are shown in Figure 10:



Figure 10. HE-stained tissue sections from location 5 from dairy cows. A) Chronic mastitis with intralobular fibrosis and infiltration with neutrophilic granulocytes and monocytes. Furthermore, inflammatory cells in the glandular lumen, primarily neutrophils. Edema can also be seen in the interlobular connective tissue. Overall histopathological score: 5 (severe inflammation), neutrophilic score: High. Magnification 100x and 200x; B) Normal active mammae tissue: Fat and protein in glandular lumen. A few glands have corpus amylacea (black debris in glandular lumen). Overall histopathological score: 0 (no inflammation). Neutrophilic score: Low. Magnification 100x; and C) Chronic mastitis tissue with massive fibrosis, fibroblast hyperplasia, loss of glandular epithelium, infiltration with neutrophils, and mononuclear cells. Overall histopathological score: 6 (severe inflammation). Neutrophilic score: Moderate. Magnification 100–200x.

Discussion

The research areas of the microbiome and biofilm in bovine mastitis are new and evolving. This study contributes to the knowledge of bacterial composition and spatial distribution in milk samples and biopsies throughout the udder.

Using culturing and MALDI-TOF MS, we found a difference in the number of bacterial species between the milk and the biopsies for healthy and mastitis quarters, indicating that some species were only present in one sample type. For the healthy quarters, mastitis pathogens, such as *S. uberis, E. faecium*, and different *Corynebacterium* species, were detected in the biopsies but not in the milk samples. However, the quarters were defined as healthy in terms of the somatic cell count. Thus, one explanation for this finding could be that the bacterial load of the pathogens was low and not shedding into the milk from the udder tissue and perhaps not causing an infection.

For the mastitis quarters, only a few species were detected in the milk but not in the biopsies. However, a high number of species were detected only in the biopsies. This included mastitis pathogens such as *Bacillus cereus, Corynebacterium* species, *Listeria* spp., and *S. agalactiae*. The difference in the detection of bacteria between milk and biopsies could indicate that some mastitis infections are

underdiagnosed, as the milk is not reflecting the microbial composition in the udders. It could also indicate that the bacteria are located in the udder, where they would not shed into the milk and, therefore, not be detectable by the milk samples.

It was not possible to identify all bacteria with MALDI-TOF MS. However, this outcome was expected since the bacteria needed to be in the database to identify them. Although the database has a veterinary focus, it does not contain all environmental bacteria. Furthermore, there was no bacterial growth on the plates for some samples. In this study, we inoculated 100 μ l of the milk samples on blood plates. We chose to inoculate with a higher volume than standard methods to increase the possibility of detecting all bacteria present in the milk.

While *B. licheniformis* was the most common bacteria found by cultivation and MALDI-TOF MS, *S. aureus* was one of the most common bacteria in the mastitis quarters. These results correlates with *S. aureus* being a known mastitis pathogen [16,36]. Corresponding with other studies, we found *S. uberis* in both the healthy and mastitis quarters [37].

We found no significant effect on the alpha diversity between mastitis and healthy quarters using 16S sequencing. However, we did find a significant effect on the alpha diversity and the location of the biopsies, with a higher alpha diversity in location 1 compared to all other locations in the udder. This makes sense because the teat end is exposed to the environment, and the bacterial composition here could be affected by this environmental exposure.

A higher diversity in healthy samples has been reported in several studies [38,39]; however, healthy and mastitis quarters also had diverse bacterial compositions [40–42]. Many phyla have been reported in healthy quarters, especially Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, and Bacteroidetes [38,42–44]. In mastitis quarters, the genera *Bacilli* [38], *Chlamydiia* [38][40], *Staphylococcus* [37,42], and *Streptococcus* [37] have been observed.

Acinetobacter was the dominant genus in the biopsies from healthy and mastitis quarters via 16S rDNA sequencing. This result is in alignment with other studies, which found *Acinetobacter* among the most common genera [42,45–49]. Furthermore, in some studies, *Acinetobacter* has been associated with subclinical mastitis cases [50]. *Acinetobacter* is often associated with the environment (soil) [50] and is not known as a mastitis pathogen but could be a part of the core microbiota of the mammary gland.

The visualization of the bacteria present in the biopsies provided a better understanding of the bacteria in the udders. We found nearly no bacterial aggregates in the samples from healthy quarters but aggregates in almost one out of five samples from mastitis quarters. One of the methods for diagnosing biofilm infections is visualizing the biofilm [10,24,29]. Most of the research on biofilm in bovine mastitis is based on sampling milk, isolating the bacteria in the milk, and analyzing the isolates for biofilm-forming abilities in the laboratory [14]. However, this process leads to the perspective that isolated bacteria can form biofilm in a laboratory setting. Nonetheless, the laboratory setting often has under-optimized conditions for the organism and does not reflect the environment in the clinical setting of the disease [14]. Only a few published studies have investigated whether biofilm was present in the udder by examining biopsies. For example, Hensen *et al.* experimentally infected three dairy cows with *S. aureus* and investigated HE and Gram-stained tissue sections by light microscopy after 24 to 96 hours. They found *S. aureus* in clusters in the alveoli and lactiferous ducts [18]. Schönborn *et al.* obtained swabs from udders with *S. aureus* infection and investigated the swabs by performing immunofluorescence staining too look for polysaccharide intercellular adhesin, a marker for the biofilm matrix by *S. aureus*. They found that the biofilm adhesin was present in seven out of 184 samples [19].

The results in this study and the *in vivo* studies of biofilm in bovine mastitis [18,19] indicate that biofilm might not play such a significant role in all chronic bovine mastitis cases, as only a few of the samples had aggregates. Cases with biofilm could be limited to certain pathogens, such as *S. aureus*. However, it is important to consider that the biopsies obtained from the udders are from a small area compared to the entire quarter, resulting in a risk of missing areas with biofilm within the quarters. In this study, we obtained biopsies from five different depths of the quarters to increase the possibility of detecting the biofilms. Despite this, we only observed aggregates in approximately one fifth of the samples. Another possible reason why we did not find more aggregates, could be that only specific pathogens, such as *S. aureus*, are relevant in biofilm formation in bovine mastitis. To gain a better understanding of the possible role of biofilm in bovine mastitis, future studies should focus on visualizing the bacteria in the tissue.

Mastitis pathogens are associated with tissue damage, either from the release of cellular products or the immune system reacting toward the invading pathogens [51,52]. Therefore, in addition to bacterial detection, we performed a histopathological evaluation of the tissue samples. Most mastitis quarters had an inflammation score ranging from moderate to severe; however, a substantial part had only mild inflammation. The histopathology of location 5 from the quarters showed that most healthy quarters had mild inflammation, while some had moderate to severe inflammation. The inflammatory response of increased immune cells in the mammary gland can cause damage to the tissue [52]. We observed healthy quarters with histological changes, although these might be from an earlier infection. Some of these had mastitis pathogens such as *S. uberis, E. faecium* and *Corynebacterium* species present in the biopsies. The tissue sections that were examined for the histopathology were limited to only one location on the udders.

The findings from the culturing, MALDI-TOF MS, and 16S rDNA sequencing in this study differ for the most common species. The 16S rDNA sequencing data demonstrates that *Acinetobacter* and *Staphylococcus* are the most common genera in healthy and mastitis quarters. *Acinetobacter* is the most dominant genus for healthy quarters in four out of five locations. *Staphylococcus* is the most dominant in the mastitis quarters in three out of five locations. *Noticeably, the most common species by culturing and MALDI-TOF MS, Bacillus licheniformis,* is not among the most common genus by 16S rDNA sequencing. This can be due to the differences between the two methods – for culturing and MALDI-TOF MS, we only detect the bacteria able to grow on the selected plates, resulting in the risk of not detecting all bacteria in the samples. 16S rDNA sequencing relies on the presence of DNA; therefore, a more sensitive method could detect more bacterial species.

We expected to find a high diversity among the healthy quarters and a lower diversity in the mastitis quarters. However, we found that the alpha diversity was not significantly different between the two groups. Surprisingly, the most common species was the same between the two groups. However, in this study, we did not quantify the bacterial load. It is possible that the same bacteria are present in the two groups, but the bacterial load was different, meaning that a genus such as *Staphylococcus* could then dominate.

A possible limitation of the study was that we sampled from slaughtered animals. However, since we collected biopsies from the udder, it would not have been possible to carry out the study on living animals. The udders from the dairy cows included in this study might not fully represent the living dairy cow population as the sample size was small, and the results only reflect a single time point. The milk samples showed that most of the included quarters had a higher somatic cell count than 200,000 cells/ml, indicating inflammation in the quarter. Interestingly, not all CMT results corresponded with somatic cell counts. Because we could not obtain any milk samples from the dairy cows or obtain

information about the cell counts before slaughter, the CMT test was the most optimal test to apply when sampling from the udders. Cell counting is the most optimal way to group the quarters as healthy or mastitis quarters; however, the somatic cell count was done after collecting the quarters, and it was used to categorize the quarters as either healthy or mastitis.

The research on the milk microbiome shows that the milk and udders are not sterile environments, as traditionally thought. The results from different studies vary significantly; some studies propose dysbiosis as a cause of bovine mastitis [38,39,42], and some studies report a high diversity in both healthy and mastitis udders [40,43,46]. Different factors can influence the microbiota of the dairy cows, such as an earlier infection; environmental factors, such as bedding types; time of sampling; and the risk of contamination of the milk samples [53]. More research on tissue samples is needed to fully understand the microbiome and how the bacteria are distributed in the mammary glands.

Conclusion

This study contributes to understanding biofilm and bacterial composition in bovine mastitis by studying the bacterial composition and spatial distribution directly in biopsies collected from different locations in the udder. There was a higher occurrence of bacterial aggregates in mastitis quarters than in healthy quarters. The bacterial composition was diverse in healthy and mastitis quarters, and bacteria were found throughout the entire udder. These results contribute to the research, by showing that bovine udders are not sterile but microbial diverse environments with a specific composition and, in some cases, bacteria organized in aggregates.

Funding

This study was funded by the Danish Veterinary and Food Administration, the Danish Milk Levy Foundation and the Frimodt Heineke Foundation.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the involved dairy farmers, cattle veterinarians, and slaughterhouses for aiding in collecting udders. The authors would also like to thank the Copenhagen Zoo for housing pilot studies for the collection of samples.

References

- [1] Ruegg PL. A 100-Year Review: Mastitis detection, management, and prevention. J Dairy Sci 2017;100:10381–97. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-13023.
- [2] Gomes F, Henriques M. Control of Bovine Mastitis: Old and Recent Therapeutic Approaches. Curr Microbiol 2016;72:377–82. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-015-0958-8.
- [3] Lundberg Å, Nyman A-K, Aspán A, Börjesson S, Unnerstad HE, Waller KP. Udder infections with Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus dysgalactiae, and Streptococcus uberis at calving in dairy herds with suboptimal udder health. J Dairy Sci 2016;99:2102–17. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2015-9487.
- [4] DANMAP 2021: Use of antimicrobial agents and oc- currence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from food animals, food and humans in Denmark. 2021.
- [5] Preine F, Herrera D, Scherpenzeel C, Kalmus P, McCoy F, Smulski S, et al. Different European Perspectives on the Treatment of Clinical Mastitis in Lactation. Antibiot (Basel, Switzerland) 2022;11. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11081107.
- [6] Preine, Franziska; Krömker V. Associations between udder health, udder health management and antimicrobial consumption: Insights into the mechanisms influencing antibiotic usage in German dairy farms. Milk Sci Int Milchwiss 2022;75:7–15.
- [7] International Dairy Federation 2011., Brussels (revision of Bulletin of IDF N° 338/1999).
 Suggested Interpretation of Mastitis Terminology n.d.
- [8] Bonestroo J, van der Voort M, Fall N, Hogeveen H, Emanuelson U, Klaas IC. Progression of different udder inflammation indicators and their episode length after onset of inflammation using automatic milking system sensor data. J Dairy Sci 2021;104:3458–73. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-18054.
- [9] Ziesch M, Krömker V. Factors influencing bacteriological cure after antibiotic therapy of clinical mastitis. Milchwissenschaft 2016;69:7.
- [10] Burmølle M, Thomsen TR, Fazli M, Dige I, Christensen L, Homøe P, et al. Biofilms in chronic infections - A matter of opportunity - Monospecies biofilms in multispecies infections. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2010;59:324–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-695X.2010.00714.x.
- [11] Jørgensen E, Bjarnsholt T, Jacobsen S. Biofilm and Equine Limb Wounds. Anim an Open Access J from MDPI 2021;11. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11102825.
- [12] Clutterbuck AL, Woods EJ, Knottenbelt DC, Clegg PD, Cochrane CA, Percival SL. Biofilms and their relevance to veterinary medicine. Vet Microbiol 2007;121:1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2006.12.029.
- [13] Nesse LL, Osland AM, Vestby LK. The Role of Biofilms in the Pathogenesis of Animal Bacterial Infections. Microorganisms 2023;11. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms11030608.
- [14] Pedersen RR, Krömker V, Bjarnsholt T, Dahl-Pedersen K, Buhl R, Jørgensen E. Biofilm Research in Bovine Mastitis. Front Vet Sci 2021;8:656810. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2021.656810.
- [15] Felipe V, Morgante CA, Somale PS, Varroni F, Zingaretti ML, Bachetti RA, et al. Evaluation of the biofilm forming ability and its associated genes in Staphylococcus species isolates from bovine mastitis in Argentinean dairy farms. Microb Pathog 2017;104:278–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2017.01.047.

- [16] Rossi BF, Bonsaglia ECR, Castilho IG, Dantas STA, Salina A, Langoni H, et al. Genotyping of long term persistent Staphylococcus aureus in bovine subclinical mastitis. Microb Pathog 2019;132:45–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2019.04.031.
- [17] de Castro Melo P, Ferreira LM, Filho AN, Zafalon LF, Vicente HIG, de Souza V. Comparison of methods for the detection of biofilm formation by Staphylococcus aureus isolated from bovine subclinical mastitis. Brazilian J Microbiol [Publication Brazilian Soc Microbiol 2013;44:119–24. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1517-83822013005000031.
- [18] Hensen SM, Pavičić MJAMP, Lohuis JACM, De Hoog JAM, Poutrel B. Location of Staphylococcus aureus within the experimentally infected Bovine Udder and the expression of capsular polysaccharide type 5 in situ. J Dairy Sci 2000;83:1966–75. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(00)75073-9.
- [19] Schönborn S, Krömker V. Detection of the biofilm component polysaccharide intercellular adhesin in Staphylococcus aureus infected cow udders. Vet Microbiol 2016;196:126–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.10.023.
- [20] Ashraf A, Imran M. Diagnosis of bovine mastitis: from laboratory to farm. Trop Anim Health Prod 2018;50:1193–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-018-1629-0.
- [21] Adkins PRF, Middleton JR. Methods for Diagnosing Mastitis. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 2018;34:479–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2018.07.003.
- [22] Ashraf A, Imran M. Causes, types, etiological agents, prevalence, diagnosis, treatment, prevention, effects on human health and future aspects of bovine mastitis. Anim Heal Res Rev 2020;21:36–49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466252319000094.
- [23] Loy JD, Clawson ML, Adkins PRF, Middleton JR. Current and Emerging Diagnostic Approaches to Bacterial Diseases of Ruminants. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 2023;39:93–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2022.10.006.
- [24] Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Jensen PØ, Kolpen M, Qvist T, et al. Diagnosis of biofilm infections in cystic fibrosis patients. APMIS 2017;125:339–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/apm.12689.
- [25] Kirketerp-Møller K, Jensen PØ, Fazli M, Madsen KG, Pedersen J, Moser C, et al. Distribution, organization, and ecology of bacteria in chronic wounds. J Clin Microbiol 2008;46:2717–22. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00501-08.
- [26] Fazli M, Bjarnsholt T, Høiby N, Givskov M, Tolker-Nielsen T. PNA-based fluorescence in situ hybridization for identification of bacteria in clinical samples. Methods Mol Biol 2014;1211:261–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-1459-3_21.
- [27] Malic S, Hill KE, Hayes A, Percival SL, Thomas DW, Williams DW. Detection and identification of specific bacteria in wound biofilms using peptide nucleic acid fluorescent in situ hybridization (PNA FISH). Microbiology 2009;155:2603–11. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.028712-0.
- [28] Kvich L, Burmølle M, Bjarnsholt T, Lichtenberg M. Do Mixed-Species Biofilms Dominate in Chronic Infections?-Need for in situ Visualization of Bacterial Organization. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2020;10:396. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2020.00396.
- [29] Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Moser C, Bassi GL, Coenye T, Donelli G, et al. ESCMID guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of biofilm infections 2014. Clin Microbiol Infect Off Publ Eur Soc Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2015;21 Suppl 1:S1-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2014.10.024.
- [30] Poutrel B, Rainard P. California Mastitis test guide of selective dry cow therapy. J Dairy Sci 1981;64:241–8. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(81)82560-X.
- [31] Fredebeul-Krein F, Schmenger A, Wente N, Zhang Y, Krömker V. Factors Associated with the Severity of Clinical Mastitis. Pathog (Basel, Switzerland) 2022;11. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens11101089.
- [32] Prescott SC, Breed RS. The Determination of the Number of Body Cells in Milk by a Direct Method. Am J Public Hygiene 1910;20:663–4.
- [33] Bay L, Kragh KN, Eickhardt SR, Poulsen SS, Gjerdrum LMR, Ghathian K, et al. Bacterial Aggregates Establish at the Edges of Acute Epidermal Wounds. Adv Wound Care 2018;7:105–13. https://doi.org/10.1089/wound.2017.0770.
- [34] Jensen N, Jensen HE, Aalbaek B, Blirup-Plum SA, Soto SM, Cepas V, et al. Synthesis of the cyanobacterial halometabolite Chlorosphaerolactylate B and demonstration of its antimicrobial effect in vitro and in vivo. Front Microbiol 2022;13:950855. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.950855.
- [35] Jensen LK, Jensen HE, Blirup-Plum SA, Bue M, Hanberg P, Kvich L, et al. Coating of bone implants with silica, hyperbranched polyethyleneimine, and gentamicin prevents development of osteomyelitis in a porcine model. Materialia 2022;24:101473. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtla.2022.101473.
- [36] Hoekstra J, Zomer AL, Rutten VPMG, Benedictus L, Stegeman A, Spaninks MP, et al. Genomic analysis of European bovine Staphylococcus aureus from clinical versus subclinical mastitis. Sci Rep 2020;10:18172. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-75179-2.
- [37] Oikonomou G, Machado VS, Santisteban C, Schukken YH, Bicalho RC. Microbial diversity of bovine mastitic milk as described by pyrosequencing of metagenomic 16s rDNA. PLoS One 2012;7:e47671. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047671.
- [38] Falentin H, Rault L, Nicolas A, Bouchard DS, Lassalas J, Lamberton P, et al. Bovine Teat Microbiome Analysis Revealed Reduced Alpha Diversity and Significant Changes in Taxonomic Profiles in Quarters with a History of Mastitis. Front Microbiol 2016;7:480. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00480.
- [39] Ganda EK, Bisinotto RS, Lima SF, Kronauer K, Decter DH, Oikonomou G, et al. Longitudinal metagenomic profiling of bovine milk to assess the impact of intramammary treatment using a third-generation cephalosporin. Sci Rep 2016;6:37565. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep37565.
- [40] Kuehn JS, Gorden PJ, Munro D, Rong R, Dong Q, Plummer PJ, et al. Bacterial community profiling of milk samples as a means to understand culture-negative bovine clinical mastitis. PLoS One 2013;8:e61959. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061959.
- [41] Oikonomou G, Bicalho ML, Meira E, Rossi RE, Foditsch C, Machado VS, et al. Microbiota of cow's milk; distinguishing healthy, sub-clinically and clinically diseased quarters. PLoS One 2014;9:e85904. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085904.
- [42] Steinberg RS, Silva E Silva LC, de Souza MR, Reis RB, da Silva PCL, Lacorte GA, et al. Changes in bovine milk bacterial microbiome from healthy and subclinical mastitis affected animals of the Girolando, Gyr, Guzera, and Holstein breeds. Int Microbiol Off J Spanish Soc Microbiol 2022;25:803–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10123-022-00267-4.
- [43] Derakhshani H, Fehr KB, Sepehri S, Francoz D, De Buck J, Barkema HW, et al. Invited review: Microbiota of the bovine udder: Contributing factors and potential implications for udder health and mastitis susceptibility. J Dairy Sci 2018;101:10605–25. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-14860.
- [44] Gill JJ, Sabour PM, Gong J, Yu H, Leslie KE, Griffiths MW. Characterization of bacterial populations recovered from the teat canals of lactating dairy and beef cattle by 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2006;56:471–81.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2006.00091.x.

- [45] Bonsaglia ECR, Gomes MS, Canisso IF, Zhou Z, Lima SF, Rall VLM, et al. Milk microbiome and bacterial load following dry cow therapy without antibiotics in dairy cows with healthy mammary gland. Sci Rep 2017;7:8067. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08790-5.
- [46] Derakhshani H, Plaizier JC, De Buck J, Barkema HW, Khafipour E. Composition and cooccurrence patterns of the microbiota of different niches of the bovine mammary gland: potential associations with mastitis susceptibility, udder inflammation, and teat-end hyperkeratosis. Anim Microbiome 2020;2:11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42523-020-00028-6.
- [47] Gryaznova M V, Syromyatnikov MY, Dvoretskaya YD, Solodskikh SA, Klimov NT, Mikhalev VI, et al. Microbiota of Cow's Milk with Udder Pathologies. Microorganisms 2021;9. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9091974.
- [48] Metzger SA, Hernandez LL, Skarlupka JH, Walker TM, Suen G, Ruegg PL. A Cohort Study of the Milk Microbiota of Healthy and Inflamed Bovine Mammary Glands From Dryoff Through 150 Days in Milk. Front Vet Sci 2018;5:247. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00247.
- [49] Metzger SA, Hernandez LL, Suen G, Ruegg PL. Understanding the Milk Microbiota. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 2018;34:427–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2018.06.003.
- [50] Wang Y, Nan X, Zhao Y, Wang H, Wang M, Jiang L, et al. Coupling 16S rDNA Sequencing and Untargeted Mass Spectrometry for Milk Microbial Composition and Metabolites from Dairy Cows with Clinical and Subclinical Mastitis. J Agric Food Chem 2020;68:8496–508. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.0c03738.
- [51] Benites NR, Guerra JL, Melville PA, da Costa EO. Aetiology and histopathology of bovine mastitis of espontaneous occurrence. J Vet Med B, Infect Dis Vet Public Heal 2002;49:366– 70. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0450.2002.00566.x.
- [52] Zhao X, Lacasse P. Mammary tissue damage during bovine mastitis: causes and control. J Anim Sci 2008;86:57–65. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2007-0302.
- [53] Ruegg PL. The bovine milk microbiome an evolving science. Domest Anim Endocrinol 2022;79:106708. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2021.106708.

Cow ID	Age (months)	Parity	Days from AB treatment to slaughter
1	23	1	21
2	52	3	36
3	72	4	611
4	47	2	316
5	44	2	356
6	71	5	70
7	73	4	33
8	88	5	173
9	141	6	898
10	66	3	NA
11	60	3	779
12	45	2	NA
13	31	1	17
15	36	1	NA
17	65	3	29
18	40	1	117
19	62	3	139
20	47	2	266
21	89	6	20
22	30	1	20
23	44	2	41
24	70	4	41
25	54	3	41
26	78	4	1196
27	99	6	260
28	56	3	119

Supplementary data Manuscript II

Table 1. Information about dairy cows included in the study. It was not possible to obtain information of two cows. Data obtained from the Cattle Database.

ID	Hemorrhagi	Hyperaemia	Fibrosis	Edema	Perivascular	NG/Mono in mammary gland lumen	NG/mono in inter/intralobular conective tissue	Histological score	Comment	Neutro philic granulo cytes score
H04	no	no	no	yes	no	no	no	1	Enlarged lymphvessels	low
H13	no	no	no	Yes	no	no, corpus amylacea	no	1		low
H01	no	no	no	yes	no	no	Yes (focal mono infil.)	1	Active mammae tissue	low
H19	no	no	yes	yes	no	no	no	2		low
H16	no	no	no	yes	no	yes (mild) mono infil. and Copus mylacea	no	2		low
H06	no	no	yes	yes	no	no	no	2	Slide with few glands and interlobular fibrosis and edema	low
M18	no	no	no	yes (mild)	no	no	yes (mono infil.)	2	focal intralobular mono infil.	low
M05	no	no	yes	no	no	no	yes(NG and Mono)	3	focal acccumulation (mono and NG) at the intralobular tissue. Increased connective tissue intralobular.	low
H07	no	no	no	no	no	yes (Mono and NG infil.). Corpus amylacea	yes (Mono infil. intralobular)	3	Active mammary gland tissue	high
M19	no	no	no	no	no	yes (Mono and NG)	yes (NG and Mono)	4	Areas of glandular epithialial detachment.	high
M25	yes	no	yes	yes	no	yes (mono infil.)	yes (mono infil.)	5	Fibroblast hyperplasia and fibrosis intra and interlobular. With infiltration of mononuclear immuncells	low
H03	no	no	no	Yes	no	yes (Mono and NG infil.). Corpus amylacea	yes (Mono and NG infil.) intralobular	5		high
M26	no	no	yes	yes	no	no	no	2		low
H05	no	no	no	yes	no	no	no	1	Fragmented slide.	low
H18	no	no	no	no	no	no	no (few plasmacells intra/interlobular)	0		low

H17	no	no	no	no	no	no , corpus amylacea	yes (Mono mild)	1	Detatched glandular epthilium	low
M14	no	no	yes	no	no	no	Yes (Mono mild)	2	Lymphocytes in intralobular interstitium	low
H12	no	no	no	no	no	no	no	0		low
M13	no	no	no	yes	no	no	no	1	Edema of the intralobular conective tissue	low
H08	no	no	yes	yes	no	no, corpus amylacea	no	2		low

Table 2. Histological analysis of tissue section from Location 5 in healthy quarters.

ID	Hemorrhagi	Hyperaemia	Fibrosis	Edema	Perivascular	NG/Mono in mammary gland lumen	NG/mono in inter/intralobular conective tissue	Histolo gical score	Comment	Neutrophi lic granulocy tes score
M01	yes	yes	yes	no	no	no glandular tissue	yes(but no lobuli), mono and NG	5	Slide with no glandular tissue and very small. With fibrosis and Mono and NG infiltration in granulation tissue. Not able to detemine if mammary tissue.	high
H11	no	no	no	no	no	Yes (single gland infiltrated by NG), corpus amylacea	yes (Single area with mono infil.)	2		moderate
H20	yes	no	no	yes	no	no, corpus amylacea	no	2	intralobular edema and focal hemorrage	low
M27	no	no	no	no	no	yes (mild mono infil.)	yes (mild mono)	2		low
H10	no	no	no	no	no	no	no	0		low
M12	no	no	yes	no	no	no	yes (Mono mild)	2	Lymphocytes in intralobular interstitium	low
M06	no	no	no	yes	no	yes (NG and Mono)	Yes (mono)	4	Very fragmented slide. Edema and focal infiltration of immune cells.	moderate
H26	Yes	no	no	yes	no	no, corpus amylacea	no	2		low
M08	no	no	yes	yes	no	yes (Mono and NG)	yes (Mono)	5	Intra and interlobular ifiltration. And focal inflammation in interlobular septae. Edema dialated lymphvessels	high
M16	no	no	yes	no	no	no, corpus amylacea	no (few plasmacells intra/interlobular)	1		low
M23	no	no	yes	no	yes	No glands left	Yes (massive mono and NG)	4	Slide with skin tissue and no mammary tissue. Necrosis, demarcation line, NG and	high

									mono. Infiltration.	
H21	no	no	yes	yes	no	no	yes (mild mono infil.)	3	Intra and interlobular fibrosis, Hyperplasia of fibroblast. Interlobular edema. Mild mononuclear infiltration of intralobular tissue.	low
H15	no	no	no	no	no	no	no	0	Slide with more muscle tissue than other and less glandular tissue	low
H27	no	no	no	no	no	Yes (Mono, NG and cellular debris)	yes (Mono intralobular)	3	Mono, NG and debris in mammary gland lumen. Destruction/d etachment of mammary epithilial cell	high
H28	no	no	yes	yes	no	no	no	2		moderate
M03	no	no	yes	yes	no	yes (Mono mild). Corpus amylacea	yes (Mono mild)	4		low
M24	no	no	no	yes	no	no	yes intralobular interstitial infil. NG	2	Edema and enlarged lymphvessels	low
H24	no	no	yes	yes	no	no	yes (mono and NG)	4	Mono and NG in intralobular interstitium	moderate
H09	no	no	no	yes	no	no	yes (mild mono)	2		low
M15	no	no	yes	no	no	yes (mild mono infil.)	yes (mild mono infil.)	3		low
M28	no	no	no	yes	no	yes (NG and Mono)	yes (NG and mono)	5	Generel NG infiltration and area with a larger accumulation of focal infiltrations, interlobular edema and epthilial destruction.	high
M09	no	no	no	yes	no	no	no	1		low
H25	no	no	no	yes enlarged lymphvessel	no	yes (mild) mono infil. and Corpus amylacea	no	2	Edema in inter and intralobular conective tissue with enlarged lymphvessels	low
M10	no	no	yes	no	no	yes (mono)	yes(mono infil.)	3	Very light slide difficult to determine structures	moderate

H14	no	no	no	yes	no	no, corpus amylacea	no	1	Interlobular edema and enlarged lymph vessels	low
H02	no	no	no	no	no	yes (few NG)	Yes (focal mono infil.)	2		moderate
M11	no	no	no	yes	no	no	yes (mono infil.)	2	Dialated lymph vessels and interlobular mono infil.	moderate
H22	yes	yes	yes	no	no	no	Yes(NG and Mono)	5	Massive fibrosis and dissiminated infiltration of immune cells (NG/mono) Destruction of normal mammary tissue (epithilum, intra and inter lobular tissue). Fibroblast hyperplasia. Chronic mastitis	moderate
H23	no	no	yes (mild)	no	no	no	yes (Mono infil. intralobular)	2		moderate
M07	no	no	no	yes	no	yes (Mono and NG infil.). Corpus amylacea	yes (Mono and NG)	5		high
M02	no	no	yes	yes	no	yes (Mono and NG infil.).	yes mono and NG	6	Both NG and mono in lumen and connective tissue	high
M04	no	yes	yes	no	no	no	yes(mono infil.)	3		low
M22	no	no	yes	no	no	yes (NG and Mono)	yes (NG and mono)	5	Infiltration of glandular lumen and intralobular infiltration and loss of lobular structures. Hyperplasia of fibroblast. Destruction of epthialium	high
M17	yes	no	yes	no	yes	No glands left	Yes (massive mono and NG)	5	Slide with skin tissue and no mammary tissue. Necrosis, demarcation line, NG and mono. Infiltration. And hemorrhagia underneath dermal	high

									epithilial layer.	
M21	no	no	yes	no	yes	yes (few glands left with NG and Mono)	yes (NG and mono)	6	Massive fibrosis and dissiminated infiltration of immune cells (NG/mono). Destruction of normal mammary tissue (epithilium, intra and inter lobular tissue). Fibroblast hyperplasia. Chronic mastitis	moderate
M20	no	yes	no	no	no	no, corpus amylacea	no	1	Active mammary gland tissue	low

Table 3. Histological analysis tissue sections of Location 5 of mastitis quarters.

Cow	Quarter	California Mastitis Tast	Microscopic	Somascope	MALDI-TOF MS		
1	Quarter 1	Negative	Sec 1000/mi	Sec 1000/ mi	-		
1	Quarter 2	>2			-		
2	Quarter 1	Negative	8724.6		No growth		
2	Quarter I	rtegative	0724.0		Noglowin		
2	Quarter 2	2	15720		S. uberis		
3	Quarter 1	Negative	10		S. epidermidis		
3	Quarter 2	1	3144		S. aureus		
4	Quarter 1	Negative	10		C. bovis		
4	Quarter 2	2	21615		S. uberis		
5	Quarter 1	Negative	49.125		No growth		
5	Quarter 2	2	10		No growth		
6	Quarter 1	Negative	10		No growth		
6	Quarter 2	>2	982.5		No growth		
7	Quarter 1	Negative	10		S. aureus	E. faecalis	A. viridans
7	Quarter 2	2	15720		C. bovis		
8	Quarter 1	Negative	196.5	206	No growth		
8	Quarter 2	>2	1454.1		No growth		
9	Quarter 1	Negative	3949.6		S. aureus	L. lactis	
9	Quarter 2	>2	5895		No growth		
10	Quarter 1	Negative	982.5		L. garviae		
10	Quarter 2	2	6484.5		No growth		
11	Quarter 1	Negative	393	931	No growth		
11	Quarter 2	>2	10611		No growth		
12	Quarter 1	Negative		197	No growth		
12	Quarter 2	>2	982.5		No growth		
13	Quarter 1	Negative	196.5	1021	No growth		
13	Quarter 2	2	10		No growth		
14	Quarter 1	Negative	6905.01		S. aureus		
14	Quarter 2	2	78.6		S. aureus		

15	Quarter 1	Negative	2593.8		No growth	
15	Quarter 2	2	4637.4		S. aureus	
16	Quarter 1	Negative	10		No growth	
16	Quarter 2	2		1527	No growth	
17	Quarter 1	Negative	68.775		No growth	
17	Quarter 2	2	39300		P. mirabilis	
18	Quarter 1	Negative	58.95		No growth	
18	Quarter 2	2	10		No growth	
19	Quarter 1	Negative	10		No growth	
19	Quarter 2	2	10		S. aureus	
20	Quarter 1	Negative	589.5	1002	No growth	
20	Quarter 2	2	98250		S. uberis	
21	Quarter 1	Trace	2456.25		No growth	
21	Quarter 2	>2	39300		T. pyogenes	
22	Quarter 1	1	12811.8		L. monocytogenes	
22	Quarter 2	2	39300		S. aureus	
23	Quarter 1	Not possible	15720		No growth	
23	Quarter 2	2	1572		H. kunzii	
24	Quarter 1	Trace	3478.05		No growth	
24	Quarter 2	>2	3261.9		No growth	
25	Quarter 1	Trace	6130.8		S. aureus	
25	Quarter 2	>2	10		No growth	
26	Quarter 1	Negative	1375.5	1135	No growth	
26	Quarter 2	2	39.3		L. lactis	
27	Quarter 1	Negative	2751	3456	No growth	
27	Quarter 2	2	668.1		L. lactis	
28	Quarter 1	Negative	3144		S. aureus	
28	Quarter 2	2	5207.25		S. uberis	

Table 4. Results of milk samples – identification of bacteria present in milk samples, CMT score and somatic cell count. The somatic cell count were investigated by flow cytometry and microscopy. Furthermore, the milk samples were analyzed with the California Mastitis test, and the bacterial species of isolates from the milk samples were identified by Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS). SCC: Somatic cell count.

Healthy quarters	Number of quarters		Number of quarters
Species only found in milk	ramber of quarters	Species only found in biopsies	Tumber of quarters
Acinetobacter johnsonii	1	Bacillus circulans	1
Bacillus atrophaeus/subtilis	1	Brevibacillus species	1
Bacillus horneckiae	1	Brevibacter sp.	1
Bacillus subtilis	1	Brevibacterium sp.	1
Brachybacterium sp.	1	Corynebacterium amycolatum/xerosis	1
Corynebacterium tuberculostearicum	1	Corynebacterium freneyi	1
Enterococcus faecalis	1	Corynebacterium jeikeium	1
Gordonia polyisoprenivorans	1	Corynebacterium mucifaciens	1
Psychrobacter faecalis	1	Corynebacterium pilosum	1
Psychrobacter phenylpyruvicus	1	Enterococcus faecium	1
Sphingobacterium daejeonense	1	Globicatella sanguinis	1
Staphylococcus arlettae	1	Kocuria rhizophila	1
Staphylococcus cohnii	1	Lactococcus raffinolactis	1
Staphylococcus hyicus	1	Microbacterium sp.	1
Staphylococcus succinus	1	Sphingomonas parapaucimobilis	1
Tsukamurella paurometabola	1	Staphylococcus equorum	1
		Staphylococcus saprophyticus	1
		Streptococcus gallolyticus	1
		Streptococcus parauberis	1
		Streptococcus sp.	1
		Streptococcus uberis	1

 Table 5. Bacterial species only found in either milk samples or biopsies in healthy quarters. The species are identified by Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry

Mastitis quarters			
Species only found in milk	Number of quarters	Species only found in biopsies	Number of quarters
Brevibacterium sp.	1	Acinetobacter calcoaceticus	1
Corynebacterium amycolatum/xerosis	1	Arthrobacter agilis	1
Paracoccus denitrificans	1	Bacillus altitudinis/pumilus	1
Psychrobacter phenylpyruvicus	1	Bacillus cereus group	1
Rothia mucilaginosa	1	Bacillus clausii	1
		Corynebacterium afermentans	1
		Corynebacterium amycolatum	1
		Corynebacterium confusum	1
		Corynebacterium glutamicum	1
		Corynebacterium mucifaciens	1
		Corynebacterium sp.	1
		Corynebacterium stationis	1
		Corynebacterium ulcerans	1
		Enterococcus cecorum	1
		Gordonia polyisoprenivorans	1
		Klebsiella oxytoca	1
		Kocuria palustris	1
		Lichtheimia corymbifera	1
		Listeria sp.	1
		Microbacterium sp.	1
		Paenibacillus	1
		Ralstonia picketii	1
		Sphingomonas parapaucimobilis	1
		Sphingomonas paucimobilis	1
		Staphylococcus auricularis	1
		Staphylococcus capitis	1
		Staphylococcus cohnii	1
		Staphylococcus epidermidis	1
		Staphylococcus hominis	1
		Staphylococcus lugdunensis	1
		Staphylococcus piscifermentans	1
		Streptococcus agalactiae	1
		Streptococcus pluranimalium	1

 Table 6. Bacterial species which are only found in either milk samples or biopsies in mastitis quarters. The species are identified by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry.

Pedersen, R. R., Highmore, C., Hanrahan, N., Mahajan, S., Krömker, V., Dahl-Pedersen, K., Buhl, R., Jørgensen, Bjarnsholt, T., E., Webb, J.S.

"Detection of bovine mastitis pathogens in milk by multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy."

Manuscript in preparation.

Detection of bovine mastitis pathogens in milk by multiexcitation Raman spectroscopy

Regitze Renee Pedersen^{1, 2}, Callum Highmore^{3,4}*, Niall Hanrahan^{5,6}, Sumeet Mahajan^{5,6}, Volker Krömker⁷, Kirstin Dahl-Pedersen¹, Rikke Buhl¹, Elin Jørgensen², Thomas Bjarnsholt^{2,8} and Jeremy S. Webb^{3,6}

¹ Department of Veterinary Clinical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark,

² Department Immunology and Microbiology, Costerton Biofilm Center, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen,

³ School of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Environmental and Life Sciences, University of Southampton, United Kingdom,

⁴ Faculty of Medicine and Institute for Life Sciences, University of Southampton, United Kingdom,

⁵ School of Chemistry, Faculty of Engineering and Physical Sciences, University of Southampton, United Kingdom,

⁶ National Biofilms Innovation Centre (NBIC) and Institute for Life Sciences, University of Southampton, United Kingdom,

⁷ Department of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark,

⁸ Department of Clinical Microbiology, Copenhagen University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark

*Corresponding author

Abstract:

Bovine mastitis is a significant disease in the dairy industry that affects all dairy farms. Its leading cause is bacterial in origin, and its diagnosis often relies on slow methods like cultivation, morphological and biochemical methods, MALDI-TOF MS, or sequencing. In this study, we investigated whether multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy could be applied to detect the bacteria in milk samples with the mastitis pathogens *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Streptococcus uberis* in different concentrations. Multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy is able to detect the unique fingerprint of each bacterium, and sample analysis and bacterial detection can occur within minutes. We found that this method could distinguish between the control and milk samples with added bacteria in different concentrations, down to 4 CFU/ml. The support vector machine's accuracy was 91.4% for *Staphylococcus aureus* and 90.4% for *Streptococcus uberis*. More research is needed on the milk composition of infected animals, and a database needs to be established before applying the method to day-to-day diagnostics at dairy farms. However, the results of this study show that multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy is a potential method for the rapid diagnosis of bovine mastitis.

Keywords: multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy, bovine mastitis, diagnostics, intramammary infection, milk

Introduction

In the dairy industry, bovine mastitis is one of the diseases that have the most significant implications for animal health, the economy, and the use of antibiotics [1]. The disease is an intramammary infection mainly caused by a bacterial infection, with some of the most common bacterial agents being *Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus uberis*, and *Streptococcus dysgalactiae* [2]. Common current diagnostic methods for bacterial identification in bovine mastitis are cultivation, morphological and biochemical methods, matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS), and 16 rDNA sequencing [3,4]. However, one of the most significant flaws of these methods is that it can take 24–48 hours for test results to become available.

Raman spectroscopy is a promising method for rapid bacterial identification. It does not require a cultivation step prior to analysis, and sample preparation is simple, non-destructive, and fast compared to methods such as mass spectroscopy and molecular methods [5,6]. Where these methods can take days, Raman spectroscopy can provide results in a matter of minutes. The simplicity of the technique adds to its benefits, as Raman spectroscopy is label-free and does not require the addition of specific reagents or dyes. Raman spectroscopy uses the principle of the Raman effect, which is the scattering of light that causes the molecules in a sample to vibrate, to create unique fingerprints for the samples [7]. The use of Raman spectroscopy for the diagnosis of bacterial infections is being investigated for its potential use with different human diseases such as cystic fibrosis [5], oral diseases [8], spontaneous bacterial peritonitis [9], and pneumonia [10], but to the authors' knowledge, the technique has not been applied to the diagnosis of bacterial pathogens that cause bovine mastitis.

In this study, we investigated the possible application of Raman spectroscopy to diagnose bacterial bovine mastitis infections by detecting the commonly associated mastitis pathogens *S. aureus* and *S. uberis* in milk samples. Furthermore, we evaluated the ability of the method to detect different concentrations of the two bacterial species in milk samples.

Materials and Methods

Bacterial strains

The bacteria *S. aureus* and *S. uberis* used in the study were kindly donated by The Vale Veterinary Laboratory (Devon, UK) and were isolated from bovine mastitis cases. The bacteria were stored on 5% blood agar plates at 5°C between experiments.

Preparation of bacteria for spectroscopy

Bacteria were grown from single colonies of blood agar plates overnight in Brain Heart Infusion broth (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). The number of cells was determined by optical density (Jenway, UK). The overnight cultures were centrifuged at 4000 RPM for 10 minutes, the supernatant was discarded, and 5 ml of nuclease-free water (Sigma-Alrich, Germany) was added to the pellet. The pellets were dissolved by vortexing and centrifuged at 4000 RPM for 10 minutes. The supernatants were discarded, and pasteurized semi-skimmed 1.5% fat milk from the supermarket was added to the pellet to dilute the two strains in a 10-times dilution series. Quartz microscope slides (UQG Optics, UK) were prepared using 30µl of the milk with each bacterium and a sterile milk control and dried at 48°C for 15 minutes. Experiments with both strains were carried out in three biological replicates.

Raman micro spectroscopy

The spectroscopy of the samples was carried out as described in the work of Lister et al. [5]. In short, a Renishaw InVia Raman microscope (Renishaw, UK) containing a Leica DM2500 M bright field microscope with a 100 nm encoded XYZ stage was used with 532 nm and 785 nm lasers. The two lasers were used to excite samples with a Leica 50x long working distance air objective (NA = 0.50). Spectra were acquired with 3 accumulations of 5s, and 50 spectra of each sample were obtained.

Data analysis

Cosmic rays were removed using the Renishaw Wire 5.5 software, imported to iRootLab version 0.17.8.22 [11], and analyzed by Matlab 2020a. Data analysis was carried out as described in the work of Lister et al. [5]. In short, a support vector machine (SVM) was used to classify the data, and to validate these results, a 10-fold cross-validation was performed with iRootLab. Furthermore, the SVM and k-fold cross-validation functionality were used for the classification of the milk and the different concentrations of bacteria.

Results

Two different laser wavelengths were investigated in this study: 785 and 532 nm. Stronger peaks were observed at the 785 nm wavelength for both strains. The spectral information for the strains and the milk at the two different wavelengths is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Class means of A) S. aureus (SA), S. uberis (SU), and milk at 532 nm wavelength and B) S. aureus (SA), S. uberis (SU), and milk at 785 nm wavelength.

	Wavenumbers cm ⁻¹
532	
S. aureus	372, 508, 630, 750, 837, 847, 987, 1155, 1229, 1249, 1360, 1372, 1522, 1659, 1806, 1816
S. uberis	487, 723, 784, 808, 1004, 1096, 1155, 1240, 1333, 1372, 1451, 1482, 1587, 1628, 1660, 1806, 1816, 1957
Milk	351, 450, 641, 756, 851, 872, 1003, 1079, 1123, 1157, 1259, 1298, 1441, 1517, 1654, 1740
785	
S. aureus	603, 618, 665, 782, 851, 900, 934, 948, 1003, 1030, 1095, 1130, 1252, 1315, 1333, 1447, 1524, 1556, 1572
S. uberis	603, 665, 782, 808, 900, 1003, 1095, 1130, 1241, 1333, 1371, 1451, 1475, 1572, 1586, 1600, 1625, 1654
Milk	618, 702, 756, 851, 874, 1003, 1078, 1120, 1205, 1259, 1300, 1333, 1443, 1654

The specific pea	aks for the wave	lengths, bacteria	a, and milk are	listed in Table 1.
------------------	------------------	-------------------	-----------------	--------------------

1. F reus, S. uberis, and milk for wavelength 532 and 785 measured in wavenumbers in cm^{-1} .



Figure 2. Classification accuracies by SVM for the excitations 532 nm and 785 nm for S. aureus and S. uberis. Green balls represent the correct identifications and the red balls the incorrect by SVM.

The machine learning algorithm SVM was used to detect the performance of the Raman spectroscopy on the samples. The SVM was used on both excitations and on the concatenated spectra. For *S. aureus*, there was a minimum of 80.21% classification accuracy on both spectra (Figure 2), and the combined spectra had a minimum of 91.41% (Figure 3). There was a misclassification of 11% between the two concentrations, $5.5*10^4$ and $5.5*10^3$ CFU/ml, for the excitation at 785 nm.

For *S. uberis*, the minimum classification accuracy was lower, around 72.74% (Figure 2). There was some misclassification for the excitation at 532 nm between $4*10^4$ and $4*10^3$ CFU/ml at

15.62% and 11.59% for 523 nm, and for 785 nm, there were some misclassifications at $4*10^4$ and $4*10^6$ CFU/ml at 12.98% and 14.79% (Figure 3). However, the combined spectra resulted in a classification accuracy of at least 90.4% (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Classification accuracies by SVM for the concatenated spectra for 532 nm and 785 nm for S. aureus and S. uberis. Green balls represent the correct identifications, and the red balls the incorrect by SVM.

Discussion

To the authors' knowledge, this is the first study to apply Raman spectroscopy to detect *S. aureus* and *S. uberis* in bovine milk. We showed that the method, with high accuracy, could detect spectra for two isolates of the bacterial species and milk. Furthermore, the method detected, with high accuracy, different concentrations of the bacteria in milk and differences between the bacterial milk samples and the control milk samples. Comparing the two spectra, 785 nm was better for detecting both bacteria. However, it should be noted that the method could detect a difference between 4 CFU/ml and 0 CFU/ml in a very small imaging area of $5x10 \mu$ m. This should be investigated further to ensure that the SVMs can actually detect such a small difference.

Additionally, to the authors' knowledge, this is the first study applying multi-excitation Raman spectroscopy specifically to *S. uberis*. Dahms et al. investigated whether Raman spectroscopy could be used to differentiate various *Streptococci* species and found different specific peaks for the distinct strains at 532 nm [12]. We found that *S. uberis* shared the peaks with other *Streptococci* at 784 cm⁻¹, 1,004 cm⁻¹, 1,096 cm⁻¹, and 1,660 cm⁻¹, which were not found with either *S. aureus* or the milk [12]. Lister et al. found peaks for *S. aureus* at 750 cm¹ and 1,120 cm¹ at 532 nm [5], whereas we, in this study, found a peak at 750 cm⁻¹.

For the 785 nm wavelength, we found that most peaks for *S. aureus* were either carotenoids or DNA, as described by Movasaghi et al. [13]. For *S. uberis*, it was not possible to find any reference for *Streptococci* at this wavelength, but the found peaks correlated with DNA and amino acids [13]. For the milk samples, many of the peaks corresponded to fatty acids, lipids, and phospholipids [13].

The most common current diagnostic methods for bovine mastitis of bacterial origin are culturing from milk samples, phenotypic characteristics, selective media, bi- and triplate systems, MALDI-TOF MS, and PCR [1,3,4,14,15]. All of these methods share the same limitation – time. It can take 24–48 hours for these methods to produce results for diagnostics. For the method used in this study, it took approximately 1 hour to prepare the sample and obtain both spectra. The faster turnaround time, combined with the simplicity of the method due to its label-free and reagent-less nature, makes Raman spectroscopy a promising tool for future diagnostics of bacterial infections in both human and veterinary clinical settings [7].

The use of Raman spectroscopy as a diagnostic tool for bovine mastitis is an unexplored research area. The possible application of the method of surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy (SERS) has been investigated by a few research groups focusing on screening milk. However, SERS is a more complicated version of Raman spectroscopy where materials such as nanoparticles are added to the sample to enhance the Raman scattering signal [5,16]. One study applied SERS to screen milk at dairy farms for antibiotic residues [17], while two studies investigated whether SERS could be used to identify inflammatory markers in milk to detect bovine mastitis [18,19]. In the latter studies, the inflammatory biomarker N-acetyl- β -D-glucosaminidase was identifiable using the SERS technique, differentiating between healthy, clinical, and subclinical mastitis [18], and IL-6 was found to have a detection limit much lower than the current threshold value [19]. However, the use of Raman spectroscopy for diagnosing mastitis is still an unexplored area of research.

Raman spectroscopy has been investigated for several human bacterial infections and found to be effective in the detection of pathogens such as *S. aureus* in artificial sputum media mimicking cystic fibrosis [5] and different pathogens from sputum samples [10]. Virulent factors, biofilm phenotypes, and antibiotic-resistant profiles are also being investigated using this method [6,20–23].

While our findings are promising, this study is small and has some limitations. The milk used in this study was pasteurized semi-skimmed 1.5% fat milk from a supermarket, meaning the texture of the milk was liquid and homogenous. However, the milk from a dairy cow with bovine mastitis can differ significantly. Milk from a dairy cow with subclinical mastitis can have a different composition than that of a healthy cow [3]; the texture of the milk can be clumpy, and the milk can change color [4]. Healthy milk is composed of different molecules such as proteins, fatty acids, and lactose [24], whereas the milk from infected animals can consist of immune cells; a different composition of lactose, fatty acids, and oligosaccharides; and the possibility of chemical components from the metabolism of the bacteria [25]. There is a possibility that the texture of the milk can impact the ability of Raman spectroscopy to detect the spectra of the bacteria in the milk sample, which needs to be investigated. Nicolaou et al. applied the method of Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy to assess whether it could detect

bacteria in spoiled milk and found the method successful at this [26]. In some cases of bovine mastitis, more than one bacterium can be present [3], and a co-infection scenario should be investigated. Raman spectroscopy of multiple species is still scarcely studied, but Raman imaging could be a place to begin. Kriem et al. found that confocal Raman spectroscopy could be used for differentiating multispecies biofilm, and this method could be investigated for possible application to multispecies detection in bovine mastitis milk [27].

Raman spectroscopy reference libraries for biosolids and biomaterials remain limited; they are often commercial and highly application specific [28–32], so material identification methods rely on technical expertise for the construction of such libraries before large-scale material identification can take place. For the use of Raman spectroscopy in the microbiological diagnostic routine, a commercial database must be available to identify the bacteria; while this does not yet exist, some research groups are mapping Raman peaks for different chemical bonds [13]. Furthermore, only a small area of the sample is typically scanned. This results in the risk of missing bacteria in a sample with a low bacterial count. A possible way to circumvent the risk of missing bacteria in a sample processing step, such as filtration, to concentrate the bacteria to increase the possibility of detecting them. However, this comes at the cost of a longer processing time.

Conclusion

In this study, we detected specific spectra through Raman spectroscopy of *S. aureus* and *S. uberis* in milk and differentiated between various concentrations of the bacterial species. These findings provide a foundation for the use of Raman spectroscopy as a fast, precise, and simple diagnostic tool for bovine mastitis. Rapid diagnostics are crucial for the treatment and recovery of mastitis in dairy cows, which has great implications for the economy and welfare of the dairy industry.

Funding

This study was funded by the Danish Veterinary and Food Administration. The Renishaw system was funded by the National Institute of Health and Care Research, United Kingdom.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Andrew Biggs and The Vale Veterinary Laboratory for providing the bacterial strains for this study.

References

- [1] Ruegg PL. A 100-Year Review: Mastitis detection, management, and prevention. J Dairy Sci 2017;100:10381–97. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-13023.
- [2] Bradley A. Bovine mastitis: an evolving disease. Vet J 2002;164:116–28. https://doi.org/10.1053/tvjl.2002.0724.
- [3] Ashraf A, Imran M. Diagnosis of bovine mastitis: from laboratory to farm. Trop Anim Health Prod 2018;50:1193–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-018-1629-0.
- [4] Adkins PRF, Middleton JR. Methods for Diagnosing Mastitis. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 2018;34:479–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2018.07.003.
- [5] Lister AP, Highmore CJ, Hanrahan N, Read J, Munro APS, Tan S, et al. Multi-Excitation Raman Spectroscopy for Label-Free, Strain-Level Characterization of Bacterial Pathogens in Artificial Sputum Media. Anal Chem 2022;94:669–77. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.1c02501.
- [6] Rebrosova K, Samek O, Kizovsky M, Bernatova S, Hola V, Ruzicka F. Raman Spectroscopy-A Novel Method for Identification and Characterization of Microbes on a Single-Cell Level in Clinical Settings. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022;12:866463. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2022.866463.
- [7] Das RS, Agrawal YK. Raman spectroscopy: Recent advancements, techniques and applications. Vib Spectrosc 2011;57:163–76. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vibspec.2011.08.003.
- [8] Zhang Y, Ren L, Wang Q, Wen Z, Liu C, Ding Y. Raman Spectroscopy: A Potential Diagnostic Tool for Oral Diseases. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022;12:775236. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2022.775236.
- [9] Kloß S, Rösch P, Pfister W, Kiehntopf M, Popp J. Toward culture-free Raman spectroscopic identification of pathogens in ascitic fluid. Anal Chem 2015;87:937–43. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac503373r.
- [10] Kloß S, Lorenz B, Dees S, Labugger I, Rösch P, Popp J. Destruction-free procedure for the isolation of bacteria from sputum samples for Raman spectroscopic analysis. Anal Bioanal Chem 2015;407:8333–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-015-8743-x.
- [11] Trevisan J, Angelov PP, Scott AD, Carmichael PL, Martin FL. IRootLab: a free and opensource MATLAB toolbox for vibrational biospectroscopy data analysis. Bioinformatics 2013;29:1095–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btt084.
- [12] Dahms M, Eiserloh S, Rödel J, Makarewicz O, Bocklitz T, Popp J, et al. Raman Spectroscopic Differentiation of Streptococcus pneumoniae From Other Streptococci Using Laboratory Strains and Clinical Isolates. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022;12:930011. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2022.930011.
- [13] Movasaghi Z, Rehman S, Rehman DIU. Raman Spectroscopy of Biological Tissues. Appl Spectrosc Rev 2007;42:493–541. https://doi.org/10.1080/05704920701551530.
- [14] Loy JD, Clawson ML, Adkins PRF, Middleton JR. Current and Emerging Diagnostic Approaches to Bacterial Diseases of Ruminants. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 2023;39:93–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvfa.2022.10.006.
- [15] Ashraf A, Imran M. Causes, types, etiological agents, prevalence, diagnosis, treatment, prevention, effects on human health and future aspects of bovine mastitis. Anim Heal Res Rev 2020;21:36–49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466252319000094.

- [16] Hussain M, Zou J, Zhang H, Zhang R, Chen Z, Tang Y. Recent Progress in Spectroscopic Methods for the Detection of Foodborne Pathogenic Bacteria. Biosensors 2022;12. https://doi.org/10.3390/bios12100869.
- [17] Dhakal S, Chao K, Huang Q, Kim M, Schmidt W, Qin J, et al. A Simple Surface-Enhanced Raman Spectroscopic Method for on-Site Screening of Tetracycline Residue in Whole Milk. Sensors (Basel) 2018;18. https://doi.org/10.3390/s18020424.
- [18] Nirala NR, Shtenberg G. N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminidase biomarker quantification in milk using Ag-porous Si SERS platform for mastitis severity evaluation. Appl Surf Sci 2021;566:150700. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2021.150700.
- [19] Chen R, Wang H, Zhao Y, Nan X, Wei W, Du C, et al. Quantitative Detection of Mastitis Factor IL-6 in Dairy Cow Using the SERS Improved Immunofiltration Assay. Nanomaterials 2022;12. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano12071091.
- [20] Dekter HE, Orelio CC, Morsink MC, Tektas S, Vis B, Te Witt R, et al. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing of Gram-positive and -negative bacterial isolates directly from spiked blood culture media with Raman spectroscopy. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis Off Publ Eur Soc Clin Microbiol 2017;36:81–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-016-2773-y.
- [21] Lorenz B, Ali N, Bocklitz T, Rösch P, Popp J. Discrimination between pathogenic and nonpathogenic E. coli strains by means of Raman microspectroscopy. Anal Bioanal Chem 2020;412:8241–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-020-02957-2.
- [22] Lu J, Chen J, Liu C, Zeng Y, Sun Q, Li J, et al. Identification of antibiotic resistance and virulence-encoding factors in Klebsiella pneumoniae by Raman spectroscopy and deep learning. Microb Biotechnol 2022;15:1270–80. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.13960.
- [23] Wulf MWH, Willemse-Erix D, Verduin CM, Puppels G, van Belkum A, Maquelin K. The use of Raman spectroscopy in the epidemiology of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus of human- and animal-related clonal lineages. Clin Microbiol Infect 2012;18:147–52. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03517.x.
- [24] He H, Sun D-W, Pu H, Chen L, Lin L. Applications of Raman spectroscopic techniques for quality and safety evaluation of milk: A review of recent developments. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2019;59:770–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2018.1528436.
- [25] Coates LC, Durham SD, Storms DH, Magnuson AD, Van Hekken DL, Plumier BM, et al. Associations among Milk Microbiota, Milk Fatty Acids, Milk Glycans, and Inflammation from Lactating Holstein Cows. Microbiol Spectr 2023:e0402022. https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.04020-22.
- [26] Nicolaou N, Goodacre R. Rapid and quantitative detection of the microbial spoilage in milk using Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy and chemometrics. Analyst 2008;133:1424–31. https://doi.org/10.1039/b804439b.
- [27] Kriem LS, Wright K, Ccahuana-Vasquez RA, Rupp S. Confocal Raman microscopy to identify bacteria in oral subgingival biofilm models. PLoS One 2020;15:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232912.
- [28] The Infrared and Raman Users Group. Spectral Databases for Raman n.d. http://www.irug.org/resources/spectral-databases-for-raman.
- [29] Lafuente B, Downs R T, Yang H SN. The power of databases: the RRUFF projec. Highlights Mineral Crystallogr 2015. https://rruff.info/.
- [30] Photonics W. ENLIGHTENTM spectroscopy software n.d. https://wasatchphotonics.com/product-category/software/raman-library-matching/.

- [31] Life R for. Raman Spectra Library n.d. https://ramanlife.com/raman-spectra-library/.
- [32] Freeman F+. Raman Spectra Databases n.d. https://fosterfreeman.com/raman-spectradatabases/.